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Introduction to Metropolitan Region Scheme major amendments 
 
 
The Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) is responsible for keeping the 
Metropolitan Region Scheme (MRS) under review and initiating changes where they are 
seen as necessary. 
 
The MRS sets out the broad pattern of land use for the whole Perth metropolitan region. The 
MRS is constantly under review to best reflect regional planning and development needs. 
 
A proposal to change land use reservations and zones in the MRS is regulated by the 
Planning and Development Act 2005. That legislation provides for public submissions to be 
made on proposed amendments. 
 
For a substantial amendment, often referred to as a major amendment (made under section 
41 of the Act), the WAPC considers all the submissions lodged, and publishes its 
recommendations in a report on submissions. This report is presented to the Minister for 
Planning and to the Governor for approval. Both Houses of Parliament must then scrutinise 
the amendment before it can take legal effect. 
 
In the process of making a substantial amendment to the MRS, information is published as a 
public record under the following titles: 
 
Amendment report 
This document is available from the start of the public advertising period of the proposed 
amendment. It sets out the purpose and scope of the proposal, explains why the 
amendment is considered necessary, and informs people how they can comment through 
the submission process. 
 
Environmental review report 
The Environmental Protection Authority must consider the environmental impact of an 
amendment to the MRS before it can be advertised. Should it require formal assessment, an 
environmental review is undertaken and made available for information and comment at the 
same time as the amendment report. 
 
Report on submissions 
The planning rationale, determination of submissions and the recommendations of the 
WAPC for final approval of the amendment, with or without modification, is documented in 
this report. 
 
Submissions 
This document contains a reproduction of all written submissions received by the WAPC on 
the proposed amendment. 
 
Transcript of hearings 
A person who has made a written submission may also choose to appear before a hearings 
committee to express their views. The hearings proceedings are recorded and transcribed, 
and the transcripts of all hearings are reproduced in this volume. 
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Recording and Transcription 

This transcript is produced from live audio recordings.  Whilst 
every care is taken in its preparation absolute accuracy 
cannot be guaranteed.  No changes are made to grammar 
and syntax. 
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Friday 29th October 2013 
 



Minutes of the Committee hearing submissions on Metropolitan Region Scheme 

Amendment 1210/41 - Rationalisation of Stirling Highway 

DAY FIVE - Tuesday, 29 October 2013, 140 William Street, Perth 

The composition or the hearings committee was endorsed by the Chairman of the Western 
Australian Planning Commission on 13 August 2013, in accordance with the 27 October 2009 
resolution of the Commission. 

Chairperson 

Members 

In attendance 

Ms Megan Bartle 

Cr Corinne MacRae 

Mr Kent McDowall 

Ms Marija Bubanic 

Mr John O'Hurley 

Mr Steven Radley 

Mr John Terrell 

Member of the Statutory Planning 
Committee 

Local Government 

Independent, with Transport Expertise 

Department of Planning 

Department of Planning 

Department of Planning 

Department of Planning 

Tne presiding officer acknowledged the traditional owners and custooians of the lana on 
which the meeting is taking place and welcomed those present. Presentations to the 
Committee commenced at 9.37am 

The proceedings were recorded by 'Spark & Cannon Pty Ltd'. 

The following people made presentations. 

1) Ms Vyonne Geneve and Dr Rosalind Davies for submission number 337. 
Ms Geneve and Dr Davies represented the Art Deco Society of WA. 

2) Mr Richard Hill for submission number 350. 
Mr Hill represented Fleur Schell and himself. 

3) Mr Rex Langmead for submission number 188. 
Mr Langmead represented Langmead Investments Pty Ltd in trust for the Langmead 
Family Trust. 

4) Ms Vicki Hamersley and Mr Chris Kenndy for submission number 409. 
Ms Hamersley and Mr Kenndy represented Vicki and Simon Hamersley (property held in 
the name of LF Rural Nominees Pty Ltd). 

5) Mr Robert Gare and Ms Sophie Elton for submission number 25. 
Mr Gare and Ms Elton represented Robert Gare. 

6) Mr Geoffrey Barrymrre for submission number 419, 
Mr Barrymore represented himself. 

7) Mr Hamish Fleming and Ms Siobhan Blumann tor submission numbers 345 and 361. 
Mr Fleming and Ms Blumann represented themselves. 



8) Ms Sarah May for submission number 130. 
Ms May represented herself. 

9) Ms Danicia Dutry for submission number 139. 
Ms Dutry represented herself. 

10) Mr Michael Tucak for submission number 478. 
Mr Tucak represented himself. 

11) Mr Tnm Roberts and Ms Ann Forma for submission numbers 244, 435 and 368. 
Mr Roberts and Ms Forma represented Susan Marwick and themselves. 

12) Mr Cameron Hay for submission numbers 371, 329 and 324. 
Mr Hay represented Amanda Burrows, Peter Zuvela and himself. 

The following person cancelled their appointment with the Hearings Committee: 

• Mr Ric and Ms Irish Skipworth for submission number 275, representing themselves. 

• Ms Mika Leandro for submission numbers 271 and 278, representing Mr Brice Parmentier 

The following people did not attend their appointment with the Hearings Committee: 

• Mr Peter Howe for submission number 10, representing himself. 

Ms Bartle declared the hearings closed at 4.09pm. 

and self. 

Chairperson: 

Date: VL \Z . 



 
29.10.13 1 Ms Geneve & Dr Davies 

MS VYONNE GENEVE & DR ROSALIND DAVIES 
representing the Art Deco Society of WA 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Good morning.  Would you like to have a seat at the table here?  You are 
presenting and anyone else who would like to join you?  Yes, most certainly.  
 
MS GENEVE:   Is there anywhere I can - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, Marija will help you with that.  We've got a copy of your submission - - - 
 
MS GENEVE:   Yes, this is just what we are presenting today, so it goes (indistinct) 
 
MS BARTLE:   We'll start off.  Thank you very much, so welcome.  Obviously these are the 
public hearings in relation to the Metropolitan Region Scheme Amendment 1210/41 on the 
rationalisation of the Stirling Highway Road Reserve.  This is the beginning of day 5.  I will 
acknowledge the traditional owner of the land on which we're meeting, the Noongar people.  
I'm Megan Bartle.  I'm the chair.  The other panel members with us today are 
Councillor Corinne MacRae and Kent McDowall, and we have technical support from 
John O'Hurley from the Department of Planning.   
 
You've probably been given quite a bit of information but just to recap, we represent the WA 
Planning Commission in these hearings and our role is to hear your submissions.  We have 
a copy of your submission which we've read.  This is an opportunity for you to just give a 
presentation to ensure that we understand your point and your perspective.  The hearings 
are public and so they are being recorded, and a transcript of the recording along with 
recommendations will become public record, just for your information.   
 
We've given you a slightly longer period today because it's a lengthy submission, so we've 
allowed half an hour.  If we look at about 20 minutes for your submission and that allows 10 
minutes for dialogue in between.  I'll hand over to you and if you could just start your 
presentation by stating your name so that's on the record.  Thank you.  
 
MS GENEVE:   Thank you for the opportunity to expand on our original submission to the 
Planning Commission concerning the proposed removal of the road reserves along Stirling 
Highway.  Am I speaking loud enough? 
 
MS BARTLE:   I think so.  Are we picking that up?  A little bit louder please.  
 
MS GENEVE:   Say that again? 
 
MS BARTLE:   No, you'll be right.  
 
MS GENEVE:   My name is Vyonne Geneve, President of the Art Deco Society of WA, and I 
shall introduce Dr Rosalind Lawe Davies to give a presentation on our behalf, but first I 
would give a brief introduction to the society.  The Art Deco Society of WA Inc was formed in 
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1987 with the aims to preserve and help restore endangered art deco buildings, to promote 
awareness of the outstanding qualities of art deco architectural style and artefacts.   
 
These aims have been extended to encompass all building styles of the 1930s, such as 
tudor revival, arts and crafts, Spanish mission and Californian bungalows.  Our speaker, Dr 
Rosalind Lawe Davies, is a long-term member of the society, member of the committee 
since 1989 and currently acts as the society's treasurer.  She is also an elected member of 
the National Trust of Australia WA and has served on both the council and executive of the 
National Trust in a previous 13-year term.  She has prepared documentation of heritage 
places for both the State Heritage Office and the National Trust, and is a regular contributor 
to our magazine (indistinct) 
 
MS DAVIES:   I am Rosalind Lawe Davies.  While I speak, I've got a cognitive challenge for 
you to both listen and keep an eye on that.  I thought we had been having some sort of 
relationship but this should give you some idea of the kinds of places we're talking about 
along the highway.  I would add that there are some older places included in it to give the 
contrast.   
 
My presentation will focus on the buildings of the 1930s with their different styles of art deco 
architecture, different functions, different architects and the aesthetic and historical 
importance of their distribution along Stirling Highway from Nedlands to Fremantle.  All these 
places will be negatively affected if the proposed removal of the current road reserve is 
implemented.  Damage will range from demolition to removal of buffer fences, gardens and 
pavements.  It will make many dwellings uninhabitable and businesses unviable.  
 
The request of the Art Deco Society is that the proposed plan of the Main Roads Department 
be rejected or at the very least amended to respect and conserve all of the art deco heritage 
places along the highway.  Heritage is defined by the National Trust of Australia WA as 
something that we've inherited from the past and something that's valued enough today to 
leave for future generations.   
 
Normally heritage values are assessed in relation to individual buildings or defined precincts.  
However, in this case we focus on a group of buildings from Nedlands to North Fremantle, 
whose presence is tangible evidence of the 1930s economic boom of population spread of a 
new form of accommodation - that's flats - and new infrastructure relating to new technology, 
eg. garages and cinemas.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Can I just interrupt you for a moment? 
 
MR DAVIES:   Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Is this on an automatic play?  Did you want it to - automatically? 
 
MS DAVIES:   Yes, it is.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, but I do want it to play.  It should just automatically play.  
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MS DAVIES:   It should just keep going.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That will go.   
 
MS DAVIES:   As you go on.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, they do.   
 
MS DAVIES:   Have you got any points that you need or-- 
 
MS GENEVE:   No, they're just supposed to go through on a seven-second - and I tested it 
and it-- 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it was working.  I think Marija wasn't sure that you wanted it to just roll, 
so-- 
 
MS DAVIES:   Okay, no, just to scroll.  I'm not talking to it, it's just a thing, yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay, good.  There we go.  
 
MS DAVIES:   So, yes, that will carry on.  Those are, yes, flats.  I'd note that the same 
arguments apply to the earlier shops and housed from 1900 to the 1920s that document the 
earlier development of Nedlands, Claremont, Cottesloe, Mosman Park and North Fremantle.  
My argument to retain all the 1930s places on Stirling Highway is one of both aesthetic and 
historic heritage values.   
 
I acknowledge the additional importance of social heritage but consider that beyond the 
scope of this paper.  Suffice to say that Stirling Highway, from its early beginnings, has been 
the place for people to live, work and play, and these activities have not changed markedly 
in the last century.  Aesthetic values are those of architectural style and the garden settings.  
Art deco architecture in relation to Stirling Highway gives one of several threads of aesthetic 
unity and cohesion.   
 
There are an unusual number of dwellings along the highway ranging from bungalows to 
blocks of flats.  Almost all of these have well-established gardens that provide a buffer 
against the sites and sounds of the highway traffic.  Of course, gardens and trees are not 
only associated with art deco places but with all the flats and houses, whatever their date of 
origin.  The result is a pleasing greening of this roof that cools and softens the built 
environment.   
 
The removal of these gardens would not only harm the aesthetic values of Stirling Highway 
but would diminish the livability of the flats and houses affected.  Historic values are those 
that regard the art deco places as documents that are evidence of the growth of the City of 
Perth and its suburbs along the original Perth-Fremantle Road, which was completed in 
1858.   
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So why are 1930s architectural styles considered important?  The answer is that they were 
modern, a true break from the conservative English styles that dominated the built 
environment until the depression.  International art deco fashion arrived in WA in 1934 and 
rampantly influenced local architecture and interior design in the post-depression surge of 
affluence.  In Perth this was a time of sudden population growth and wealth created by the 
state's second gold boom.  The well-to-do, middle-class yearning to be modern looked for 
new designs.   
 
Art deco filled this need embodying the glamour and excitement of new technologies at 
cinemas, ocean liners, fast cars and aeroplanes, as well as the intrigue in the Mayan, 
Egyptian and Aztec motifs.  In contrast, the half-timbered tudor revival style suited a 
conservative element of the population.  Domestic examples of art deco followed on the 
heels of the earliest public buildings.  Up to this time WA's domestic architecture had been 
predominantly a local version of the Californian bungalow with strong arts and crafts 
influences.   
 
Grander two-story houses tended to be in the Spanish mission or tudor revival styles.  
Art deco styles evolved from the geometric, symmetrical and decorated - for example, the 
Claremont municipal chambers to a careful balance of vertical and horizontal masses - one 
of the blocks of flats at 74 Stirling Highway to the curved, streamlined and asymmetric styles 
of 1939 to 40; for example, the Windsor, all this in the space of five to six years.  
 
One contemporary commentator remarked that almost overnight these new modern 
buildings appeared on the landscape and neighbours appear on a vacant block, and in no 
time at all the block of flats is erected and indications are they're being rented.  The places 
along Stirling Highway represent the work of all the prominent architects of the period - that's 
William T. Lasen, William G. Bennet, Harold Krantz, Reginald Summerhayes, Edwin 
Summerhayes, Marshall Clifton and Herbert Parry, and the builder designer Horace 
Costello.  They used the new technologies of the day such as cement render, canterlevered 
precast concrete eyebrow sills, flat concrete rooves, steel-framed windows and glass bricks.   
 
In addition to the standard purposes such as shops and hotels, the modern starts were 
applied to buildings that were new to the 1930s, garages, to serve the growing number of 
privately-owned cars, cinemas - that's the Windsor and there was the Cottesloe Theatre 
since demolished - to show the highly popular talkies, and the newly-developed small 
apartment blocks known as flats.  Despite fears that flats would become slums and 
encourage immorality, this new accommodation spread rapidly down Stirling Highway from 
Nedlands to Claremont.  
 
I'll give a brief history of the suburbs from Nedlands to Fremantle in order to support my 
claim that the distribution and functions of art deco places on the highway document the 
development of this important arterial route.  These places are all worth keeping for the 
benefit of future generations.  The histories of Nedlands, Claremont, Cottesloe, Mosman 
Park and North Fremantle are closely linked to the development of Perth's public transport.  
Initially it was the railway line between Fremantle and Perth that allowed easy access to the 
suburbs of Claremont, Cottesloe and Mosman Park.   
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Completed in 1881, the railway stimulated growth in each of these suburbs, and this is 
documented by the shops that still line Bayview Terrace, Claremont, Napoleon Street, 
Cottesloe, and the highway opposite the Mosman Park Railway Station.  Tram lines came to 
Nedlands in 1899, opening up this new suburb in close proximity to the city.  Again, the 
presence of federation shop styles mark the earliest services located around Broadway.  
Trams were replaced by trolley buses commencing in 1993 and the service gradually 
extended from Broadway to Claremont.   
 
By 1939 trams and trolleys had made the highway accessible to city commuters from 
Broadway to the old fire station in Claremont.  The number and distribution in blocks of flats 
in 1930s houses clearly parallels transport development.  The greatest number of blocks of 
flats is to be found in Nedlands.  That's 16 art deco flats from Bruce Street to Loftus Street.  
By contrast, there are only two blocks of art deco style flats in Claremont located between 
Queenslea Drive and the old fire station.  Beyond that point all blocks of flats date from the 
1950s and later.  
 
Similarly, private houses remain along the highway in Nedlands, Claremont and Cottesloe, 
indicating that the roadside was a desirable place to live, with easy access to public 
transport.  Garages were also an important new development in the built environment of the 
30s.  Only one remains on Stirling Highway adjacent to the old fire station in Claremont, 
perhaps marking the end of the trolley bus transport and the start of reliance on cars.  
 
Other garages along the route have either been demolished or redeveloped in accordance 
with the new demands of car service.  In Cottesloe only the art deco National Bank and the 
originally industrial Cottesloe electric substation - now CLD design - remain.  The 1935, 36 
Cottesloe Theatre has been demolished to make way for the Grove Shopping Centre.  
However, there is an important group of 20s, 30s houses located between Eric Street and 
Napier Street on the western side of the highway, including a grand Spanish mission two-
story house designed by Marshall Clifton.  
 
Neither Mosman Park nor North Fremantle have domestic art deco places on the highway in 
keeping with the earlier settlement and lack of access other than by train or private car.  
However, in North Fremantle close to the port there are two fine examples of industrial deco 
in the original Ford Motor Company and the original Dingo Flower Mill administration building 
reflecting the zoning of land between the major housing areas.  
 
Of all the places mentioned in this discussion, it's the (indistinct) so from 1937 and the 
neighbour Persian Carpet Company of 1939 that are probably the most important art deco 
places to be threatened with demolition by the removal of road reserves.  We've already 
submitted an article on the Windsor to the Planning Commission, but to briefly summarise its 
important, it's a unique and excellent example of the nautical streamline modern 
architectural style applied to a combination indoor, outdoor cinema.   
 
It's a groundbreaking economical technical solution to the challenges of moving film 
projectors from one cinema to another, as projectors housed in the biobox within the tower 
were placed on rails so that they could be easily moved from one cinema to the other 
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designed by leading cinema architect W.T. Laten.  The Windsor is a supreme example of the 
dictum that form follows function, as Laten applied the most avant-garde architectural style 
of the day to the design of the dual cinema, the curved, projecting vertical element function 
to house the extended biobox.  It is still serving its original functions and has higher 
authenticity and integrity, despite the enclosure of the open air cinema.  It also retains all the 
original decorative features within the main cinema.  It is not entered on the WA state 
heritage register at the insistence of its owner and the state heritage office refuses to 
reassess the place, even though the original documentation is over 20 years old.  
 
This iconic and well-used building - for just the only cinema in the western suburbs - will be 
demolished if the proposed rationalisation plan is implemented, and this will be a great loss 
to heritage and for the community.  In support of this presentation, I've provided the Planning 
Commission the list of all the places on Stirling Highway that the Art Deco Society hopes to 
see conserved and if seeing them in the Power Point slides show, while I've been speaking - 
and I hope you'll now appreciate the quantity, stylistic and functional variation of the 1930s 
places with which we're concerned.  
 
In summary, the Art Deco Society of WA is concerned about the survival of a total of 54 
places on Stirling Highway built in the 1930s.  The tally is 18 blocks of flats, five shops, two 
municipal chambers, two hotels, two factories, two original electric substations, one garage, 
one cinema, one post office, one bank, one public garden - that's the memorial gardens - 
and 18 private houses.  These places, with associated gardens, have high aesthetic, historic 
and social heritage values and contribute to the documentary evidence of the growth and 
development of this city along this very early arterial route from Perth to Fremantle.  
 
I hope I've clearly explained the reasons that we advance a heritage argument in favour of 
retaining and respecting all art deco places along the highway, together with the earlier 
places that give them context and meaning.  Thank you.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  Did you have any questions or points of clarification for the 
lady? 
 
MR McDOWALL:  I'm impressed with your presentation and the values that you're 
suggesting.  Your presentation doesn't offer, or hasn't appeared to offer, any solution. 
 
MS DAVIES:   When? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   To why the department was trying to rationalise some of the traffic 
difficulties.  
 
MS DAVIES:   Yes, we somewhat thought it was beyond our brief to offer planning solutions 
when we're not planners.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's okay.  
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MR McDOWALL:   That's okay, that's fine, but our brief, of course, is to hear all of that and 
so - - - 
 
MS DAVIES:   Yes, so my personal solution is to put bikes on the parallel roads because I 
still think it's too dangerous on the highway, amongst motor cars, buses, trucks et cetera.  
 
MS GENEVE:   You could weave the highway around certain important buildings like the-- 
 
MS DAVIES:   Yes, we've got a lot of them on that-- 
 
MS GENEVE:   You know, the Windsor, though, with (indistinct) suggested that highway 
could just have been inserted.  
 
MS DAVIES:   Yes, and I noticed that they're sub stationing Cottesloe.  The road is actually 
taking a bit of a curve to respect the (indistinct) Coffee Palace which is opposite and on the 
State Heritage list, so you're using one to gain another.  I agree, I can't see any easy 
solutions.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Heritage is an item that's come up a number of times and it's something that, 
yes, we'll have a look at. 
 
MS DAVIES:   I think the importance with ours is that there are not very many on the State 
Heritage list.  
 
MS BARTLE:   No, which is the problem, really.   
 
MS DAVIES:   Well, I mean, they're on the National Trust list, they're on the municipal 
inventory, but none of those have any statutory authority to compound any (indistinct) 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, we do.  A question from me-- 
 
MS DAVIES:   Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   We keep getting interrupted.  It's about the number that you've got on this list 
about them being - are you aware of how many of them are on municipal inventories?  Do 
you know if they've all been recognised? 
 
MS DAVIES:   No, we haven't tried to list another one because we go for all sorts of things, 
and the other one being that we've listed some of the flats on the inventory but not all.  
 
MS GENEVE:   The priority takes over then. 
 
MS DAVIES:   Yes. 
 
MS GENEVE:   The priority takes over and the smaller homes - - - 
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MS BARTLE:   We will wait.  We will not be able to hear for the transcript either.  We will just 
hold on a minute - - - 
 
(Reporter's note: missing audio from 10.00.47 to 10.00.59) 
 
CR MACRAE:   - - - the lines you were pursuing, which these are the properties on your list 
here that you provided that are impacted on by the reservation.  Obviously there are more 
properties along Stirling Highway that are not impacted. 
 
MS DAVIES:   Yes. 
 
CR MACRAE:   So we have not got an indication of these ones, which can always find out, 
which are State Heritage listed, which are National Trust properties listed and which are 
local scheme inventory listed. 
 
MS DAVIES:   And I would make a note that those are all on the art deco inventory list. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes. 
 
MS DAVIES:   Which is the best we can do. 
 
CR MACRAE:   How do you progress that to a formal recognition either through the National 
Trust or the State Heritage?  I mean, how are you progressing that? 
 
MS GENEVE:   The idea of a precinct came up, didn't it? 
 
MS DAVIES:   This is a very unusual cluster because it's spread out along a distance and 
we talked about it years ago and then put it in the too hard basket.  It's seriously difficult to 
research the history of these flats because we don't get access to them unless we know 
someone living in them, so we don't get a full assessment, but we normally progress through 
the National Trust and the Municipal Inventories pick it up from there.  But until now, until 
they've been threatened, we haven't moved on them. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Anything more from either of you? 
 
MS GENEVE:   I think the highway, as you approach round the river near the uni - there's a 
wonderful entrance to Nedlands and it would be a shame to see that discontinued.  You see 
these St George's College, UWA and so on right up to Broadway.  That's a wonderful entry 
statement and for it to continue in that manner right down to Fremantle would be a 
welcoming sight for visitors and locals to appreciate their local heritage. 
 
MS DAVIES:   It's sort of part of the overall impression, but it's - - - 
 
MS GENEVE:   Yes, but it still is part of the - - - 
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MS DAVIES:   It wasn't until our research for this that I appreciated the importance of all the 
flats - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, there's a lot. 
 
MS DAVIES:   - - - because they were the new form of thing - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes, sure. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MS DAVIES:   As you probably know, there were a lot of them, but the Adelaide Terrace 
ones have gone and the ones on the Esplanade have gone, yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Our task is to obviously hear all of the verbal submissions and to have a look 
and make recommendations to the WA Planning Commission.  Obviously we are looking at 
the actual road reservation, but these things provide context for that and, at the moment, it is 
purely about the reservation.  It is not actually a project to undertake works by Main Roads 
or by Treasury at this stage.  This is really just to do with the Metropolitan Region Scheme. 
 
MS DAVIES:   I understand. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Any additional works would be in the future, if at all.   
 
MS DAVIES:   A plan's a plan and once it's down on paper - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   That is right, and a reservation is a reservation. 
 
MS DAVIES:   - - - it's very threatening. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, I understand your position. 
 
MS GENEVE:   We must continue what we've started. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We have quite a lot of work ahead of us.  It goes to the WA Planning 
Commission, obviously, to the Minister and to Parliament, so it is probably up to 12 months 
of work, but you will get a response. 
 
MS DAVIES:   Thank you very much. 
 
MS GENEVE:   Thank you. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So you know what happens now.   
 
MS DAVIES:   I don't envy you 600 submissions. 
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MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much for your time. 
 
MS DAVIES:   Thank you. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Thank you. 
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MR RICHARD HILL 
representing Fleur Schell and himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Welcome.  I am Megan Bartle.   
 
MR HILL:   Thank you.  Good to see you. 
 
MS BARTLE:   This is Kent McDowall. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   How do you do? 
 
MS BARTLE:   And Councillor Corinne MacRae. 
 
MR HILL:   Hello. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We have technical support from John O'Hurley from the Department of 
Planning.  As you are aware, these are the public hearings for the MRS amendment for the 
rationalisation of Stirling Highway.  Just so that you are aware, whilst you have requested a 
private hearing, these are public, so no-one else can come into your hearing, but they are 
being recorded. 
 
MR HILL:   Sure.  I wasn't aware that they were - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   That is all right.  Just so that you know, there will be a transcript that will 
become a public record, along with recommendations that will end up being tabled in 
parliament, just so you are not feeling like it is "private" private. 
 
MR HILL:   Sure.  Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We represent the WA Planning Commission in this process.  We have got a 
copy of your submission that we have read and this is your opportunity, basically, to give a 
verbal presentation so that we clearly understand your concerns and what your issues are. 
 
MR HILL:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, I think I have gone through that.  We have allowed 15 minutes for your 
presentation and that allows a little bit of time at the end for some questions. 
 
MR HILL:   I would also like to get a sense of kind of the rationale behind why this is being 
done and I've heard various sort of views, but I'm not sure what the official view is in terms - I 
don't know whether you want to talk about that first or - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   We can.  John, do you want to give a synopsis? 
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MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, the MRS amendment has come out of a study by the 
West Australian Planning Commission for the Stirling Highway Activity Corridor Study, which 
has been looking at Stirling Highway in terms of its public transport, the high-frequency bus 
service, and it was requested of the Commission to look at options for increasing density, 
say, along the activity corridor in Stirling Highway instead of blanket, R-code increases 
across the western suburbs.  That's where it's come from and then this stage is obviously 
related to determining the reservation which then guides the - - - 
 
MR HILL:   So it is primarily for public transport? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   And safety. 
 
MR HILL:   When we bought our place, we actually bought it off a real estate agent.  He 
pointed us to some old - well, some existing but fairly historical documents that talked about 
the notion where - where we are particularly was actually making the Stirling Highway a back 
street and making the main artery the other side of the railway. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Curtin Avenue. 
 
MR HILL:   Yes, and it would cut across at Mosman Park and then connect into Tydeman.  I 
think we've had some literature sent to us about, if it's going to happen, where it cuts back to 
Tydeman.  This obviously affects some of the housing further down in North Freo, sort of 
where the highway splits.  Is that the case?  Is that the intended - to make Stirling Highway 
less busy? 
 
MS BARTLE:   No. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   No, it's a primary regional roads reservation, so it's the highest order of 
road in a metropolitan area.   
 
MS BARTLE:   I think, over time, options are explored at different times, but at this stage 
that reservation exists and will continue to exist.  So there has been no decision made that I 
am aware of at all, ever, to actually move that hierarchy of the Stirling Highway. 
 
MR HILL:   So there's no - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   No. 
 
MR HILL:   I wonder what I read?  It was part of - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   As I said, there may have been a study done at some point to look at it, but 
no actual resolution has been reached to ever downgrade Stirling Highway. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Main Roads occasionally, every few years, in the past has gone to 
consultation or liaised publicly on certain options. 
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MR HILL:   Yes. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   So there may be a history there of different options being on the table. 
 
MS BARTLE:   On the table, but never actually progressed.  
 
MR HILL:   Specifically, where we are - obviously, it's where the river pinches quite close to 
the coast and we've noticed in the six or seven years that we've been there, the increase in 
traffic and the difficulty, particularly in peak hour, through there.  There's no provision - how 
is that being addressed?  Is there any sort of sense of the issues that might continue - well, I 
imagine that they will increase over time. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   The Main Road modelling suggests that Stirling Highway will not change 
significantly in its capacity in the future.  The busiest part of Stirling Highway carries about 
40,000 vehicles per day.  The Curtin Avenue extension that's shown on the amendment 
plans, but not a part of this amendment, is part of the Department of Transport process for 
looking at access to the Fremantle Ports.  So a significant part of that Curtin Avenue 
extension is actually to accommodate freight in and out of the port activity. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Primarily, this process has been to look at - there is an existing reservation 
along Stirling Highway and the process has been to look at:  is that appropriate as to what it 
is and, if it is not, what should it be to meet current safety standards? 
 
MR HILL:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That is how the rationalisation has been arrived at. 
 
MR HILL:   That was my next question, and I think you suggested it in the last meeting, but 
the timing of all this - I understand this is a 12-month consultation period and then I imagine 
a bill will be sought to be passed perhaps.  Then will it be a case of it being five, 10, 15 years 
before anything is actually done, or- - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   The advice that we have at this time is that it would probably be around 
20 years.  There is no project as such within Main Roads to undertake these works and 
there is no forward budgeting from Treasury at this time.  That could change, but at this 
stage, yes, this is really just about the reservation should works be determined to be needed 
in the future.   
 
MR HILL:   In terms of - like, the lady in the last meeting said once the reservation is - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Put in. 
 
MR HILL:   Yes - tabled or whatever, or goes into law, then that affects the value of the 
property.  I will go into what that means for us.  Is there any provision, in that sense, for 
compensation? 
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MR O’HURLEY:   Yes.  The system is set up to deal with reservations over a private 
property.  There's a number of options available to landowners to pursue compensation, 
including offering their property to the Western Australian Planning Commission.  There is a 
handout that the committee can provide to you. 
 
MR HILL:   Okay. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   But generally, with something like this, with such a long-term time frame, 
as the Committee suggested, it would be quite some time before the government would 
approach landowners, but the landowner has the right to ask the State. 
 
MR HILL:   Thank you. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   So the landowner can trigger it, but yes, it's detailed. 
 
MR HILL:   Maybe, in terms of our places, you may - I think I wrote a letter.  Do you have 
images of - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   The panel members did do a site inspection along Stirling Highway. 
 
MR HILL:   Great.  Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We have looked at the properties where we knew that there were hearings 
coming up, really just a walk past, so we have not gone - - - 
 
MR HILL:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We do have an image here of your property.  That is your property. 
 
MR HILL:   That is, yes.  Then you will know that is Heritage listed.  It's on the State register.  
So we've spent quite a bit of money renovating it on the basis that obviously it would stay as 
it is.  We actually got an award for doing that.  This portion of the building is where we live 
and this portion has been, up until quite recently, an artist's gallery and workshop and 
residence, international residency.   
 
We have a flow of international artists coming and going.  I think that might be in the letter.  
So it's very important to us - we have no flexibility in what we do with our building.  If the 
road ends up - which it kind of will if we lose the sort of degree of land we're talking about - it 
would almost be at our doorstop.  We'd lose our parking, which obviously then destroys our 
ability to run it as a gallery.  We can't.  I don't know how we'd provision for that, and you 
would have noticed that there's no other scope for parking.   
 
I mean, the parking along the side - this is not ours; it's our neighbours.  Yes, it has a 
massive impact in that regard because also obviously the whole feel of it.  I mean, the area 
itself - I don't know if you remember when you were walking through there.  It's quite an 
interesting precinct.  You've got artists; they've got stargazing.  I mean, I don't know if these 
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guys are part of the hearings, but I know they were pretty concerned as well, but there's an 
artist to the north of us. 
 
There's also a gallery - there were two galleries to the south of us, and it's sort of a unique 
area.  I suppose the query I have, which is a really obvious one, is:  why would you not use 
the sort of, effectively, space on the other side of the highway, which is significant, between 
the railway and the road, which is flat and level with the road, which is not being utilised 
other than for partly a car park? 
 
MS BARTLE:   I cannot answer that question at this time other than to take that on board as 
part of your comments. 
 
MR HILL:   I suppose that's really the thrust. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HILL:   I mean, I know there's a stroke of the pen of the engineer who does the work 
and maybe there's a convenience factor in cutting a corner, but I think just, given the nature 
of the building - and next door is also heritage listed as well.  I mean, you would have 
noticed the other old building next door, and they have quite a lot of history.  I won't go 
through that, but yes, they are quite significant, to the point where we had to be very careful 
what we did.   
 
Since that letter, to add to the equation, my wife is a successful ceramic artist and she ran a 
residency out of our place and we decided to actually take on a lease of 92 Stirling Highway, 
which was the Old Gallery East.  I don't know if you remember.  It's now called the Clay 
House.  You might have noticed it when you walked past?  There's a new dentist there.  The 
two galleries have recently been - one was sold and became a child's dentist.  They'll lose all 
their parking.  I don't know how they're going to operate, but the one next door was the Perth 
Galleries and we've taken on the lease of that, or my wife has, and she's got artists in 
residence there and we sort of have 4 or 5 hundred students going through there a week 
now, which provides a pretty important public - as we've realised over the sort of five months 
of doing it, it's been a very important service to the public and it's allowed Fleur to do this, 
whereas before it was a bit tricky, with being next to our house. 
 
We also have an option to buy that place, so that's even more dramatically impacted by this 
reservation.  I know that the owners of that building did put in a submission, and that was 92 
Stirling Highway.  I don't know if they're appearing here.  That's another sort of impact for us.  
I suppose we've made this part of the highway our area of business and lifestyle and living 
and would have a massive impact on us.  I think just the whole flavour of that area, in terms 
of its uniqueness - is the intention just to change the R codes along the highway?  That was 
certainly put as one of the rationales that I think I heard. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   This is a Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment, so this process 
cannot affect R codes. 
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MR HILL:   Yes, okay. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   It reverts back to that study that was mentioned before, the 
Stirling Highway Activity Corridor Study.  That's part of that process, that it would look at 
those options for encouraging intensification along the high-frequency bus - that would come 
out as a separate.  That would basically be - - - 
 
MR HILL:   Colin Barnett I think even talked about on the radio that he wanted to see nodes 
of population along the highway, and that seemed to be one of the reasons; it's political. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   The general philosophy is increasing density around the public transport.  
That's not part of the MRS.  That would be then a separate, like, public consultation 
document, then if that was endorsed, local planning schemes would then be modified to 
allow for different requirements than are existing now.  So that may change height or plot 
ratio or something over lots. 
 
MR HILL:   Yes, okay, well, they are points, but that wouldn't help us at all with a 
heritage-listed building, in the sense that we can't really modify it and the building is pretty 
much built to the block, so yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That is right.  Corinne, did you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, I didn't.  It was a very comprehensive Q and A session, I think. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HILL:   I mean, it is pretty straightforward why - it seems very logical that you have got 
an option on the other side of the highway which is effectively a wasteland.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, do you have any questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Only in the sense of the proposal has bike lines on it.  How many bikes 
actually - you live there - would you see? 
 
MR HILL:   To be honest, very rare, because it's not the sort of - I mean, I wouldn't ride my 
bike along the highway, and I think that most people would tend to go to the coast or along 
Curtin - is it Curtin Ave, the one - because they've got bike paths.  You know what I mean?  I 
can certainly see the rationale for that, but I think there's plenty of option, in the sense that 
you can cut across the railway line there and then go out along.  In fact when I ride to work, 
that's what I do, I go along the coast. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   You commute on a bike? 
 
MR HILL:   I do, yes, and I use a bike quite a lot, you know, to go to the beach or to catch up 
with friends or whatever.  As a family, we do that, and we either go out to the river, where 
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there's a bike path, or we go out to the ocean, but I never ride along the highway and I very 
rarely see people riding.  I don't know if you do, but - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   That was what my question was, because - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, just from your perspective. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   - - - the plan does indicate to have bike lanes. 
 
MR HILL:   I think that was mentioned too in the submission, or whatever, but that now 
makes sense.  
 
MS BARTLE:   You heard my little speech before that it has got a long way to go, but just to 
let you know that properties that are listed on the State Heritage List are something certainly 
that we have a lot of sympathy for, and our recommendation is that they should be 
preserved.  So the extent of the preservation is what we will have another look at when we 
are doing final recommendations in relation to building curtilage and that sort of thing.  Yes, 
so we understand the value of your property, and congratulations for looking after it. 
 
MR HILL:   That's all right but, look, I mean, if you spoke to the ceramic community of Perth 
and the whole bunch of students that are now benefiting from what Fleur does, and I'm 
involved as well, and the international artists and basically the cultural exchange that comes 
from that, it's quite unique in Perth.  There's nothing else like it.  I think if we lost that, the 
impact would be we'd really struggle to do that if we lost our frontage there.  
 
MS BARTLE:   All right, Richard.  Thank you very much for your time. 
 
MR HILL:   No worries. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We appreciate it. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Thank you.  
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MR REX LANGMEAD 
representing Langmead Investments Pty Ltd in trust  

for the Langmead Family Trust 
 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hello.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Good morning.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Take a seat.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Here? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes (indistinct) that's fine.  Welcome.  I'm Megan Bartle.  I'm the chair of 
these hearings.  This is Kent McDowall, panel member, and Councillor Corinne MacRae is 
the other member.  We have technical support with us today of John O'Hurley from the 
Department of Planning.  As you're aware, these are the public hearings for the Metropolitan 
Region Scheme amendment on the rationalisation of the Stirling Highway Road Reserve.  
What I just want to draw to your attention - that whilst you're requested a private hearing with 
us - which means that other members of the public cannot come into this hearing - these are 
public hearings and they are being recorded.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Fine.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay, so just so that you're aware, the transcript of this along with 
recommendations will be a public record in the future.   
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Right.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Our role here today is to represent the WA Planning Commission.  We have 
a copy of your submission which we've read and this is an opportunity for you to give us a 
verbal presentation to make sure that we're fully au fait with your position and your concerns.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Right.  
 
MS BARTLE:   I've gone through most of it.  We've given you 15 minutes for your 
presentation, and that will allow a little bit of time at the end for dialogue.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   I doubt we'll need that, unless you've got a lot of questions.  
 
MS BARTLE:   As it's being recorded, I'll hand over to you and I'll just ask if you could start 
your presentation by stating your name.  Thank you.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   My name is Rex Arnold Langmead and I represent the owners of 133 
Stirling Highway, Leighton, a property which is seriously affected by the proposed 
rationalisation of the Stirling Highway reservation.  So I would like - sort of, in order to 
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acquaint the committee with the history of our property to sort of run down a - outline a time 
line of our involvement with it.  It goes a long way back.   
 
In 1945 the land was purchased by my father.  In 1957 he built a small factory unit - very 
small; it was 11 metres by 11 metres - I think for two reasons:  (1) he was involved in the 
motor industry and he saw it as, you know, a plan B if he left that industry and wanted to do 
things on his own, but eventually it was just rented.  In 1963 the Metropolitan Regional 
Planning Scheme was adopted by the state and this land was owned - major highways, as 
Stirling Highway was going to be six lanes at that time.   
 
In 1996 the Main Roads decided they didn’t need all the land, so they rezoned 5.5 metres as 
major highway and then the balance went to metropolitan reserves, parks and recreation.  
My father at that time said he didn't object to it but wanted the Planning Commission to 
consider a more permanent zoning; you know, like, urban or light industrial, or whatever.  He 
died in 1997 and it came over to the family then.  
 
In 2003, together with three owners in that block of land, we put in a submission under the 
omnity bus 6 proposal to change the zoning to urban, and this was disallowed.  In 2007 the 
Metropolitan Regional Planning Scheme amendment number 1138/41, East Leighton, was 
put out, which we supported, because the proposal was then to turn it into urban together 
with government land on that site.  To date we've had no response to that submission, so we 
don't know where that one's going.   
 
In 2007 the small factory was destroyed by fire, which then was put in for approval to replace 
it like for like, which the Planning Commission approved, but on reflection, because of this 
East Leighton proposal that was on the table, I couldn't see us going forward when, you 
know, you might put a 1957 building on a block of land which had the potential to be rezoned 
to urban any time, so I elected not to go ahead, except I did write to the Department asking 
for approval for extension of time on the approval, but verbally was advised that there was 
no protocol to apply an extension, so that fell through.  
 
I guess the history is effectively the property has been in limbo since 2007, from our point of 
view.  Going on to how this affects us, our objection to the scheme relates to its effect on our 
property and on the properties covered under the Metropolitan Regional Scheme 
Amendment 1138/41 East Leighton.  Specifically to our property, by taking a further 8.8 
metres - or, in total, 14.3 metres - it reduces our land from 395 square metres down to 
210 square metres, and therefore effectively destroys it, as we see it, for development 
potential unless that land can be replaced by maybe the road reserve to the west. 
 
Then generally other properties covered by East Leighton amendment 1138/41, as I see it - 
the future potential urban development of 1 and a half hectares of predominantly land owned 
by the WA Government and unique land really insomuch as it looks over gauge roads - is 
being put at risk to make provision for a bus priority lane which, in effect - and we've got a 
railway within 100 metres.   
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To me, it just should be reconsidered because, number (1) the economic advantage to the 
government by doing something with that land, that reserve land, including the private land 
that's on it and when we've got, you know, a railway line with a foot bridge and a derelict 
station, admittedly, but they're all within probably 150 metres - so that's effectively my 
submission.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  Kent, do you have any questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   I’m just trying to get my head totally around the fact that it's clearly mixed 
up with an unresolved MRS amendment, and how much of the land on the side of you is 
public and how much is privately owned? 
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Have you seen - I've got a copy of the actual - this is the East Leighton 
development.  Pretty well all of it now is - apart from two - that's the land here (indistinct) 
 
MR McDOWALL:  These are yours here, yes? 
 
MR LANGMEAD:   That's us four.  I think that's owned by Main Roads.  That is private and 
of course the rest of it's all government.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   So there's only one or two of your left? 
 
MR LANGMEAD:   There's two left.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   Two left, okay.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   I think it's that property here - what number is that?  63. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   63.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Yes, that property 63 and ours.  We've held this block, you know, 
because we recognise that it was in a unique position but at the moment it appears it's going 
nowhere, which is a problem.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   Its current zoning at the moment is some form of parks and recreation? 
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Parks and recreation, that's right, and that submission was designed to 
change that zoning of the area to urban. 
 
MR McDOWALL:  It does appear that this has impacted on approving this thing that is 
unresolved - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's something that we have to perhaps discuss afterwards with the 
Department.  
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MR LANGMEAD:   Yes, it's further impacted on us because originally they had a road 
reserve of 5.5 metres to the front and now they want a further 8.8, and you can see it just 
chops it in half, effectively, and therefore we're in no man's land.  
 
MR McDOWALL:  I'm just getting myself up to speed to - - - 
 
MR LANGMEAD:   I know.  
 
MS BARTLE:   We've got to get it clear in our heads as to the impact.  Corinne, do you have 
any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, that's fine, thank you.  
 
MS BARTLE:   I appreciate your time.  We have quite a bit of work ahead of us in this.  
We've got a few more days of hearings to go and then there's recommendations to be made 
to the WA Planning Commission, obviously then up to the minister and then to parliament.  
So it's probably about 12 months of work ahead of us.  In time you will get a response.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Thank you.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   Thanks for hearing me.  That's the important - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's all right.  Thanks for your time.  
 
MR LANGMEAD:   It's great to be here but it has been a bit frustrating.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, I'm sure it has.  Thank you.   
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MS VICKI HAMERSLEY & MR CHRIS KENNDY 
representing Vicki & Simon Hamersley 

(property held in the name of LF Rural Nominees Pty Ltd) 
 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hello.  Would you like to join us at the table? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Good morning. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Welcome.  These are the public hearings for the MRS amendment for the 
rationalisation of Stirling Highway Road Reserve.  I'm Megan Bartle. 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   How do you do? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hello.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae. 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   How do you do? 
 
MS BARTLE:   And Kent McDowall.  We are the panel, and we have technical support from 
John O'Hurley from the Department of Planning. 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   Hello, John.  I remember you. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes.  I remember you as well. 
 
MS BARTLE:   He is memorable. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   For various reasons, yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   The panel represent the WA Planning Commission in these hearings.  Our 
role is to hear your submission.  We've got a copy of your written submission, which we've 
read, and we will just need to give you time to verbally present so that we understand and 
are quite clear on your position.  I notice that you have requested a private hearing, which 
means that no other members of the public can come and sit in here, but I just need to make 
you aware that these are public hearings so they are being recorded and a transcript of the 
recordings, along with recommendations, will become a public document, just so that you 
are aware of that.   
 
We have given you 15 minutes for your presentation, which will allow a bit of time at the end 
for some dialogue between us.  As it is being recorded I will hand over to you, but as you 
start could you just state your names for the transcript and then off you go. 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   I'm Vicki Hamersley and my husband and I live at 72 Stirling Highway, 
North Fremantle.  My husband is not here today.  We're farmers and he's very busy getting 
ready for harvest and our neighbour, Chris Kennedy, has been very kind to say he'd come 
along and speak.  I'm not a confident public speaker. 
 



 
29.10.13 23 Ms Hamersley & Mr Kenndy 

MS BARTLE:   That is quite all right.  A lot of people are not. 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   So I am going to let Chris handle it, if that is okay? 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's absolutely fine.  That's your prerogative.  Thank you.  Thanks, Chris. 
 
MR KENNEDY:   Thanks very much for this opportunity to speak about the property.  As you 
would have gathered, we're talking about 72 Stirling Highway.  That's also lot 3.  It's to the 
south of the original Rose Hotel building, which you can probably see from that photograph.  
What I'd like to do, on Vicki and so on's behalf, is I guess talk about the impact of this 
initiative on their property.  Look, I guess there is a very obvious direct impact, but there's 
also significant indirect impacts as well.  
 
In terms of direct impact, the proposal would result in the loss of about 54 square metres of 
land, which in our view is significant and does impact on the development potential of the 
site.  In terms of the site, it's part of development area 15 in the Local Planning Scheme, so 
very much an objective of this (indistinct) this development area is to enable redevelopment, 
obviously in a way which is sympathetic to the character and amenity of the area.  The 
redevelopment of the site:  you can see very obviously already from this photograph what's 
taken place.  You can see these multiple unit developments that have taken place behind 
the original Rose Hotel building there.  That's where we are there. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR KENNEDY:   So in terms of loss of land, it's very significant for us, and indeed Simon 
and Vicky must be compensated for that.  I'll get to that in a minute.  Now, I guess there is 
very definitely an impact on the existing dwelling.  I'll just put that there for you. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR KENNEDY:   What we've been able to do is we've had a future survey done of the 
dwelling and what we were able to do is superimpose upon that the reserve or the area 
that's intended to be ceded, and what it results in is certainly the removal of the verandah.  
Now, I've got some photos here somewhere.  I'll just get them out as well.  So it results - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Nice photos.  
 
CR MACRAE:   Lovely. 
 
MR KENNEDY:   Yes, they say graffiti is artistic.  I'm not sure about that one but anyway, so, 
look, it results in the removal of the verandah to the dwelling, which is a significant impact.  I 
think importantly, the impacts on the dwelling are that the dwelling, if the initiative goes 
ahead, is less than 2 and a half metres from the road.  What we need to understand here is 
we're talking about a flimsy - it's described as a weatherboard cottage, whereas in actual 
fact, and it's obvious from the photographs, it's actually a flimsy asbestos cottage with some 
weatherboard elements.  So we're talking about a flimsy structure which will be very close to 
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- I don't need to tell you this - a very busy road that also carries, from time to time, very large 
trucks. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR KENNEDY:   So the site's already impacted.  What this will do is magnify significantly 
that impact, and we're talking about an old building.  Many of the other buildings that adjoin 
this site are in fact robust limestone, brick and stone structures and they're further set back.  
So that's a big concern to us, that impact, and it basically renders the building, in our view, 
uninhabitable.  Okay? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR KENNEDY:   So, look, as I've touched upon, amenity, impact, noise, vibration - it's our 
view that these impacts, you know, while in theory could be addressed, would not be 
practical or feasible to do so in this case.  I think, you know, one of the most kind of insidious 
aspects, if you like, of this is that it's resulted, probably inadvertently, in a lot of uncertainty 
around this land in terms of, you know, what we can do with it. 
 
As you can see, the dwelling is dilapidated, and the reasons for that are beyond Simon and 
Vicky's control.  I mean, this land is impacted by a reservation.  It would be foolish, 
financially irresponsible, to spend money on it, given that uncertainty.  So we're in a position 
where, okay, we can't really restore the dwelling, do the dwelling up, and equally, we're not 
in the position where we can go to council and come up with a redevelopment scenario 
either, given the uncertainty of the reservation. 
 
So, you know, this is particularly hard on Vicky and Simon.  They are retirees, they're 
self-funded retirees, this is their asset and, you know, it's of great concern to them, 
particularly at this stage in their lives.  What we want is to be compensated not just for the 
land which is required for the reservation, but for the land that is contained by the house as 
well, because as I said at the beginning, the impact is on the whole dwelling, the dwelling is 
uninhabitable and in fact can't be used for anything, in our view.  So what we ask is that 
compensation procedures be instigated immediately and that compensation is in lieu of the 
land required for the reserve, any impact on the house and the land related thereto.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, I can get John to give you some advice on compensation.  Do you want 
that now? 
 
MR KENNEDY:   Yeah, look, that would be great.   
 
MS BARTLE:   John, do you want to have a talk to - - - 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, there's a brochure that I can provide, or the committee can provide, 
you about region schemes and how reservations affect property.  From what you've 
suggested today, possibly you'd be looking at the option where the landowner makes a 
request to the Western Australia Planning Commission to purchase.   
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In a situation like this amendment, it's probably 20 years before the government may act on 
the road reserve, if at all, so if someone was seeking an early acquisition or compensation 
the owner would write to the Western Australia Planning Commission and then the whole 
process then looks at whether the government is able to put it in its list of priorities, et cetera.  
The only thing to keep in mind with this particular property is that the reservation is not there 
yet because the amendment isn't finalised, so you would need to await the outcome of the 
amendment process to see where the reserve lies.  
 
MR KENNEDY:   When would that be, do you predict, the finalisation? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Administratively, the Western Australia Planning Commission would be 
deliberating on the amendment probably midway through next year.  From there it has to go 
to the Minister for Planning and then to the Governor, and then sit in both houses of 
parliament.  There is no time limit for that, so there - yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   There's just still quite a lot of work to be done by us making 
recommendations to the commission, the commission deliberating and then obviously, as 
John said, there's actually no time frame on the actual finalisation of an amendment.  Yes, 
so in time you will get a response from us but it could sit for quite some time and I know that 
a number of people have voiced concern over what that means to them, the uncertainty, but 
unfortunately we can't give you a definitive time frame.  But we're looking probably at around 
12 months we believe at this stage before you would get a response from us.   
 
MR KENNEDY:   So in terms of activating the compensation - so when the amendment's 
promulgated, it's simply by correspondence, a letter?  There's not a formal - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   John's got a pamphlet there that he can - - - 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, I think I've got that.  Yes, you make contact with the commission.  So 
you would write to the commission as the owner and that would start a discussion or 
dialogue and potentially a negotiation.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, did you have any questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   I just want clarification - the house is vacant, and how long since 
anyone's lived in it? 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   Going back to the letter here I wrote to the mayor - we've owned the 
property since 1995 and we bought it because we live in the country as a home for our 
children to live in after school and university.  I've been trying to think how long they were 
there.  They've moved off and got married.  Now, at the moment my son left the property, we 
had two of them there and the moment my son left with the - the vandals moved in and we 
were under insurance for a year, and it was vandalised just before that year was up again, 
and of course the insurance company wiped us so, look - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   So it's some years then? 
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MS HAMERSLEY:   Yes, it is some years, because it's been uninhabitable.  We couldn't rent 
it; we couldn't do anything with it.  We put up a rent-a-fence right around it to protect the 
neighbourhood children from going in because druggies have gone in; there's broken glass; 
the house is diabolical.  We've got to the point there's no point cleaning up, there's no point 
patching up the house.  If we patch it, they just bash in another wall to get in, and this is 
particularly bad through the winters.   
 
We've had to evict people.  The police won't come.  They're always too busy in Fremantle, 
so we've had to gingerly go in, not knowing what we're going to find, and then evict some 
poor creature onto the street in the rain, which was just dreadful.  I wrote to the Mayor about 
that and he said, "We'll come up with a better suggestion and then write back" virtually but, 
you know, what do you do about it?  We asked the young man had he been to the church for 
help and he said, "Yes."  .Have you been to refuges for help" and he said, "Yes," but there 
seems nowhere for them to go.  It's a very sad situation.   
 
MS BARTLE:   It's a very sad social issue.  
 
CR MACRAE:   When did you apply for demolition? 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   We applied in - I haven't put a date on this, I'm sorry.  
 
MR KENNEDY:   I think it was October.  
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   But I can give you this, which was our application for demolition - 
October last year?  No.  
 
MR KENNEDY:   011, I believe.  
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   At 011.  Time just passed us so quickly.  
 
MS BARTLE:   It does, unfortunately.  
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   It goes Monday to Friday and again it starts.  
 
CR MACRAE:   That was refused because it was a heritage building of some significant? 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   That's correct.  
 
CR MACRAE:   Do you know - with the City of Fremantle scheme, you know, do they have a 
hierarchy? 
 
MR KENNEDY:   They do.  
 
CR MACRAE:   Is it somewhere - - - 
 
MR KENNEDY:   It's at the bottom, the bottom of the hierarchy. 
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CR MACRAE:   Absolutely at the bottom? 
 
MR KENNEDY:   Yeah.  
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   A councillor (indistinct) live there.  They felt that was significant.  
They've actually removed that, said that's not significant anymore because - is every 
councillor's house going to be heritage?  He has a street named after him just behind us.  
They still say the house is an example of a workman's cottage.  The year we bought it, it was 
heritage listed, which is obviously why the owner sold it and did not inform us, and we were 
naive enough not to ask, but we had open day for all the councils to come along and have a 
look.  I think three turned up; one very keen on heritage.  He went through it and said there 
was absolutely nothing significant in the building; however, he was going to vote against 
demolition.  
 
They have taken off the back buildings, which I would have thought was more heritage.  
There was a laundry and a loo and a garage, and it was the old - you know, the truck came 
past and picked up the can at the flat et cetera.  They've removed that from - they've allowed 
us to demolish that, which we haven't done yet.  
 
I think they felt, "Well, you can go and develop the back of it, but we're going to make you do 
up the front house," and I think that was their reasoning for that, and that demolition order is 
still in order but you couldn't start developing the back half because you don't have access to 
do up the front house if you do that, which is where we've come in with Chris, because he's 
developed next door to us and we've allowed that back space for him to do his building from.  
That's why Chris is helping us.  
 
MR KENNEDY:   Yes, and, look, this whole thing with the list and the scheme is a very good 
question.  I mean, what happened when the current scheme was being formulated - the 
municipal heritage inventory was simply carried over and transferred into the scheme as a 
list, as a heritage list.  What everyone knows and acknowledges was the MHI was a flawed 
list, and I can actually give you a very good example as to why it was a flawed list:  the 
Rose Hotel was never listed, which is bewildering, yet this building was listed.  
 
Equally, if we look at White Street, again there are buildings which - you know, I'm not an 
expert, but at face value they would seem to warrant liasing but aren't, and equally there are 
other buildings which wouldn't seem to justify listing but are.  This scheme was formulated 
and in the list that the - the MHI was simply carried over as a heritage list so it went from 
being an apple to an orange and we're now in a very difficult position.   
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   I would have loved our son to have stayed on living there, but he simply 
couldn't.  He said sleeping in the front room - if a truck went past, you thought it was coming 
in the front door. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Oh dear.  
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MS HAMERSLEY:   He actually wasn't well while he was there, for some reason.  He got 
skin irritations and things.  I don't know what from.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, you're in a very difficult position, by the sounds of it.  
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   Catch-22.  We can't move; we can't do anything.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  A heritage consultant may be able to assist you, along with a planner, 
in making a submission.  I'm not sure.  It's really a case of talking to the City and seeing 
when they're going to review their MI, things like that as well, and try and work with them. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Was it a close vote on demolition, just out of interest? 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   As I remember at the meeting, four people voted for demolition, which 
in that respect was quite close for the number in the room.  I think we needed two more.  
One councillor was missing.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Local heritage issues are something that have been raised a number of 
times in submissions.  This is probably not in the same category.  We've gone through it - 
there's quite a long way to go in this process but recommendations will be made on each 
submission as to how the - you know, because obviously our task is to look at the 
reservation and any comments that have been received through these hearing processes 
and make recommendations in that regard.  We appreciate your time and you coming in.  It 
certainly has helped to clarify a couple of points for me.   
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   We feel that as - excuse me - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  No, it's all right.  
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   You know, as John alerted us when he came down to look at the 
situation, taking off the corner of the verandah, the whole heritage of the house is with the 
verandah on it as well, and it was glassed in, it was photographed for heritage in that way.  
As the verandah is glassed in, it gave a little bit of a double buffer against noise.  We would 
still have to put in double glazing on all the windows, but the house - the highway's actually 
higher than the highway and all the floors inside have - just all the stumps have subsided, so 
they're all going down the cord that's - amazingly, no white ants; amazing.  Perhaps it's too 
noisy for them.  
 
MR KENNEDY:   (indistinct) 
 
MS BARTLE:   (indistinct) 
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   That's a good one.  
 
CR MACRAE:   I can give you some of mine.  
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MS HAMERSLEY:   We've got plenty at home.  We're good.  Oh boy, have we got them at 
home.  
 
MR KENNEDY:   Actually, I should say, that letter is different from the submission.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's okay.  These will be collected and made part of your submission.  Any 
attachments that are tabled, we keep a copy of them.  
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   I can give you that address to the council for demolition.  I'm sorry it 
hasn't got a date on it.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's okay.  You think it was about 2011 though? 
 
MR KENNEDY:   Late.  Yes, the decision was made in January.  The council meeting was 
12 January, but the application I think was September.  
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   Sorry, I didn't put that on.  
 
MS BARTLE:   It's quite all right.  It's something, yes.  It's of interest (indistinct) more 
personal as it's more the local issue.  All right, thank you very much.  
 
MR KENNEDY:   Thank you.  
 
MS HAMERSLEY:   Thank you.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   Thank you for coming and sharing.   
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MR ROBERT GARE & MS SOPHIE ELTON 
representing Robert Gare 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hello.  Take a seat.  Welcome.  These are the public hearings for the 
Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment for the rationalisation of the Stirling Highway Road 
Reserve.  
 
MR GARE:   Thanks for having us.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's okay.  I'm Megan Bartle.  I'm the chair.  This is Councillor Corinne 
MacRae and Kent McDowall.  
 
MR GARE:   How do you do? 
 
MS BARTLE:   And we have technical support from John O'Hurley from the Department of 
Planning.  
 
MR GARE:   I've met John, yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   As you're probably aware, the panel represents the WA Planning 
Commission in these hearings.  We have a copy of your submission, your written 
submission, and this is your opportunity to give a verbal presentation to us, to ensure that 
we're fully aware of what your position is.  We make a recommendation to the WA Planning 
Commission and it goes on from there.  I just want to make you aware that whilst you've 
requested a private hearing - that means no other members of the public can come into this 
hearing - these are for the public record, so they are being recorded and a transcript, along 
with the recommendations, will become public record.  
 
MR GARE:   That's fine.  No worries. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We've allowed 15 minutes for your presentation, which will allow a little bit of 
time at the end for some dialogue, hopefully.  
 
MR GARE:   We'll be shorter than that.  I'm going to read this out, if I may.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's perfectly fine, thank you.  
 
MR GARE:   (indistinct) otherwise.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, thanks.  
 
MS GARE:   Bob's going to speak on behalf of me.  
 
MR GARE:   Yes, anyway, I'm Bob Gare, and with my wife Kate we are the majority owners 
of the property 261A Queen Victoria Street, at the corner of Jackson Street, North 
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Fremantle.  I have with me my daughter Sophie, who owns one part of the property 
comprising one town house and the catering kitchen.  I talk on their behalf and wish to 
distribute copies of photos and drawings to the panel for your reference.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  
 
MR GARE:   It probably doubles up somewhat on what I have (indistinct) 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  
 
MR GARE:   I've only got three, I'm sorry.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right.  No, that's good.  Thank you.  Do you want a copy back to talk 
to? 
 
MR GARE:   No, you can keep it.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  
 
MR GARE:   As a preface to this hearing I wish to say that I agree in general terms with the 
thrust of the MRS Amendment.  From a regional point of view, it's lessen suburban sprawl, 
increasing density along existing train routes with special provision for cyclists and buses is 
a good idea.  I note that recently Melbourne proposes increasing density along existing tram 
routes.  However, I do take exception to the drawn mooted option of extending Curtin 
Avenue onto Stirling Highway which, by the increase of traffic, would further divorce the 
North Fremantle residents from their town centre (indistinct) road entry should be - well, I 
reckon it should be the preferred option.  
 
I presume that my earlier written submission has been read by members of the committee 
and I apologise for repeating myself somewhat.  Concerning our property and from our 
personal point of view, the amendment affects us severely.  Over the last 35 years we have 
converted existing church and church hall to residences and in a fully-integrated 
development out of four town houses, a granny flat and catering kitchen.  The amendment, 
as drawn, removes all town house on-site parking and effectively demolishes our daughter's 
catering kitchen.  
 
On-site parking - a council requirement - is essential for the viability of our investment.  40 
per cent of houses in Jackson Street have only street parking and the problem is further 
exacerbated by this street being used for additional all-day parking for North Fremantle rail 
commuters.  Reiterating my earlier submission, my wife and I are now self-funded retirees in 
our 70s, without superannuation and with rents from two town houses being insufficient to 
sustain us in our old age, so it would be our intention to sell these units as soon as possible 
to make good.  Unfortunately, with the MRS proposal over our heads, the prospect of the 
satisfactory sale is severely diminished.   
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Concerning our property and neighbouring shops, number 255 to 261, all affected by the 
MRS proposal in the context of the North Fremantle township, the City of Fremantle has 
recently implemented traffic calming.  This has been effected in Queen Victoria Street by 
road islands, tree planting and deliberately slowing traffic by having the one town bus stop 
without a special bay.  This has had an immediate noticeable result in reinvigorating the 
town.  It would seem to be a very retrograde step to the traffic calming and the life of the 
town, providing an unnecessary additional indented bus bay for the town in front of the 
subject properties.   
 
They are all urban zoned and are included in the Fremantle City Council purple heritage 
register as part of the town.  In the original town, the Anglican Church and hall played an 
important part of the social life of the town.  We have endeavoured, with our redevelopment 
at 261A, to continue to play that role.  The redevelopment has a contracted plot ratio of 0.64, 
equivalent of an R code density of R60, up from the gazette of R25 which would conform to 
MRS aim of density increase.  They gave us that extra density because we were fixing up a 
heritage building.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Heritage, yes.  That's good.  
 
MR GARE:   Over time, four generations of Gare family were accommodated on site, 
together with family industry and activities including artist’s studio and exhibitions, architect 
build-offs, music band management and practice Christmas carol gatherings and weddings 
for family and friends.  The catering kitchen we built was financed by Sophie for her sister, 
Anna.  This helped Anna develop a business which catered for many large functions 
including, notably, a Fremantle Maritime Museum and Notre Dame University.   
 
Her cooking and personality reputation led to a TV career which commenced in a cooking 
show called The Best.  The first and second series were shot using the church and hall as a 
TV studio.  In summary, I've endeavoured to insist that our property and the neighbouring 
shops are a definite part of the town centre which flanks Queen Victoria Street and not 
Stirling Highway.  For reasons I've mentioned, the MRS amendment should not interfere with 
the life of the town and should only apply north of Jackson Street in Stirling Highway.  Thank 
you.  That's my 15 minutes cut short.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  Corinne, did you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No.  Thank you.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Quite clear.  Kent? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   No, we have been and had a look.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, we have been on site.  
 
MR GARE:   Good, yes. 
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MS GARE:   (indistinct) 
 
MR McDOWALL:   We've been in and had a look and I think I understand what you're 
saying.  
 
MR GARE:   Good.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, we had to meet on site.  John came with us and we've had a look at - 
yes, there's a big impact here with the jump queue lane particularly and we've had 
discussions - or John has - with Main Roads.  There seems to be some support for the 
removal of that jump queue lane in that location.  That is just a recommendation at this stage 
and I think the panel is supportive of that, given the value of this location.  However, that will 
just be a recommendation.  What the outcome will be is out of our hands, but we 
understand.  
 
MR GARE:   One thing I'd like to point out, probably, was the reason why the town house is 
there all set back off the road - there was road-widening when we got approval for that, so it 
was insisted on and then we more or less were forced to bite back.  
 
CR MACRAE:   When it was reduced? 
 
MR GARE:   Yes, so back - yes, for a measly sum.  Yes, so that's why it is set off the 
townscape.  I mean, I would have liked to have had it right out on the- - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Right on there, yes.  It would have looked really good.  
 
MR GARE:   Right out there really.  
 
MS BARTLE:   We've got a long process ahead of us and obviously the other part of this, for 
the reservation, is actually not for implementation or construction either, but the reservation 
obviously still impacts on people's properties.  There's recommendations on each 
submission to go the WA Planning Commission then to the minister and so on, to 
parliament.  We're saying around about 12 months but there's actually no end date on these 
things, so it could be quite some time but you will get a response in time.  
 
MR GARE:   So we are in a state of flux in the meantime, which is not bothering us 
particularly but - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's true, and when it's finalised is when you know certainly what's 
going - - - 
 
MR GARE:   I think John pointed this out to us when I had the Fremantle Library there, that 
the Curtin Avenue coming on to Stirling Highway is just put there as not necessarily part of 
the show but - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it's not part of this amendment.  
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MR GARE:   But it seems to be one of the reasons that impacted heavily on our site.  I think 
there was possibly a cul-de-sac at the end of Jackson Street.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right, which is still a recommendation.  
 
MR GARE:   Yes.  Well, it would have to come to a dead end possibly, if Curtin did come 
there.  Meanwhile, the land is still available going on to Tydeman Road, I believe.   
 
MS BARTLE:   John, did you want to comment on that? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, the - - - 
 
MR GARE:   I know there's the Railway Hotel in the road of it.  
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, the Department of Transport will be advancing, I suppose, an 
amendment at some time in the future through the Western Australia Planning Commission.  
The plan shown on this amendment's maps shows basically how they've designed it but it's 
not a part of this amendment and obviously would get through the full public consultation 
process.  The Curtin Avenue alignment is closer related to, as you say, the freight and 
getting traffic in and out of Fremantle Ports.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much for coming.  
 
MS GARE:   Thanks for listening to us.  
 
MS BARTLE:   We appreciate your time.  
 
MR GARE:   Thanks for that.  Thanks for hearing us. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's quite all right.  
 
MR GARE:   I wasn't going to come in but I thought I'd put a face to the rubbish. 
 
MS GARE:   Submission - not at all.  
 
MS GARE:   Thank you.  Bye.  
 
MR GARE:   Thank you, bye.  
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MS BARTLE:   Welcome.  These are the public hearings in relation to the Metropolitan 
Region Scheme for the Rationalisation of Stirling Highway Road Reserve.  I am Megan 
Bartle.  I am the chair.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae and Kent McDowall.  We are the 
panel and we have technical support from John O'Hurley from the Department of Planning.  
As you are probably aware, and I will reiterate, the panel's role is to represent the WA 
Planning Commission in these hearings.  We have a copy of your submission, which we've 
read, and this is an opportunity for you to confirm your presentation to ensure that we 
understand clearly what your position is. 
 
You have requested a private hearing, which means no-one else can come in and listen to 
this.  However, I must let you know that they are public hearings, in which case they are 
being recorded and a transcript of the recording, along with recommendations, will become 
public record.  We have allowed 15 minutes for your presentation, which will allow some time 
at the end for some dialogue.  I will hand over to you, and if you could just start your 
presentation by stating your name for the record. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   I'm Geoffrey Barrymore. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   Yes, I've got a couple of properties on Stirling Highway, 
North Fremantle.  I've been in contact with the City of Fremantle about urban in-fill, as these 
are sort of quite large plots of land, within a very close radius of the railway line, and it 
makes logical sense to get people to work without using cars and things is to sort of urban 
infra, I suppose.  The point I'd like to raise is the vacant land across the road from - I've got a 
few photos. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   Just trying to lay out, if the 5 metres was taken in from the footpath, 
how it would go straight through the front of people's houses and/or it would take out the 
Dingo Flour, which I think is very heritage (indistinct) it's just another version of these 
houses, which haven't been touched for the last 25 years we've been down there, would - 
the 5 metres would go straight through their lounge room, basically. 
 
My thoughts are that we move onto the other side, where there's vacant land running along 
the railway line, so (1) we can (indistinct) and (2) we're not going through people's lounge 
rooms.  It would most probably be cheaper for the government not having to chip into buy 
people's houses or - you know, I don't know how you can go 5 metres into someone's 
lounge room and put a highway or a footpath next door.  I've also done some Google maps, 
just showing - it's not too scale, but it's the best I could do.  If we went 10 metres on the 
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other side, basically I think it shows that we've run alongside the railway line and not affect 
anyone on the eastern side of Stirling Highway. 
 
Going past North Fremantle all the way through to Cottesloe, there's basically 20 maximum 
properties which would be affected in consideration to 200 or 300 on the eastern side.  The 
other point is, I suppose, that more people are living north and, you know, I'm not sure how 
the plan is to get people from the south to north, but it would sort of make logical sense if 
they were to swing over on the other side of the railway line and go past on the western side 
of the railway line.  You could join them up to this Leake Street sort of corridor as well. 
 
It's just a case of - to me, the land's sitting there, it's next to a railway line, and the railway 
line services a lot of people moving around, so it would be less traffic, better for the 
environment, less people affected, and that's about it.  I can't see any argument why you'd 
want to hoe into what is an established neighbourhood.  It's the narrowest part of the river, 
so it's using the land sparingly and there's vacant land sitting there.  I mean, that's really - 
and from a different department (indistinct) but I think your department has suggested that 
one of our blocks should be a substantial building for urban in-fill just because it's on the 
highway and it's not affecting anyone, but you could get people on a transport line without 
affecting anyone.  So that's sort of me; that's my story. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Practical.  Yes, okay.  Corinne, did you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, I am right, thank you, Mr Barrymore. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Have you had any discussions with the transport people about what they 
think they hold that land for that you are suggesting can be used? 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   No, I haven't, to be honest.  There's a narrow strip on the eastern side 
of the railway line in between the railway line and the Stirling Highway which is too narrow to 
really be used for anything.  There is quite a large bit of land on the - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   The marshalling yards. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   - - - marshalling yards which I presume, if they were going to use it, 
that's where they'd be doing something.  I don't think there's enough - but I have not spoken 
to them, no. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Your assumption is that this is just vacant, from your observation. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   Yes, and it goes all the way, basically, up to Cottesloe, you know, 
straight through, sort of thing. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thanks, I understand.  Any other questions?  No. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   The property has not got any heritage listings or anything like that on it, 
has it? 
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MR BARRYMORE:   Mine? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   No, mine hasn't, but all the others along the neighbourhood have, and 
have been strictly monitored too. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Right. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   I think there is an asbestos on the corner of Christiana Place, where 
there's an asbestos house, but they wouldn't even bulldoze it, you know, but if the 5 metres 
was to happen, all the heritage - you'd be going straight through there. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, a lot of houses. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   A lot of homes. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   Yes, and it's just such a beautiful part of the world.  If you could keep it 
- you know, if we sort of let people live there instead of - if they could just push the road 
across, it sort of benefits, if they can.  It sort of has no real effect on anyone. 
 
MS BARTLE:   No, that is great.  Thank you.  It is beneficial to get everyone's perspective 
and it is our task then to look at these comments and make recommendations to WA 
Planning Commission.  What happens with those recommendations is - - - 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   Is anyone's guess. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, we actually have quite a long way to go with this process.  We have still 
got a few days of hearings ahead of us and then there are reports to be written, 
recommendations to be made.  There is actually no end date to this, but it is likely to be 
around 12 months, we think, from now.  In due time you will get a response, but certainly all 
of these issues are given careful consideration. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   Because what's a simple plan is 5 metres on either side all the way 
down and that sort of basically - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, and look, I cannot give you a clear rationale for why this was done other 
than to say there is an existing road reserve, obviously, on Stirling Highway, and Main 
Roads' task was to look at:  does it meet current standards for safety and, if not, what should 
the reservation be and if it does, should it be reduced or widened, that sort of thing.  So yes, 
the actual looking at it in context of the location I don't know. 
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MR BARRYMORE:   Even sort of a few metres, I mean, and then the bulk on the other side 
or whatever.  There must be some logical way of doing it instead of bulldozing through 
existing - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Sure, and the implementation of this would be a very different project 
altogether.  We are looking at the actual reservation on the Metropolitan Region Scheme.  If 
this was to be implemented, there would have to be another process gone through with 
Treasury and Main Roads.  The likelihood of that occurring would be approximately a 20-
year time frame, if at all. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   It's a huge task.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that's right. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   Yeah, yeah, you've just got to get everyone online or whatever, sort of 
doing it.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that's right.  Yes, but we certainly see your point. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   If you can think about it because I just think there's land there and, you 
know, it works going north as well, I think, because - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   It would benefit everybody. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   I can see your point.  Thank you very much. 
 
MR BARRYMORE:   Thanks for your time.  Thanks a lot.  Cheers. 
 
MS BARTLE:  I appreciate that.  Bye. 
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MR HAMISH FLEMING & MS SIOBHAN BLUMANN 
representing themselves 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hello.  Any seat, wherever you'd like to sit.  
 
MS BLUMANN:  I'm Siobhan.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  Hi Siobhan, hi Hamish. 
 
MR FLEMING:  Hamish.  Hi.  
 
MS BARTLE:   I'm Megan Bartle, the chair.  You know, Corinne.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Where do I know you from? 
 
MS BLUMANN:  Wembley.  
 
MR FLEMING:  Wembley Council meeting years ago.  
 
CR MACRAE:   True? 
 
MR FLEMING:  You probably didn't actually meet us.  My friend was going through the 
process of getting the (indistinct) 
 
CR MACRAE:   Paul? 
 
MR FLEMING:  Paul, yes.  
 
CR MACRAE:   Oh my goodness.  You'd like me then.  
 
MS BARTLE:   We're still on the record, I hope you know.   
 
CR MACRAE:    (indistinct) 
 
MS BARTLE:   The other panel member is Kent McDowall.  
 
MR McDOWALL:  How do you do? 
 
MR FLEMING:  Hi Kent.  
 
MS BLUMANN:  Hi Kent.  
 
MS BARTLE:   And we have technical advice from John O'Hurley from the Department of 
Planning. 
 



 
29.10.13 40 Mr Fleming & Ms Blumann 

MR FLEMING:  Hello, John.  
 
MS BARTLE:   As you're aware, these are the public hearings for the Stirling Highway Road 
Reservation Rationalisation Scheme Amendment.  Just to back up on a couple of things that 
you've probably been given information on anyway, the role of the panel is we represent the 
WA Planning Commission in these hearings.  We have a copy of your written submission 
which we've read and this is an opportunity for you to give a verbal presentation to make 
sure that we're quite clear on what your issues and concerns are.  You're a public or private?  
I'm not sure.  
 
MR FLEMING:  In terms of our - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, the hearing.  Some people ask for a private hearing, which means no 
other public can come in.  But, anyway, I'll let you know that these hearings are recorded, so 
a transcript of these, along with recommendations, do become public record and will be 
tabled in parliament, and things.  We've allowed 15 minutes for your presentation and I'll get 
you to kick off - well, you've actually said your names, so we've probably got that on a 
recording anyway.  So I'll hand over to you and we should have time for some dialogue at 
the end.  Great, thank you.  
 
MS BLUMANN:  Thank you for meeting with us today.  We are addressing this panel in a 
number of different capacities.  Firstly, as members of a strong community who place a 
value on their town centre.  As day users of Stirling Highway - in fact, that's why we're 
slightly late getting through Claremont - as owners of a commercial property that will be 
affected if the proposed rationalisation goes ahead and as tenants of properties whose 
businesses will potentially suffer.  When I talk about community and town centre we'd like to 
focus our discussion on the area of the junction of Queen Victoria Street and Stirling 
Highway.   
 
So rather than trying to address the length, which is obviously impossible in 15 minutes, we 
would like to present our case for that small area and in addition we believe many of the 
points to be raised are pertinent and can be applied to many of the commercial and 
community hubs along the entire route of Stirling Highway.  I'd like to begin by stating that 
we do support change and improvements that add to a liveability of a city.  But the 
amendment, as it stands, we believe will have a negative impact on all levels, particularly 
socially, physically and economically.   
 
The proposed amendment for the area under discussion results in not only the senseless 
destruction of valued heritage shops, from 261 to 267 Queen Victoria Street but also the 
speeding up of traffic through the implementation of a bus bay and a widening reservation.  
The local council, the City of Fremantle, have spent a lot of time, effort and money on 
studies in reducing the traffic flow through that Queen Victoria Street area.  They reduced it 
to one lane, they put in median strips (indistinct) street parking and since that's happened, 
that area's definitely seen a sense of revitalisation and the residents actually reclaiming it as 
their town centre.  
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We believe it would be negative to rip all of that out and with the majority of North Fremantle 
residents already living to the east side of Stirling Highway, they already have to run that 
gauntlet to get across and then to further increase the amount of traffic going through that 
Queen Victoria North Fremantle town centre area, will result in further truncation of this vital 
community hub.  
 
Perth has had a history of destroying its heritage and it is only in more recent times that 
planning regulations have actually supported the retention and reuse of our historical 
buildings.  Strip shopping died with the development of big box shopping centres, but now 
we're seeing a backlash to such developments as individuals seek out more meaning and 
connection with what they do on a day-to-day basis.  Traditional strip shopping increases the 
liveability of a local community, enabling its residents to walk to obtain basic services, offers 
a chance to interact with your neighbours whilst always adding to the economic and social 
impact of the neighbourhood.   
 
There will be no need to widen the road for a bus bay if there ceases to be a reason to stop.  
The Queen Victoria Street precinct is steeped in history with a large number of historical 
buildings and a state heritage registered old North Fremantle Town Hall.  The current 
pedestrianisation and economic revitalisation has created a meeting and destination point for 
residents and visitors alike, with the introduction of cafes, small bars, mixed commercial 
uses resulting in an increased sense of community within the suburb. 
 
The proposed rationalisation will all but destroy this zoned town centre of North Fremantle 
with almost half of the heritage-listed shops demolished.  Gone will be the local boutique 
with Constance, the hairdressers upstairs; gone will be Vaniers, a local café for coffee, 
breakfast and lunch; gone will be Basati's, a little touch of Italy in North Fremantle, and gone 
will be Wall Candy, bringing international designs to our walls.  It is not just these businesses 
that will disappear with the destruction of the heritage shops, but those businesses that will 
fill the spaces after them, too.  
 
Additionally, the proposed primary regional roads boundary will completely consume the 
entire footpath on the eastern side along with historically significant old North Fremantle 
Town Hall.  As the owners of this building, we are committed to restoring and preserving this 
building, and breathing life back into it and it's a process we're undertaking at the moment by 
trying to break up the big space and introduce a number of businesses to help revitalise the 
street.  With no footpath and fast-flowing traffic, it will cease to be an accessible and safe 
place, and result in another loss of a heritage building, as it will no longer be commercially 
viable to restore and maintain.  
 
Although the extent of this proposed boundary may not be used immediately, uncertainty 
over the future of the road-widening reservation will put the area in a planning limbo resulting 
in negative economic and social impact.  I know it will definitely impact on our future planning 
for the building.  It is difficult to view this intersection in isolation, just as this amendment 
does.  It makes a note on the plan of the potential linkage in with Curtin Avenue and through 
there, and it says, "This is part of a separate issue", yet I believe it can't be viewed in 
isolation.   
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I know the area under discussion that we are presenting on is at the extremity of the study 
but therefore I also think that should have even more importance placed on it as how it 
interacts with the other streets and where it joins in with - how it links with time and road, the 
old Fremantle traffic bridge, the new bridge et cetera, so I find it interesting that the extent 
actually stops prior to those other really important roads that link in with Stirling Highway.   
 
One thing I picked up on - the senseless destruction of heritage shops is for a bus stop but if 
this road connects through from Curtin Avenue to have a bus stop so close to such a major 
intersection, I would then think it would become redundant.  So it would be a real shame if 
something was to happen for only 10 years down the track to go, "Oh, yeah, we don't need 
that any more because the intersection's changed and these roads are connecting in." 
 
As stated in our written submissions, to severely erode the physical amenity of this area will 
negatively impact the social fabric of the community and go against the push for livable 
communities as espoused by planners at state and local levels.  On a more broad note, as 
the main thoroughfare, Stirling Highway, linking Perth and Fremantle, we agree that 
something has to be done to improve the traffic flow but this should not be done at the 
expense of liveability and sense of community.  We believe further creative options should 
be explored, eg, adding in right or left hand turns where the road can easily be widened, with 
limited loss of amenity to the communities that live along its length or increasing the 
utilisation of the railway reserve.   
 
Above all, significant sections of the built form - specifically heritage buildings - should be 
retained at all costs.  In reading through the documentation provided, I understand that 
heritage considerations have resulted in limiting the road reservation area around 
Claremont.  These same principles should apply to this area at the northern most end of 
Queen Victoria Street, North Fremantle to protect those heritage buildings.  When planning 
for the future, we believe it should not just be about getting from A to B.  We should take into 
account the journey in between.  The proposed rationalisation of Stirling Highway is in 
danger, if forgetting this in between and we believe North Fremantle is one of those in 
between spots where people should stop and enjoy.  
 
We have faith that those responsible for the rationalisation of the Stirling Highway 
reservation will get out from behind their desks, walk the streets and take into account the 
myriad number of factors that make a city great and I think we would all agree it doesn't just 
stop with great roads.  Perth is a whole population from those that govern it, plan it, live in it 
and use it need to take responsibility for retaining the little bit of the built heritage that we 
have left.  Queen Victoria Street in North Fremantle is one such area that needs to be 
allowed to stand proud and display our heritage for all of those that will drive slowly by.  
Thank you for your time. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Good.  Thank you very much.  Hamish, did you want to add anything? 
 
MR FLEMING:  No, I mean, I just wanted to be here for questions and also to really 
emphasise that we've lived our whole, sort of, adult life in North Fremantle and our whole 
business life, so we've been very engaged with the local community and watched how 
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people have enjoyed it more and more over the years, and because we get to know our 
customers, it's not just North Fremantle community.  As Siobhan said, it's a destination, a 
place and we're actually really excited about where it's going at the moment - I mean, from 
purely selfish reasons as well because we're developing another restaurant and another bar, 
and another place is opening up here, another place is opening there. 
 
So we feel that North Fremantle, if allowed to, will become almost the Mount Lawley, 
Highgate of the western suburbs and I think it would be a tragedy if that was not allowed to 
happen.  Obviously for us, from purely selfish reasons, but also as members of the 
community and every time - you know, I think you probably were aware that when this was 
first made public, you know, there was a great outcry and anyone who was told about the 
proposals actually doesn't believe it, as it relates to North Fremantle.  You know, when you 
tell people "There's a proposal to knock down these buildings in order to build a busway", 
people don't actually believe it.   
 
So that was why we felt important to make a submission and many other people did, 
because I think there's a danger in a lot of these things, that it's purely a wish list by an 
engineer to solve a problem, and I think - hopefully that's what this process is all about in 
looking at an engineer's plans and realising, well, no there are other considerations here.  
We strongly believe that - what Siobhan said in terms of all of the other factors, social impact 
will - I mean, those factors strongly outlay any added travel time.  
 
MS BARTLE:   I can let you know that we have been out from behind the travel desk and 
we've been out on site with John, and North Fremantle's obviously, you know, a really 
interesting - especially Queen Victoria Street, that intersection area - a very interesting part 
of this whole rationalisation process.  With dialogue with Main Roads, there is support from 
this panel to actually remove that bus jump - - - 
 
MS BLUMANN:  Fantastic.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, jump lane, which will certainly assist.  It will only be a recommendation.  
Where it goes after that, as in the actual decision, is out of our control but just to let you 
know that is a recommendation that's going forward.  
 
MR FLEMING:  Thank you.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, did you have any questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:  No, I think that's really where we're at (indistinct) 
 
MR FLEMING:  So when you say - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:  And we've read the submissions, and we understand what's being said.  
 
MR FLEMING:  Does that also include the - - - 
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MS BLUMANN:  On the eastern side, the - - - 
 
MR FLEMING:  (indistinct) in relation to reclaiming the footpath? 
 
MS BLUMANN:  On the eastern side? 
 
MS BARTLE:   No, there's - - - 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   The amendment doesn't affect the eastern side.  
 
MS BLUMANN:  But there's a red dotted line on the plans.  
 
MR O’HURLEY:   That's the existing other regional roads reservation.  
 
MS BARTLE:   So that hasn't changed.  
 
MR O’HURLEY:   So it's just showing what's there.  There's no proposed change to the town 
hall side.  That's dual property but (indistinct) 
 
MS BLUMANN:  So when I look at that, the red line is right on the - - - 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   That's the edge of the verge.  So it's the same as it is now.  
 
MS BLUMANN:  Okay, because it looks like it - - - 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   The footpath.  
 
MS BARTLE:   It looks like a road would go up to it? 
 
MS BLUMANN:  Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   No, it wouldn't.  
 
CR MACRAE:   The verge is part of the road reservation.   
 
MR FLEMING:  We thought that was part of the council, et cetera, now and it was Main 
Roads who was taking that over, which - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   No, see it's a regional reservation now.  
 
MR FLEMING:  Right.  
 
MS BLUMANN:  Right, okay.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, so it's a dedicated red road.  Corinne, did you have any questions? 
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CR MACRAE:   No.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you for coming in.  North Fremantle certainly got a bit of our attention.  
 
MR FLEMING:  It does have some very passionate residents.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that's good.  
 
MR FLEMING:  You know, we have customers coming from Joondalup every weekend.  
You know, so it gets under people's skin, North Fremantle, but it's not a suburb that's 
immediately appreciated when you arrive, but it's a place that gets under your skin as you 
spend more and more time.  
 
CR MACRAE:   It has the flavour of Fremantle, without the hassle of getting into Fremantle.  
 
MR FLEMING:  I think that's the appeal, especially for - you know, Fremantle is getting 
harder and harder to get to, but we think of just the crossroads between western suburbs 
and Fremantle.  It has that - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Transition.  
 
MR FLEMING:  It has that, but it's actually reflected in the personality of the suburb, and 
when I say "personality," I really mean the people who congregate because you do get 
people who live right in the heart of the western suburbs and you get people who live in East 
Fremantle, and they all sort of meet in Switzerland almost.  
 
MS BLUMANN:  Well it could become the gateway to the G7 - is that what it is? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
 
MS BLUMANN:  The greater western suburbs council.  So it is partially important but can I 
just ask one question?  In regards to - I'm sure it isn't in that study but the linking with that 
potential - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   (indistinct) 
 
MS BLUMANN:  Yes, how much is that taken into account or are they viewed as separate? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   The Curtin Avenue extension shown on the plans is certainly not part of 
this process.  It's shown on the plans just to be open about what's on the books, I suppose.  
This would be furthered by the Department of Transport in the future (indistinct) 
 
MS BLUMANN:  But what I mean is, is that still taken into account when looking at that 
section of Stirling Highway? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   That intersection is designed to cater for the extension.  
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MS BARTLE:   That (indistinct) 
 
CR MACRAE:   (indistinct) 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   But if the extension doesn't occur, really all that would happen was that 
the stop line at the traffic lights would stay where it is, whereas it's proposed to come south 
slightly.  
 
MS BLUMANN:   Yes, okay, great.  Thank you for that.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  
 
MS BLUMANN:   Thank you very much.  Bye.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Bye.   
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MS SARAH MAY 
representing herself 

 
 
MS MAY:   Hi, I'm Sarah. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hi, Sarah.  Welcome.  As you are aware, these are the public hearings for 
the MRS amendment for the rationalisation of Stirling Highway Road Reserve.  I am Megan 
Bartle.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae. 
 
MS MAY:   Hello. 
 
MS BARTLE:   And Kent McDowall. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   How do you do? 
 
MS MAY:   Hi. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We have technical support from John O'Hurley from the Department of 
Planning. 
 
MS MAY:   Hi.  Yes, great. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We represent the WA Planning Commission at these hearings.  We have a 
copy of your submission, which we have read, and this is an opportunity for you to give us a 
verbal presentation - obviously you did your presentation - - - 
 
MS MAY:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   - - - and just make sure we are quite clear on what you are doing.  These are 
public hearings, so they are being recorded. 
 
MS MAY:   Great. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Just to let you know that a transcript of the recordings, as well as 
recommendations, will become public record and eventually tabled in parliament at some 
point. 
 
MS MAY:   Fantastic. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We have allowed 15 minutes for you and that should allow a bit of time for us 
to have some dialogue. 
 
MS MAY:   Yes, no, that's really good. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay? 
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MS MAY:   Great.  Thank you.  I suppose my background is I'm a citizen of North Fremantle, 
so that was what sparked my interest in the whole debate.  I suppose it's not really a debate.  
I think there's a lot of positive things about the rationalisation of the Stirling Highway Reserve 
and I think it's an amazing opportunity to examine the Metropolitan Regional Scheme, an 
opportunity to discuss planning for the future, policies which affect, like - a discussion, I 
suppose, between the government, the community, local councils, heritage councils, owners, 
commercial, retail, bike users, residential, schools and universities. 
 
I think everyone needs to own the situation that is happening along Stirling Highway and 
what I mean by that is, like, the amenity and the congestion.  In my opinion, I think, in the 
future, like, the cities will probably become a lot more car free, maybe not completely car 
free, but that's long-term thinking.  I understand that this might be, like, 20 years or more, but 
I believe that this is a great opportunity to future proof and build a sustainable, urban WA, 
but not lose the current amenity that we enjoy.  Everyone loves a car here, we all love cars, 
it's a car culture, but, you know, if petrol prices increase, the environmental reasons, we are 
going to have to start thinking about a different type of urban planning. 
 
I strongly believe that nobody likes sitting in traffic and this standstill traffic around Claremont 
near MLC is really quite pedestrian friendly, in a sense, because you can cross the road 
really easily.  So it's actually quite a good thing if you're a pedestrian.  In 2007 the Victorian 
Bureau of Statistics estimated that congestion costs $10 billion a year for the Australian 
economy.  Congestion is an issue, but then when you think about it, like, roads actually - 
whenever you build a road, you always think it's going to be the solution, but then it ends up 
causing, eventually, more congestion. 
 
CityLink is an example of hailed as, like, the future solution of a lot of Melbourne's problems, 
but now, four years on, there's still congestion in Melbourne.  I don't know if building roads - I 
know that the Stirling Highway is not about building new roads; it's about improving the 
amenity.  I think, like, having priority bus lanes and trying to make everyone, like cars and 
buses, equal doesn't always result in easing congestion.  It just, like, means that more 
people will probably drive, in a sense. 
 
If the road uses were charged - and this was my own personal opinion.  If we go on another 
slide - yes, back actually.  Maybe the next one.  If we actually charge for the cost of travel 
choices, then - this is kind of my own little rant, but if we actually had a peak hour kind of 
congestion, so using GPS technology, then you might actually ease congestion.  So, like, 
between, 8 o'clock until 9.30 you actually pay for, like, using the roads.  That might be 
one solution rather than - I think the upgrading of the amenity is a really important thing 
along Stirling Highway, but I also think that we need to think about other ways and I think it is 
a great opportunity to talk about that for the future. 
 
My next point was we have to think about the long term because the population is basically 
doubling and that means that, even revitalising Stirling Highway, there is still going to be 
congestion in the next, like, 20 years if we continue using car culture.  Then Stirling Highway, 
I suppose, is both the local and district road.  I drove it last night and it took 27 minutes to 
drive, if we go to the next slide, but in the school drop-off times you can be, like, 40 minutes 
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or even more, like, around MLC and those other private school and UWA.  You can get quite 
stuck.  So it's not just a through road or a connecting road; it's also a local road and, I 
suppose, what is really great about the amendments is that it is looking at having businesses 
and retail that is addressing the street, which is really important. 
 
Stirling Highway land use:  I suppose when we look at it, we've got the schools, we've got 
Claremont Primary School, MLC, Christchurch, St Hilda's, we've got UWA.  The next slide 
also, we've got health and hospitals and retail, so it's a really busy transept.  I think that's 
what I was talking about.  It's about governments - for everyone - to kind of come to the table 
and talk it through.  For example, with schools and universities, we need to have initiatives 
which are about car pooling, walking to work, organising with schools, like, how to, I don't 
know, map out your path with the kids and, like, walk to the bus stop and get on the bus, 
rather than - like, when you think about it, with MLC, there's over 1000 kids, there's 200 
teachers and if you times that by eight or nine schools and the UWA, there's 19,000 
graduates going there, so it's a really busy network at those key peak hour times. 
 
Last week I went down there in the school holidays, two weeks ago, and it was so easy 
getting to work - you know, dropping my partner off at work actually.  So it was so easy to 
get there, but like, in the school holidays, it isn't actually not a problem when school's not 
around.  I think it's about also education, like, going to those schools and saying, like, 
"There's a problem here.  It's causing congestion and it's not a sustainable outcome for the 
future."  I really think this is fantastic.  I'm a landscape architect and an architect and I think 
this is a fantastic transept, but I query the bus lanes because I think that, like, while they're 
important in some cases, like, it widens the road and, maybe if we actually had a bit more 
congestion on the road, less people would drive, better public transport.  We actually want to 
reduce the number of cars on the road, ultimately. 
 
I really agree with a lot of the amenity.  The trees:  I think we definitely need more street 
trees down the road and bike lanes.  I think there are really positives in the design guidelines 
and then, if we go to the next slide, I suppose this is close to my heart, is North Fremantle 
and lot 100.  Those small, double-storey retail shops:  I suppose under the current proposal 
they are under jeopardy with the bus lane going through.  I'm not sure if that's correct, but 
that's the understanding that I've got from reading through the documents and I think that 
would be a real shame along Queen Victoria Road. 
 
If we go to the next slide, the old school, North Fremantle Primary School, there's an 
amazing opportunity - this is, for me, the gateway to Fremantle and to North Fremantle, and 
there's a lot of heritage-listed buildings.  I know they're not - they're on the local and the state 
database and they're not on the mandated database, but I still think they add character to 
the site.  I'm not a heritage Nazi.  Like, I don't believe that you have to keep everything, but I 
think heritage is an important part of the fabric of Fremantle, and I still think that, you know, 
we could have development there.   
 
You can add, like, high-use housing - I mean, high-density housing because you're near a 
train station.  Like, I'm not about anti-development.  I think that's really important, but at the 
same time do we need to have this priority bus lane or should we be, like, thinking about 



 
29.10.13 50 Ms May 

trying to reduce the number of cars, because what's going to happen in 20 years time?  Are 
we going to, like, put six lanes there or are we going to start to, like, think about the long-
term policies in terms of, like, how we reduce cars on the road?   
 
I think in the next slide - like, I think this is why the policy is positive because you are thinking 
about a complete street that's once designed for people not just cars, but at the same time I 
think there needs to be more people focus and less car focus.  If we go to the next slide - 
yes, just focussing in, I suppose, the top circle is around the train station and that’s the bit 
that - there's a few heritage buildings which were being affected near the train station, near 
the school and then Queen Victoria Street, the northern end - if we go to the next slide - is 
kind of under jeopardy at the moment, and that's, like, the Candy Wall paper shop and then 
you've got also (indistinct) and then a shop in between, and Queen Street's - it's actually, 
like, one of the few places in Perth where you feel it's really inclusive.   
 
What I mean by that is, like, it's a really positive public space.  Like, at night time as a female 
I feel really comfortable walking from the train station into North Fremantle, sitting there.  
Like, it's a really positive space and I think when you look at it, like, there's any - a good 
public space is one that has a diverse array of people and you feel comfortable with them in 
that space.  Queen Street is made up of bars, music venues, cafes, shops and art galleries, 
and in the last four years there's been a renaissance in that street and it's really positive, and 
I think that's because they've worked hard at putting trees in, parking, the traffic goes really 
slow through there.   
 
Basically if we go to the next slide, there are no bus priority lanes or, you know, pullovers.  
The traffic actually is quite slow through there.  I have no qualms riding my bike through 
there, even though there's no bus - like, bike lanes - because the traffic's going so slow that I 
don't feel like I'm under threat as a bicycle rider, so it's actually a really positive space to be 
in, both as a pedestrian and as a bike user, and I think that would be a shame to, like, get rid 
of the heritage as well and also the streetscape, and I'm not opposed to, you know, in the 
future having more development there because I think that we need to densify within the 
urban and heritage fabric of North Fremantle.  
 
The next slide - I suppose these are the residential properties.  Like, I suppose then, you 
know, like, they can be assessed and you can say yay or nay whether they're the pristine 
sort of heritage sort of fabric.  I'm quite honestly not that concerned about these ones but if 
you go to the next slide, this is what is closer to my heart, is these ones.  These buildings 
which have been - the shopping centre or the main street sort of precinct I think is - a lot of 
buildings have been established along that character and it's a place of destination now, it's 
not just a place to pass through and I think it's a really unique drawcard, and even though it's 
just a limestone wall, that ads character to the site, and - yes, I think it's just important to 
hold onto the heritage that we have got, and then, you know, add new bits in or new 
architecture that compliments it, or even it's completely opposite. 
 
It doesn't matter, just as long as - like, if you look at that middle photo, like, North Freo is 
about layers.  It's not just one, you know, type of thing.  It's, like, a few different layers within 
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the fabric.  That's it.  So, yes, just my concern is really, like, those buildings and what will 
happen to them.  Thank you.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  Just to provide you with some clarification, I guess especially on 
the North Fremantle Queen Victoria Street.  So the road reservation proposed through that 
area wouldn't affect those buildings.  
 
MS MAY:   Really?  Cool.  
 
MS BARTLE:   But it actually follows the current reservation which actually does still go up 
to the building line, but that allows for the verge within that, so your footpath and things 
would be in there.  You're right about the bus jump queue lane.  As depicted on the plans, 
would it certainly affect that other property?  It's a recommendation of this committee that 
having been on site and looked at it, that bus lane's not needed.  So that will be a 
recommendation from the committee.  Whether it is the final determination is not up to us, 
but that's our vision.  We had a look, we've heard from a lot of people in North Fremantle 
and we believe there is a good case for, yes, looking after and preserving that location.  
 
MS MAY:   Great.  Excellent.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Corinne, did you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, I don't.  No, thank you, very nice presentation.  
 
MS BARTLE:   It was a very good presentation.  
 
MS MAY:   Thank you.  Yes, thanks for having - you know, it's been really good.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's good.  
 
MS MAY:   Having this opportunity.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, did you have anything? 
 
MR McDOWALL:  No, not particularly.  I guess as a traffic engineer, for years we've been 
trying to stop car numbers from growing but we haven't succeeded very well.  
 
MS MAY:   Yes, we need to put petrol up.  
 
MR McDOWALL:  If you have a brilliant idea how to do that, please patent it because it 
would solve a huge amount of problems.  
 
MS MAY:   Tax people for driving, yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   It's great to get, you know, someone with a broader perspective, too, thinking 
about it through so really appreciate your time.  
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MS MAY:   Okay, no problem.  Thanks for having me.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  
 
MS MAY:   Cheers.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Bye.  
 
MR McDOWALL:  Thank you.   
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MS DANICIA DUTRY 
representing herself 

 
 
MS DUTRY:   Hi, I'm Danicia.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Hi Danicia.  I'm Megan Bartle, this is Corinne MacRae, Kent McDowall and 
John O'Hurley who's our technical support from the Department of Planning.  
 
MS DUTRY:   Great.  
 
MS BARTLE:   So welcome.  These are the public hearings for the MRS amendment for 
Stirling Highway Road Rationalisation, as you're aware.  They're public hearings, so just to 
let you know that we are the ears of the WA Planning Commission.  We've got a copy of 
your submission which we've read.  This is your opportunity to just give a verbal 
presentation, make sure that we're quite clear on what your points are.   
 
We've allowed 15 minutes for you and that will allow for some dialogue at the end.  The 
panel hearings are being recorded and a transcript of them along with recommendations will 
become public property, just so that you're aware of that.  It will be tabled in parliament at 
some stage.  So, as I said, you've got 15 minutes.  I'll hand over to you.  I'll just get you to 
start off by saying your names for the record.  Thanks.  
 
MS DUTRY:   Danicia Dutry.  Thank you, firstly, for the opportunity to present today.  I guess 
my background as both my work end of community consultation and community 
revitalisation over the years has I guess created quite a strong passion for creating sense of 
place, and I know how hard it is, and we're trying to create new senses of place.  The area 
that I am presenting mainly on is, I guess, the area of Queen Victoria Street, particularly from 
the Tydeman Road lights through to the Stirling Highway lights. 
 
I am a resident of East Fremantle, I also lived in the Weeties Factory just off Queen Victoria 
Street for a number of years.  So the area is particularly close to my heart and one of the 
reasons that I'm coming - I guess both with that sense of place and the importance of 
establishing my sense as a place but also as a local resident and one that's particularly 
passionate about that area.  I think I must spend about three times a day in the area that 
we're actually talking about so it is particularly relevant.   
 
I guess my first and foremost point is there is so much texture around that particular 
component of North Fremantle.  If we look at the sort of edgy urban (indistinct) like 
Shoreditch in London right through to Brooklyn in New York, there's just such a global 
recognition now of the importance that texture, style and diversity of community and place 
actually plays in our communities.  It is attracting investment, it's also serving a significant 
role in tourism and destination marketing.   
 
You only need to look at the rise of the New York Star Guides, London Star Guides, all of the 
places that they point to and the trodes of visitors that they're attracting because these 
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places have a grit about them, they have an urban environment and there are so few places 
in Perth where we have those features actually existing, places that are creative, that gather 
a diverse group of people, of characters both day and night.  There's not a point in time 
within that area of North Fremantle where you can't see people you know, you can't see 
people actively engaging within that streetscape and I guess the biggest point of mine is why 
would you suddenly put that back into being part of the Stirling Highway component? 
 
If we could just go to the next slide - so that's, I guess, starting from the very big picture and 
then we're breaking it down to the smaller picture, and I guess just trying to visually put a 
little bit behind the submission that I made, you know, Queen Victoria Street has grown so 
much since we bought our apartment in the Weeties Factory in early 2000.  It has become 
such a corner of the world that delights locals and visitors alike.  It's a place where you can 
stop, you can breathe, you can catch up on local news, you can interact with like minded 
people in spaces that are very warm, inviting, they're rich in heritage.  
 
There's no suburban shopping mall, as you can see there.  There's no artificially landscaped 
parks, there's no skate parks just thrown in for the sake of a skate park being thrown in.  
There's real texture, there's amazing amount of active businesses in that environment and 
you've only got to look at - just the day I took it, that crazy quote from Old Bridge Cellars 
there - "Take a walk on the wild side as required", is kind of a little bit different and it's a 
place in Perth that - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Have you taken yesterday?  RIP Lou Reed.  
 
MS DUTRY:   That's exactly right.  All right, if we can just go to the next slide.  I guess, 
starting with even some of the buildings that particularly have the red line right through them, 
this is one of those.  The general area, due to the foresight of local business leaders like 
Murray Gill that originally fathered Harvest restaurant in the area, Jerry, the original owner of 
Old Bridge Cellars, Clint, who now currently owns Harvestons, just sold it to the amazing 
Therese from Barque Restaurant in East Fremantle as well - so there's a whole lot going on 
there.   
 
Hamish and Siobhan, and their plans for Matilda's Antique shop with the pizza shop going in 
there, another bar going in there, a whole lot of new businesses going in there - you know, 
we are dealing with an area that's on the cusp of significant growth and even Matilda's 
Antiques and the other local antique shops that straddle the area.  It just brings people 
together daily to celebrate all of the good things in life; old bits of history, great wine, great 
food, good music and good company is really what - that sense of place already exists.  
 
So if we could just go to the next slide, again, just some of that texture in the old facades that 
fall directly under that resumption red line.  This texture cannot be replaced or rebuilt and 
these buildings form such an important part of the triangle of this town centre.  If we could 
just go to the next slide, please.  I love this quote by Holly White, one of the original, I guess, 
creators of Placemaking.  It says, "Triangulation is the process by which some external 
stimulus provides a linkage between people and prompts strangers to talk to each other as if 
they knew each other." 
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If we go to the next slide, we see that triangulation is actually there.  It exists completely from 
Dance Central and Australia Post right up to Violet Pilot in the corner.  The amount of stops 
destinations between the bus stop - the cafes, the shops - it is a place where people are 
forced to interact and engage within a little triangle and as you can see quite clearly, how 
close the actual Stirling Highway is to the other side of that, and you've obviously got 
Port Beach Road and all of the land on the other side.  It just seems absolutely crazy to not 
quieten that down and make it more of a town centre than to actually put the highway 
through the middle of it.  
 
So this triangle of North Fremantle is a place where at any given moment and time of day 
you can see people standing on a curb, chatting to their neighbours and getting to know 
each other.  It was hilarious, even yesterday I pulled out of the car park there.  Hamish from 
Mrs Brown's and Matilda's was standing in the middle of the street, talking to another 
colleague that we knew and then there was another colleague and friend standing on the 
other side of the corner.  So, you know, you just get that amazing sense of people and 
community, and again it's just such an important part of why I feel so passionate about this 
particular proposal.   
 
I did mention a little anecdote in my submission but I did think it was absolutely hilarious 
when Jerry did retire from Old Bridge Cellars and we had a gathering at North Fremantle 
Bowling Club, and there was literally 300 people there, and in the speech the guy goes, "I 
don't think I've ever seen this many people gather on a Sunday since back in the days of 
church," and it just goes to show you how a sense of place can also build that sense of 
community, and it's that quote that I started with, you know, "Community builds a place but a 
place also builds the community." 
 
I also just drew on, I guess, some of those key quotes that came off the traffic web site and 
the bigger picture that state the following values:  transforming, reshaping, reconnected and 
creating a more vibrant and connected Perth.  Queen Victoria Street is the heart of North 
Fremantle community.  It is a connected, vibrant and transformed part of our city and the 
resumption of Queen Victoria Street from the area we've just talked about, I just firmly 
believe is short sighted and incredibly detrimental to that community and also to our city.  
 
I guess in concluding, as I mentioned in the submission, I firmly and strongly believe that 
there's just no need to resume or rezone Queen Victoria Street as part of the Stirling 
Highway Reservation.  Stirling Highway runs to the other side of Queen Victoria, across the 
new bridge and space exists on either side of that artery to make any additional lanes or 
safety traffic changes effectively without impacting on this area.  In addition, Curtin Avenue 
and Port Beach Road to the ocean and railway side provides another major route to the old 
bridge via Tydeman Road.  There's plenty of space on either side of Curtin Avenue and Port 
Beach Road to add whatever lanes may be required into the future. 
 
I guess I also noted in question and I'd be interested in either the panel or the feedback just 
around - I know Port Beach Road does get rather congested and so much of that is as a 
result of the Montessori School where there's a cross walk, and if you actually put either an 
overpass there or - it just would allow the traffic to flow in a way that it just doesn't currently 
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do at the moment.  So in conclusion, I just put up some family snaps for you all.  It's just a 
PhotoShop taken of my family on the Queen Victoria Street about a year ago and I guess it 
just sums up for us how important this place is to us and why we want to protect it.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  
 
MS DUTRY:   Thank you.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Very good.  Corinne, do you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, I think that was a really lovely presentation.  Thank you.   
 
MS DUTRY:   Thank you.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, do you have any questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:  Yes, you did say the resumption of Queen Victoria Street.  What is your 
understanding of how much resumption it is? 
 
MS DUTRY:   My understanding is that Queen Victoria Street was originally part of the 
Stirling Highway, I guess, area and zone.  It was then reallocated to be a town centre and is 
now, as part of this proposal - in addition, I guess, to the red line going through Violet Pilot 
and those other older buildings up the top.  It's also actually allowing that to become Stirling 
Highway zone, which I guess in the future has significant impacts if it moves from being, I 
guess, that town centre classification to being part of the Stirling Highway Reserve.  Can you 
explain that - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   At the moment, yes, there are different hierarchies of roads.  So there are 
other roads, which is like a blue road, which is what Queen Victoria Street is.  John, correct 
me if I am wrong here? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, no, that's right, yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   And the Stirling Highway is a red road, so that's got the highest priority.  
There's no intention of actually making this part of the red road.  It will remain a local road so 
that the local government still have control over it.  Because of its intersection with Stirling 
Highway, there is that intersection and that is what has drawn some of the attention to 
Queen Victoria Street.  The red dashed lines that you see on the plans - John, you might 
want to actually point this out, if you could, please. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, I'll come around. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, come around. 
 
MS DUTRY:   Thanks. 
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MS BARTLE:   Is the existing reservation and that includes the footpath. 
 
MS DUTRY:   That's right, yes. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   This is the proposal here, as you say, it affects those properties.  It's not 
doing anything.   
 
MS DUTRY:   I guess Hamish and (indistinct) concern here is that the dotted line comes so 
close to the - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   They have been in.  We have had a chat to them. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   That is the existing boundary, is it not? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that is the existing - - - 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   The town hall has what is called a zero setback.  Really, that is just being 
shown on the plan, so it is not reserved now and it's not proposed to be reserve on that side.  
This amendment, the consequences for Queen Victoria Street are limited to those two 
properties that we've mentioned, the shops and the church. 
 
MS BARTLE:   The recommendation of this committee - we have been on-site, we have had 
a look at it. 
 
MS DUTRY:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   There has been dialogue with Main Roads and we, as a committee, do not 
believe there is a need for that bus jump lane there.   
 
MS DUTRY:   Great. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Our recommendation is that actually be removed and to keep that feel in 
North Fremantle.  That will be a recommendation.  Whether it actually becomes the final 
resolution is out of our hands, but that is the recommendation that we feel comfortable with 
at this point in time. 
 
MS DUTRY:   That's very, very reassuring because they are the major elements, I guess, is 
both where that red line goes and also, yes, just that lack of set back there, just simply 
because that's the way it looks on the map and that is obviously what generated the 
concerns. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That is right, and this is the difficulty with producing maps is that:  how do 
you do it so you do not actually raise people's concerns or expectations, but we have done 
the best we can. 
 
MS DUTRY:   (indistinct) 
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MS BARTLE:   Precisely.  That is why these are good opportunities to have the dialogue 
and to clarify some points for people. 
 
MS DUTRY:   No, I very much appreciate it.  It's not very often I get on my hobby horse 
about anything much, but this was something I really appreciated the opportunity to have a 
chance to comment on. 
 
MS BARTLE:   People do, yes. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   It is a good concept. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We really appreciate your time. 
 
MS DUTRY:   Thank you. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We have got quite a long way to go with this.  We have still got a few days of 
hearings to go.  There are reports to be written, recommendations made to WAPC, which 
then go to the Minister and eventually through to Parliament.  There is actually no end date 
on this process, but approximately 12 months we are looking. 
 
MS DUTRY:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   You will get a letter in due course, a response, and this is only dealing with 
the MRS reservation; it is not to do with implementation at all. 
 
MS DUTRY:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that is a completely different process with Treasury and Main 
Roads - - - 
 
MS DUTRY:   Process.  Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   - - - which could be 20 years or never. 
 
MS DUTRY:   That's right.  Exactly, but we've got to get it right, too, in order to make sure 
that those decisions are made in responsible ways, yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That is exactly right and that is what this is about doing.  Fantastic.  Thank 
you all. 
 
MS DUTRY:   Thank you.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   Thank you. 
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MR MICHAEL TUCAK 
representing himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   I will not repeat myself.  Thank you.  You were sitting in the gallery, so I 
appreciate you coming in.  Just to reiterate.  We are here to listen to you.  You have got 15 
minutes and so I will hand over to you and just ask you to state your name as you 
commence just for the record. 
 
MR TUCAK:   My name is Michael Tucak and I have had the benefit of hearing what Danicia 
has just spoken about and your responses, so I think what I propose to do is build on that in 
some ways. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Good. 
 
MR TUCAK:   In doing so, I acknowledge the points you have made about the alignment 
and so on around the area.  I'm equally focussing on that same area of North Fremantle and 
Queen Victoria Street precinct.  What I think I will do is summarise my written submission in 
some ways and elaborate on particular aspects that may help in some way to reinforce what 
I would hope happens in this area of the highway.  I guess the quick bit of background for 
me is that I'm a creative industries lawyer, so I work in the city in a whole range of creative 
industries, so I'm very engaged in what goes on in Perth on the creative side and have a 
very strong belief in Perth's capacity and potential to continue to grow in that way. 
 
I do, in fact, believe that this part of Perth, in particular, is an area that can help that happen, 
effectively.  That's ultimately, I guess, the sort of rationale I have for believing that this needs 
to be done right and am encouraged by what it looks like hopefully would happen.  I think to 
perhaps summarise quickly the thrust of my written submission, it was essentially that the 
way that North Fremantle currently works in this precinct.  It seems to already fit a lot of the 
requirements that would go with development of an area like this in a bigger picture sense, in 
terms of land use and so on.  This process that we're in does seem to be about balancing 
those non-road or non-vehicle uses with other uses. 
 
What I would ultimately be suggesting is that the way that this alignment occurs - that the 
road use properly balances those other uses, and that was the point I was making in my 
written submission.  I in fact believe that this is an opportunity for the way that's done to be 
done almost in a best-case scenario, given the circumstances of this area.  To expand, I 
guess, on what I was suggesting in my written submission is that, as Danicia has said, this is 
an area that I think already has a lot of creative activity and potential to it and I think can be 
built on by an alignment or a development that occurs in the right way and probably also 
offers an opportunity for any future redevelopment to be done in a way that is not just best 
case, but utilising the best of Perth's creative ability now and in the future.  Allowing for that 
to happen in the alignment is what I would be urging to allow the scope for that future 
development to occur in the best way possible. 
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I've lived in Melbourne for some time and have had the benefit of seeing how a city like that 
works, which is, I think, very much a best case on a world scale, in terms of how places and 
spaces work, particularly linked to creativity.  I do think that, in Perth, North Fremantle 
represents one of those areas.  Rather than talk about the inherent creativity or utility of that 
space, I'd like to talk more about what I think that means for Perth as a whole.  It really is 
that, as Perth develops into the future, obviously, as industries change, the city needs to 
develop to be resilient and to continue its growth.  I believe that happens through both a 
combination of attracting and retaining people in the city, and then allowing them to create 
and build the city around them that continues to grow and attract and retain people. 
 
I do believe that happens in the form of a creative ecosystem, for want of a better term, 
which is centred around places like this.  It's an area where people can feel that there is a 
lifestyle that attracts and retains them and that, as part of living there, it does lead to the 
creativity, innovation and so on that, not only builds the city as it is, but leads to newer 
industries and other elements of growth that become vital to the city.   
 
There are plenty of examples world wide where those sorts of things haven't happened in 
the way that a city has been developed, particularly in the US, where these sorts of places 
have been ignored and the consequent decline of the city is probably quite closely linked to 
those, or some of the examples that, for example, Danicia included where the opposite has 
happened, where the way that places have been retained has allowed that creativity and 
innovation and growth of a city to continue, Manchester being a particular example. 
 
With that in mind, I guess, what I would describe as a "bigger picture imperative" for 
creativity and innovation in a city like Perth, I do believe that places like North Fremantle and 
Queen Victoria Street are essential to that.  Whilst the realignment only is likely to affect one 
portion of that, I believe that protecting that future space or future potential for a creative 
ecosystem is fundamental or crucial to our city in this particular area.   
 
There are plenty of others across the city as well.  My submission, or suggestion, is that, in 
dealing with the realignment, that the preservation of this area is paramount, not just to the 
local area, but also to the bigger picture development of our city and state.  It actually 
presents, as I said before, an opportunity arguably to carry out that future redevelopment in 
a way that is potentially world leading, or innovative in an extreme.  In more nuts and bolts 
terms, I would definitely urge that the road or vehicle use requirements - that the realignment 
has to balance properly with the local use imperatives and the bigger picture that they can fit 
into. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  We appreciate that.  Kent, do you have any 
questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Your submission still is basically centred on the Queen Victoria Street.  
Do you have a comment about how the road system for through traffic- and I'm not talking 
about Queen Victoria Street, but the whole thing, which is what this panel is actually trying to 
do - how do you see that, in terms of the ideas that you have put forward? 
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MR TUCAK:   I think what it means is that the area that is Queen Victoria Street is preserved 
as much as possible so the roadways move around that.  In particular terms, I do think that 
the Queen Victoria Street and Tydeman Road to the eastern Stirling Highway link-up is a 
worthwhile way of directing traffic around this area.  I do think that the existing reservation 
around Jackson Street, which looks like it has potential for the cross-over to the 
Curtin Avenue extension, seems to be the most logical way of continuing traffic north in a 
way that doesn't, at the top of Queen Victoria Street, impact on that area.  I'm not sure if 
that's the - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   What I am hearing you sort of say, you are trying to protect particular 
nodes for people, but we have still got to some how or other get the main through traffic to 
flow and, therefore, it has got to go down one of the main arterial roads. 
 
MR TUCAK:   Yes, and I would be suggesting a full deviation, effectively, around the Queen 
Victoria Street precinct from those Tydeman Road lights. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Corinne, do you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   I suppose this is just not quite in the Queen Victoria Street area, but I notice 
that you live in Cottesloe and that you travel regularly to Queen Victoria Street.  Do you ever 
ride there, go by bike? 
 
MR TUCAK:   I haven't yet, mainly due to the state of my bike. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Good excuse. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Would you?  If there was a bike lane on Stirling Highway?  I was interested 
to find out from people whether they would actually cycle along Stirling Highway? 
 
MR TUCAK:   Absolutely.  At the moment, I may not, given that there is a level of danger in 
riding on the highway, but having lived in Melbourne and seen the ease of which you can 
cycle around there, if there was a similar amenity on the Stirling Highway, I would definitely 
be doing that.  I think it's the sort of thing that when people talk about journeys that you 
would make other than in a car or a bus, it's not just about getting somewhere, but doing it in 
a way that's enjoyable and motivating.  That strip of Stirling Highway between Cottesloe and 
North Fremantle is very visually appealing and I think would attract a lot of people, including 
me, to use it in that way outside of a vehicle.  I think when the bike does get fixed, hopefully 
by this summer, it's quite likely. 
 
CR MACRAE:   I can recommend Gumtree.  We get our bikes stolen on the weekends.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  It is great to have everybody come in and provide 
those broader perspective and also to add an additional dimension to things, like, you are 
talking about the creative environment and the importance of social side of our - - - 
 
MR TUCAK:   I hope it does add something. 
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MS BARTLE:   - - - cities.  Thank you very much.  Again, it will be some time, but you will 
get a response from us at some point. 
 
MR TUCAK:   That's great.  Thanks very much. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Thank you, Michael. 
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MR TOM ROBERTS & MS ANN FORMA 
representing Susan Marwick and themselves 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Let me start by welcoming you here.  I am Megan Bartle.  I am the chair.  
This is Councillor Corinne MacRae and Kent McDowall. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   How do you do? 
 
MS BARTLE:   I have technical support from John O'Hurley from the Department of 
Planning.   
 
MS FORMA:   Hello. 
 
MS BARTLE:   As you are aware, these are the public hearings for the MRS amendment for 
the rationalisation of Stirling Highway Road Reserve.  We represent the WAPC in these 
hearings.  We have a copy of your submission which we have read, and this is an 
opportunity obviously for you to give a verbal presentation to ensure that we are fully across 
your concerns and any other comments that you would like to make.   
 
These are public hearings and they are being recorded and a transcript of the recording 
along with recommendations will be public record, so will eventually be tabled in parliament.  
We have allowed 15 minutes for your presentation, just to allow a little bit of time for dialogue 
at the end of that for questions and things.  Because it is a public hearing, I will hand over to 
you and ask you to start in your presentation by stating your names, please, and I'll hand 
over to you. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   I'm Tom Roberts.  Ann's really the brains of this operation.  I'm here for 
gender equality. 
 
MS FORMA:   Rubbish, rubbish. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   We are long-term residents of North Fremantle.  I have been there 34 
years, I think Ann - - - 
 
MS FORMA:   42. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   During that time we've been involved in lots of local political issues and we 
continue to be involved.  I guess, by way of introduction, or to establish our bona fides, this is 
an idea we had a committee back in 1991, which was for actually getting rid of Stirling 
Highway, turning it into a local road, and rerouting it onto the Curtin Avenue, or onto the 
railway land.  Interestingly enough, this was adopted in part later on by the 
Planning Commission.  We're still waiting for our consultancy fee.   
 
I read recently in the post that the underpass which we recommend at Wellington Street is 
still on the agenda somewhere or other and that certainly was an original idea, as far as I'm 
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aware.  So we have had some good ideas over that time.  I think what we'd like to do is talk 
about the nitty gritty of the town centre and how that is affected by the proposed works and 
then possibly broaden our - - - 
 
MS FORMA:   Broaden out to some other issues. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   - - - comments to wider issues.   
 
MS FORMA:   I have just got this map, but we are talking about the town centre, but this 
map is really interesting.  I have got a whole series of aerials from the 1940s to the present 
and this one is before the Stirling Bridge was built.  So we've got the town centre here, but 
what's interesting in this one is we've still got Harvest Road connecting all the way across to 
the highway.  So when the Stirling Bridge was built and this came through, that caused quite 
a cut between a lot of the population and this, which we regard as the town centre.  Then it 
also shows that the railway sweeping over wiped out 300 houses here. 
 
Basically, the suburb was fairly evenly spread around its town centre, but these sort of 60s 
and the early 70s bridge sort of brought the focus back here.  I suppose what happened - so 
I moved in, in 1971, and wondered why my house was so cheap and after a while, I realised 
when the bridge started to be built, so perhaps a lot of people left, or had to leave.  Anyway, 
so I suppose over the year, a lot later, into the 1990s, we worked with the council and the 
community and we tried to get a policy happening that would, sort of, protect this centre and 
the sites that weren't going, that were sort of under-used, that we had good policies on them 
so that these corners perhaps got put back together. 
 
This has been an old service station and poorly used for many years, and this has just got a 
new building of offices down below with the parking behind, which is how we wanted the 
urban design to work, living above, offices below.  So the sort of thing we were hoping would 
happen is starting to happen.  I suppose what we are saying is, and I have said it in the 
submission:  we really want to protect this.  We want to protect the heritage of Stirling 
Highway, but we really want to protect the integrity of this, particularly the corners and we've 
tried to put back on, particularly this corner of the church.  It would be very detrimental to 
what's happening here for big, sweeping corners and obviously for the bus bay to cut the 
front off these heritage buildings, which are right opposite the town hall. 
 
We have got this town hall, the old police station, the old post office was here.  So this 
originally came all along here with commercial buildings, but we've got some confidence 
happening back here now and we just need that to be allowed to be retained, and we need it 
to have some links, and some possible parking even in under used places up here, and it's 
got a good line to the station.  So I suppose we're saying, you know, we really don’t agree 
with the amendment that this bus bay really can't - we really can't have these buildings 
threatened, and that corner - it would be detrimental to lose that.  
 
So in 1994 the Council, when I was on it, did this policy and it worked for all those issues, 
and looked at the linkages, and sort of defined the edges, and from that we went on to work 
with the Council and Main Roads to traffic calm the town centre.  So that study was done by 
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consultants through Main Roads and I think in about 2000 the road was actually calmed, so 
that it became one lane each way, and that's made a big difference to the town centre.  So I 
suppose (indistinct) might have something there.  
 
MR ROBERTS:   Yes, essentially Council said to us there's a limit to what we can do to 
encourage the regeneration of the town centre.  One thing we can do is modify the road in 
such a way as to calm the traffic and make it a more pedestrian friendly environment, and 
that was essentially what was done.  This is the preliminary plan that was drawn.  This was 
all done in conjunction with Main Roads so the two lanes which originally went through - I 
mean, it's more Stirling Highway before the bridge was built, then it became Queen Victoria 
Street, were reduced to one and an interesting feature of this is that the bus stops were 
deliberately not made as embayments.  
 
So the buses stop in the traffic and that was deliberate to stop the traffic, and it certainly 
does, obviously, and I think the point I made and which I'd like to speak on briefly is it seems 
to me that what is proposed for this corner actually doesn't work or is unnecessary because 
of the situation where the bus - this is a photograph taken this morning and you can see the 
bus is back here, it's stopped, it looks a lot further away than it is.  In fact, it's about 110 
metres to the lights according to my pacing.   
 
So when the bus is stopped, obviously the traffic in front of it - if the light goes green the 
traffic disappears so there's no impediment to the bus moving forward.  If the bus is in traffic 
then it will still move forward, and to put in a passing lane is really not going to improve the 
situation to any marked degree, and it involves such an enormous loss of heritage and a 
cost to the community that we feel it's just not worthwhile doing.  So I think on a practical 
level, it just doesn't make sense.  That's my point.   
 
MS FORMA:   Going on from that - I know it's not part of the comment on this but the Curtin 
Avenue extension which is showing up in the drawings coming across there, as Tom said, 
we were involved some years ago on a previous Stirling Highway consultation when they 
wanted to bring six lanes down Stirling Highway and split three on each side of the old North 
Fremantle Primary School, near the station, and we felt that was fairly detrimental so we 
thought how can we - - - 
 
MR ROBERTS:   That's essentially where this came from (indistinct) 
 
MS FORMA:   How can we achieve six lanes without wiping out a lot on Stirling Highway, so 
that's where the suggestion that perhaps the extra two lanes could go on the other side of 
the railway line, and we talked about that going down there to Tydeman Road.  But now we 
have a four lane road jumping over just north of the town centre and causing a massive 
cutting off again of that town centre, so it's of great concern to us - that road as well, in the 
form it's in at the moment.   
 
MR ROBERTS:   One little thing I forgot to mention is the timing of lights and to make this 
work, obviously, you'd need to time the lights so that if the bus moved off it would go through 
a green light in one stage.  That, to me, doesn't seem like a really difficult thing to do with a 
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bit of liaison to Main Roads, but the timing of the traffic lights in North Fremantle is just 
hopeless at present, and I don't drive in the peak hours.   
 
I ride a bike to work because I live in one part of North Freo and work in another, so my main 
trouble is getting across the roads but when I do drive, often in the middle of the day we find 
ourselves sitting here at the lights trying to turn onto Queen Victoria Street, no cars in site.  
The light goes green and then all the cars bank up, and it just - I don't know if any thought 
has been given to synchronising lights.  It's done in other parts of the world but it would 
seem to be the obvious answer to a lot of the problem - the traffic flow.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Right, yes.  
 
MS FORMA:   The other issues, I suppose, that we brought up in - I brought up in the 
submission was the Perth to Fremantle cycleway and I don't agree with the damage that's 
being done to create bicycle lanes on Stirling Highway.  So, I'd certainly like to see that 
integrated with the railway and I think also the bicycle lanes into Fremantle could be 
considered in conjunction with new bridge planning.   
 
We're supposed to have a new traffic bridge at some stage.  I don't know if a new rail bridge 
is in site but bicycle lanes attached to either or both would be really good and a route that 
could be found through there - it would be great if the cycleway could get attention and get 
continued from - it stops at Mosman Park, I think.  The other thing, which my husband 
wanted me to ask for is that you design a barrage for sea level rise when you design the 
bridge.  I won't (indistinct) John, that's my last red herring which I'll bring up today.  
 
So, yes, bridge planning and I think that's relevant in terms of the cycleway as well because I 
guess that's how it would get into Fremantle.  The other thing which I brought up in my 
submission but I think is important for North Fremantle that there's some integration with 
this, is the port option study and the traffic volumes arising out of the port, because in 1990 
we had a lot of consultation on that, at which stage they said - the projections all said that 
the port would be at capacity in 2015 to 2020, and that a new port would be needed, and 
since most other historic ports in - or a lot of other historic ports in Australia have been 
relocated to save the historic areas that they're in, and also to allow them to be efficient and 
expand, and get the containers out.  
 
I'm very concerned that there doesn't appear to have been the planning done and the timing 
put in to allow a new port for expanded container operations, and that is extremely critical 
now in North Fremantle, and how it affects Stirling Highway is - you know, there must be 
impacts from that and I really would sort of make a plea that that's a priority, that something 
needs to be done about the port planning, and the government at the time when we were 
consulted didn't want to do anything about it, it was a labour government and they said "well, 
you're just anti-port", and then successive governments of either complexion have not picked 
up the issue.  
 
At least, you know, they might have behind the scenes but the community is certainly not 
aware of it.  I'm sure things have happened - - - 
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MR ROBERTS:   (indistinct) 
 
MS FORMA:   - - - but we're not aware of anything.  
 
MR ROBERTS:   Len Buckeridge was in court with the government over this issue at 
present, I believe.  
 
CR MACRAE:   With the private port.  
 
MS FORMA:   It just seems that everyday, it's becoming more and more chaotic.  So it's 
another issue but it's related to the road network as well and, you know, it's an issue that 
hasn't been dealt with in a timely manner, I think, and it's causing more problems with the 
road network than it ought to be.  Do you have anything more, Tom? 
 
MR ROBERTS:   More a general - this is not learned but it's observations of an older citizen 
and one who's been around the world a bit.  The problems on Stirling Highway seem to be 
more associated - one is the morning traffic at the schools in Claremont, which is where 
there's a bottleneck and I can't see how this proposal will make any significant difference to 
that, and I presume the same problem exists when you arrive at Perth.  There's a bottleneck 
because I know this is what happens in the evenings.  The bridge is a huge bottleneck.   
 
The traffic banks up back to Alfred Road.  If a container truck falls over like it did the other 
day it's back to Wellington Street and we're down to one lane, and no amount of bus priority 
lanes is really going to make a big difference to the time of traffic or the speed of traffic.  I 
presume the idea is to get people out of their cars and into the buses because the buses are 
moving a lot quicker, and I applaud that but I just don't think it's going to work.  It seems to 
me that it might pay - a much simpler thing to do would be to make Stirling Highway 
between, say, Eric Street or somewhere like that through Claremont - make the inner lane a 
bus lane, a dedicated bus lane like we have in Hampton Road, between certain hours.   
 
That's not going to be well received by people in their motor cars but it certainly would speed 
the buses through, they would by unimpeded, and that sort of drastic action might make 
people think twice about getting in their motor cars.  The same thing applies our end - there's 
one bridge essentially that everyone goes over - that most people go over - the Stirling 
Bridge.  Another North Fremantle resident told me he had a visitor from the US.  This is 
probably going back a year, this is one of his little stories that illustrates to me the bigger 
picture, and this chap - well, this couple - they thought "we'll take them down the river, show 
them the whole city from the river".   
 
They went on one of the cruise boats, the Captain Cook, I think, and when they arrived at 
Fremantle the chap said to our friend, "How many people did you say lived here?"  He told 
him.  He said, "Where are the bridges?"  And I think that's a pretty good comment if you 
think about large cities elsewhere, there are lots and lots of bridges across the rivers and 
we've got two.  You know, it might be better to think about another bridge and put the money 
towards that, rather than this piece meal changing of an existing road and the amount of 
distraction it would cause, and the amount of money that it would cost to do so.  
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MS FORMA:   I've just brought in a couple of documents as well that - this is a community 
mapping project I referred to in my report and this is the graphic - the graphic by Craig 
Burton came out of here, of the town centre.  So that's that and from this report came this, 
which was an artistic representation of the sort of important things in the suburb, and that's 
actually the shops that would go with the bus lane and this is the town hall over here, and 
this is just sort of lots of the buildings, so I bought that in because I referred to them in my 
email report.   
 
MR ROBERTS:   This the grassroots program that Anne - well, it's based on a program that 
Anne brought back from England where we had a series of workshops, where people - it 
was advertised and people who had lived in the area over the years came and sat down, 
and talked about the pathways and the buildings, and the items of importance and then we 
tried to represent them graphically using a local artist.  Using Mark, actually, who didn't come 
today.  
 
MS FORMA:   That's the North Fremantle heritage study which Craig Burton did and he also 
was the author of the graphic on the town centre and gave us a lot of ideas about North 
Fremantle, really.  He was a very - - - 
 
MR ROBERTS:   Craig was a foundation professor of landscape architecture at UWA.  He - 
when the school was started.  Unfortunately he's gone back to Sydney.  
 
MS FORMA:   And he was a great help in the suburb, yes.  So, basically I'm very concerned 
about the destruction all the way up the highway and the loss of curtilage of other buildings, 
like the old schools and so on, and I suppose like Tom we'd like to see synchronisation of 
traffic lights and other things done, possibly at Claremont - In Europe they sometimes split 
two lane roads and put a tunnel in for through traffic to get through a bottleneck like that so 
that local traffic can have the other lane and the through traffic just goes through a tunnel in 
the middle, and I think that would be more cost effective than widening and gaining buildings 
all the way down the highway.  
 
The other things we're sort of thinking about - pedestrian safety and actually the most 
dangerous place in North Fremantle is where the new part of the highway was built to 
highway standards, with a big median but because that part of the highway near Harvest 
Road and near the bridge opens up wide and people say, "Ah hah, we're out of that tight bit," 
and they're coming around a blind corner.  We've had a pedestrian killed two months ago, so 
that's actually the most dangerous part of the road in North Fremantle and it's, you know, it's 
the new wide open highway-designed part.  So, you know, that's just the observation.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Perhaps I'll jump in there and just explain a couple of things.  The committee 
has been - or the panel members have all been on site in North Fremantle.  We've had a 
walk around and there's been dialogue with Main Roads about that bus jump lane, the 
queue jump lane.  We don't believe that it's a good outcome for this location, so our 
recommendation is going to be that it be removed from this process.  It is just a 
recommendation, what the final outcome will be I can't guarantee but that's going to be the 
recommendation of this committee.  So that will certainly change that whole intersection part.  
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The Curtin Avenue linkage that you spoke about is not part of this study and I take your point 
that there's a bigger context to look at things in but our mandate is to look at the reservation 
that is on Stirling Highway and what's been put forward in your submissions to make sure 
that we can respond appropriate.  I think the other points are points well made.  They're the 
main ones that I can probably address at this time just to give you some clarity as to where 
we're standing.  The reservation that goes through Queen Victoria Street - and John, I don't 
know if you want to get that plan, please, and perhaps talk them through what that dotted 
line means as far as the actual existing buildings, please? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   So we've got Stirling Highway coming down there and Queen Victoria 
Street.  Now, there's been a bit of confusion because of the way the plans were done.  On 
the North Fremantle Town Hall side there's nothing proposed in this amendment.  The 
existing situation is not touched.  As you're aware, the bus queue jump lane proposed for 
here would impact the four two story shops and the church, renovated church.  As the 
committee's just said, the Main Roads is supportive of the deletion of this priority bus lane, 
so the recommendation of the committee will be that there'll be no impacts, basically, on 
Queen Victoria Street.   
 
MR ROBERTS:   So the reservation remains the same? 
 
MS FORMA:   That would be great.  
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, and just to point out it's an other regional roads reservation, Queen 
Victoria Street, which is probably preferable.  
 
MS FORMA:   Yes.  
 
MR O’HURLEY:   So the local government, being the City of Fremantle, maintains that 
control with Main Roads, whereas Stirling Highway being primary regional roads more of the 
state function, so - yes, I think that's about it.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, I just wanted to make sure that was clear.  
 
MR ROBERTS:   Probably our comments are concentrated on the town centre but obviously 
this area is also important, as a heritage building.  Here, the old school and we've got shops 
here that the community associate response spoke about the issue of these shops losing 
their parking areas and whether that would be a fatal blow to them.  This is also important to 
the community.  I guess we've seen it as slightly less so than this one. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Certainly. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   But the comments are very similar in that this small section of priority bus 
lane is probably not going to make a hell of a lot of difference to the speed of the bus, or to 
the saving of time that the bus will make in North Fremantle.  Essentially, the only time 
where there's a traffic jam here is in the afternoon, going to the bridge.  There's not a 
problem in the mornings, usually, unless something has happened further up the highway. 
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CR MACRAE:   That was going to be my question to you:  which way does the traffic jam in 
the North Fremantle thing?  So it is actually going into Fremantle? 
 
MR ROBERTS:   It's in the afternoon.  Well, it's going past Fremantle. 
 
MS FORMA:   It's the bridge because of the trucks. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   Past the bridge. 
 
MS FORMA:   Coming out of the port. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   You made some comments about some queuing up at the bridge.  
Which bridge were you talking to? 
 
MS FORMA:   The Stirling Bridge. 
 
UNKNOWN:  The Stirling Bridge. 
 
MS FORMA:   It's the port traffic.  It's trucks. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   I was just trying to get that clear from where you'd spoken earlier. 
 
MS FORMA:   Sometimes, there is a complete row of trucks from the lights in 
East Fremantle all the way across the bridge.  There is nothing but container trucks back to 
the other side of the bridge.  So - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   That would be the 4 o'clock load. 
 
MS FORMA:   That's what I'm saying.  It is, but that's where the port options and the lack of 
planning has become - I mean, the last five years I think has become really critical.  It is 
absolutely terrible. 
 
CR MACRAE:   That container traffic is heading down to Leach Highway.  Is that right? 
 
MR ROBERTS:   Yes, essentially, to Kewdale. 
 
CR MACRAE:   And then Kewdale.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Doing the loop around. 
 
CR MACRAE:   What about the traffic north along Curtin Avenue?  What sort of freight 
container traffic do you notice? 
 
MS FORMA:   There's occasionally container trucks, aren't there?  There are container 
trucks, but not that many.  Most of them are going straight to get over the bridge to get down 
south.   
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MR ROBERTS:   If I'm going north in the mornings - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   It probably will not show you on those plans.  You might want to use yours, 
Tom.   
 
MR ROBERTS:   So my office is in Jewell Parade.  I'm about here.  I've had jobs in 
Cottesloe recently, pretty much for over the last three years I've had to visit Cottesloe 
regularly, but I've found it's better for me to go into Jackson Street, turn down Pearce, turn 
right into Tydeman Road, and it basically goes there.  So it's a lot quicker and easier for me 
to go up Curtin Avenue than to go up the highway.  That's really because of the number of 
stops that there are on the highway, the number of lights.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   The traffic light is easier - - - 
 
MS FORMA:   It's the container traffic along Curtin Avenue.   
 
MR ROBERTS:   I mean, you get the odd tractor. 
 
CR MACRAE:   It is mostly south, isn't it? 
 
MS FORMA:   It is mostly south, yes.  I mean, there are container trucks going up - - -  
 
MR ROBERTS:   (indistinct) Coles and the big stores have their - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   Superstores. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   - - - warehousing there, or out at the airport. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Tom, you said you are a bit of a cyclist. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   Yes. 
 
CR MACRAE:   If there were bike lines - - - 
 
MR ROBERTS:   But I'm not a lycra cyclist, I might add.  I'm more of a long-sleeve and - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes, tack your socks over your jeans. 
 
MS FORMA:   Not high speed. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   I don't do it for exercise; I do it because it's cheap and efficient. 
 
CR MACRAE:   If there were bike lanes on Stirling Highway, you know, the safe bike lanes, 
would you consider that to be an attractive route as a cyclist? 
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MR ROBERTS:   I don't regard bike lanes as all that safe, I have to admit.  I went to school 
with Ian Anderson, whose son was killed here, and he was on a bike lane and it didn't do 
him any good.  Cycling is dangerous.  I think that's a fact of life, so I tend to cycle on 
footpaths and quiet streets and I don't go very fast or very far, but if I'm going to the bank, I'll 
go on my bike.  It's just so much easier than getting in a car and I can't understand why more 
people don't, but that's the way I am, but I do know -  I mean, most of all, Russell Hobb - he 
was a neighbour of ours.  He used to cycle Curtin University, I think, regularly, and I take my 
hat off to people who commute on bikes, but I wouldn't do it myself.  I think the ideal is really 
up the railway line.  That's the safest sort of route for a cycle. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, did you have any other questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   No, I got my questions answered. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We appreciate your time.  This has got quite a long way to go, this 
amendment process.  We've got a few more days of hearings and then there's reports to be 
written and recommendations to the WAPC, then onto the Minister and eventually to 
Parliament.  There's no end date on a process like this, but we're estimating in around about 
12 months time we should have some decisions made.   
 
MR ROBERTS:   I might be still alive to see. 
 
MS BARTLE:   You look very young to me, so I hope so. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   I've been a little bit crook lately. 
 
MS BARTLE:   It is okay.  You will get a response in time as to what the outcome is, but we 
very much appreciate your time and also to get your experience and your perspective for this 
location.  Thank you very much. 
 
MR ROBERTS:   Thanks very much for listening to us. 
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MR CAMERON HAY 
representing Amanda Burrows, Peter Zuvela and himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Welcome. 
 
MR HAY:   Thanks very much. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We will not waste too much of your time.  I am Megan Bartle.  This is 
Councillor Corinne MacRae and Kent McDowall.  We are the panel.  We have technical 
support from John O'Hurley from the Department of Planning.  We are the ears of the WA 
Planning Commission for this Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment for the 
rationalisation of Stirling Highway.  Basically, we have a copy of the submissions, so there 
were three of you that you were representing, I believe. 
 
MR HAY:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We have got all three submissions.  This is an opportunity, obviously, for you 
to give a verbal presentation just to make sure that we are quite clear of the points that you 
wanted to make.  These are public hearings, so they are being recorded and a transcript of 
the hearings, along with recommendations, will become a public record.  We have allowed 
15 minutes.  It is up to you whether you use that or not, and we will allow a little a bit of time 
at the end for some dialogue. 
 
MR HAY:   Yes, great. 
 
MS BARTLE:   I will hand over to you and if you could just start by stating your name and 
then it is up to you. 
 
MR HAY:   Thank you, firstly, for the opportunity to present to you this afternoon.  My name 
is Cameron Hay.  I live in North Fremantle between Stirling Highway and the railway tracks, 
in there.  I organised, just before the closure of the written submissions, like, a 
neighbourhood meeting to raise people's awareness of the issue and also give them an 
opportunity to write submissions.  Even though it was less than a week's notice, we probably 
have 70 or 80 people come along to that meeting, along with a couple of others.  There are 
probably a few other submissions there, whose views are probably similar to mine.  What 
prompted me to hold that meeting and present today were really my concerns about the 
widening of - it's not actually called Stirling Highway at that point, but it's - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Queen Victoria Street? 
 
MR HAY:   I think it's called "Queen Victoria Street.”  So the widening of Queen Victoria 
Street along the row of shops and cafes, the small row of shops and cafes at North 
Fremantle.  I think that's what brought - pretty much everyone who was at that meeting was 
there for that, or concerned about some heritage buildings further up the highway, which isn't 
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part of my concern, I have to say.  Look, I guess, to get to the essential point:  I don't want a 
road widened and more traffic in my community.   
 
I guess what's different with North Fremantle and other bits along Stirling Highway, like 
Cottesloe, Claremont and Nedlands, is that road there, Queen Victoria Street, is actually our 
high street, whereas, for the other communities, Stirling Highway isn't actually their high 
street, if you like.  So I think it's a substantially different proposition and has a substantially 
different community impact to widen a community's high street compared to widening a road 
that goes along next to the high street, essentially, which is the case with the other streets. 
 
I think what it does, it would diminish the viability of North Fremantle.  It's emerging as a bit 
of a precinct and a location for people and it diminishes - if the street is widened and you 
have more traffic through there, it diminishes the viability for that to continue. I think every 
time you get rid of one of these local communities, that means a whole group of people have 
to get in their cars and drive somewhere else, essentially.  It might make sense from a 
tactical point of view.  Yes, you know, we've improved traffic flow between A and B, but I 
think if you do that strategically too much, everyone's just getting in their cars more at the 
end of the day and you kind of defeat the purpose of the widening or the improved traffic 
flows in the first place. 
 
It also differs from other parts on the Stirling Highway in that it's actually a spot where there 
are other ways traffic can get between Fremantle and Perth.  People can either swing left 
along Tydeman and go along Leighton Beach, and that alternative will exist, I think, even 
with the planned extension of that Railway Road down straight to the new bridge, or people 
can, of course, go on the new traffic bridge or even turn right on Tydeman and then hit the 
Stirling Highway that way.  So it's one spot where you've actually got more options rather 
than to simply say, "Here's the one artery here.  The only way we can improve traffic flow is 
to widen it and make it easier."   
 
I think there are ways of directing traffic and the traffic is self directing any way.  I often 
myself, actually even though I live right there, I have often gone in early to drop him off and 
then I am heading off to a meeting in town.  I am actually a commuter on that part of the road 
myself.  All you do is you are coming along and you are approaching that section of 
Queen Victoria.  As you look ahead, you see how heavy the traffic is and, if it is not too 
heavy, you go straight through the lights and, if it is heavy, you swing left onto Tydeman and 
go the alternative route, and everyone does that.  You can see people kind of slowing down, 
judging what the traffic is doing, and then making a decision. 
 
To a degree, if you increase the flow through Queen Victoria Street, you will simply have 
more people saying - and this is the problem I think you will always have with roads - if you 
make them better, more people will use them.  This is a particular case where that can 
happen.  You could, kind of, destroy the viability of that precinct, but you appear to improve 
traffic by having an extra lane for buses to turn into it.  People would then just see it's a 
better lane and more people will use it until it gets the same amount that it's clogged now 
and then they'll start going left in Tydeman again.   
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I don't know that it's a simple solution that I can see a really concrete downside that you 
can't then bring back, obviously, if you do tear down some buildings and widen the road.  I 
guess my plea is just to look at exactly what traffic flows, how people are using it, look at 
how those buses are used.  My feeling also is it's often pretty clogged, even when there's no 
buses there.  I don't feel simply getting rid of the buses is going to - you've got a traffic light 
there at the end of the day.  Typically, it's clogged from traffic light to traffic light without there 
being any buses there.  
 
I don't know that - you know, you have this kind of irreversible step you take, which is 
knocking down those couple of extra old buildings and kind of spoiling what's emerging as a 
precinct there.  I'm not sure you're actually going to solve the problem you're setting out to 
solve, and I think there might be other ways of doing things, like a lot of the buses that go 
along there are private school buses, or some of them are anyway.  There's no way that they 
can't be asked to - and we used to use one of those and it was very handy for us, but there's 
no reason why we couldn't have used an extra 200 metres to a designated bus stop 
somewhere else.  I mean, there's only a couple of people would get on that day each it came 
through, but each of those private school buses that came through. 
 
There's no reason that it has to be right there, using the same bus stop as the Transwest 
bus right there just south of those traffic lights.  You could ask them to use some other road 
and they just have a slightly diverted route at that point, you know, everyone just walks an 
extra 100 metres to get on the bus and you would probably get rid of half your buses, or 
more than half your buses, in the morning.  Obviously, you have got a bus route there, the 
103, and other buses that are following a train route anywhere and, for most people, the train 
is the preferred option. 
 
The bus is obviously servicing people who particularly cannot get down to the train line, but 
again, I think there might be ways of looking at who's actually getting on the bus exactly at 
that point, and is the best community balance not to have them walk, re-route the bus 
slightly, or not have a bus stop there, and have them walk a couple of hundred metres, a 
hundred metres or something.  I think that was really all I want to say, was just to say I think 
it's different to some of the other propositions you're looking at because it's a high street.  
It's the community.  It's also a place where you've got alternatives, in terms of where people 
will go and actually, I think, gives you more options and it gives the drivers more options and 
they will come back. 
 
If you clear it up, people who are currently going on later will simply come back to that road 
and leave it in the same position, I think.  So I'm just really making a plea to look at some of 
those other ways of clearing traffic flow through there so that emerging precinct becomes 
more of a precinct and people around there go there, rather than getting in their cars and 
heading into Fremantle, or Northbridge, or wherever else we might go.  That's really all I 
wanted to say. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Just to let you know, the panel members have been on site and had a good 
look around North Fremantle and this whole area, particularly looking at that queue jump 
lane, and it is our recommendation that actually be deleted of this.  We do not believe that 
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there is a great need for it, but it is going to create a great deal of benefit in having it there.  
So that will be our recommendation.  The ultimate decision is not ours.  That's the 
recommendation that we are going to be putting forward.  The reservation along Queen 
Victoria Street will not change from what it currently is.  The appearance on the plans of the 
red dotted line is showing up to building lines, so that does not change from what it is. 
 
So the actual footpath and things is actually within that reserve line.  The other thing is that 
Queen Victoria Street, the reservation of it, is a little different to the Stirling Highway 
reservation.  The Stirling Highway has the highest priority of reservation - - - 
 
MR HAY:   What does "reservation" actually mean in that context? 
 
MS BARTLE:   In the Metropolitan Region Scheme, we have designations - I do not know if, 
John, you want to actually talk to this? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, in the Metropolitan Region Scheme, we have got two main types of 
roads.  The primary regional roads reservation is for your highest-order roads, which is 
Stirling Highway.  Queen Victoria Street has the second highest, but it's called "other 
regional roads reservation".  The main point is that, when Queen Victoria has that local 
government control, so it remains within the City of Fremantle in liaison with Main Roads, 
whereas Stirling Highway, being a primary regional road, is a state-controlled road.  So a 
little bit of sense of place at North Fremantle.  The amendment's not proposing on changing 
that local ownership of the road. 
 
MR HAY:   Right.  Got you.  Does that mean that, in practical terms, that WAPC can still, if 
they chose to, do something against the wishes of Fremantle Council. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   It's really like a negotiated outcome.  Generally, with somewhere like 
Queen Victoria Street, nothing would happen unless it came from the council. 
 
MR HAY:   Right. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   It'd probably be more likely to be local government driven than the State 
coming in and saying, "Let's redesign."  Rah, rah, rah. 
 
MS BARTLE:   It is because of the intersection to Stirling Highway that it has become part of 
this. 
 
MR HAY:   Yes, got you. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, did you have any questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Not really.  I took on board your comments about High Street.  That is 
the first time we have heard that.  I took that on board.  I thought that was an interesting 
comment. 
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MR HAY:   Thank you. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Corinne? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, that is fine.  Thank you very much. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We have got to go with this process. 
 
MR HAY:   I won't take up any more of your time. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Not so much that.  This is your time.  You are allowed to use this time.  Just 
to let you know that we have got a lot more hearings to do, there are reports to be written, 
recommendations to be made and then they obviously go to the WA Planning Commission, 
Minister and Parliament.  So it is a long process.  It does not actually have a statutory time 
frame on it, so there is no end date, so it just follows the process as it goes along.  We are 
estimating probably around 12 months. 
 
MR HAY:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   You will hear back in due course, but it will be quite some time. 
 
MR HAY:   Yes, it has been a little time between - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, these things take a long time, but it is important to get your perspective 
and to certainly here from the locals.  Thank you very much for your time. 
 
MR HAY:   Thank you. 
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MR ROBERT FERRARI 
representing himself 

 
 

MS BARTLE:   Welcome.  These are the public hearings for the Metropolitan Region 
Scheme Amendment 1210/41 on the rationalisation of Stirling Highway road reserve.  As 
you're the first cab off the rank today, I will acknowledge the traditional owners of the land on 
which we're meeting, the Nyoongah people.  I'm Megan Bartle.  I'm the chair.  We have on 
the panel Corinne MacRae, Councillor Corinne MacRae, and Kent McDowall.  Support today 
is from John O'Hurley from the Department of Planning. 
 
As you're probably aware - I will just reiterate - the panel represents the WA Planning 
Commission on these public hearings.  We have a copy of your submission and this is an 
opportunity for you to give a verbal presentation and make sure that we're quite clear on 
what your issues are that you have raised.  These are public hearings so they are being 
recorded and a transcript of the recordings, along with recommendations, will become public 
record.  We have allowed 15 minutes for your presentation so I will hand over to you and if 
you could just start by stating your name and then continue. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Okay.  My name is Robert Ferrari.  First of all, thanks very much for 
allowing the time to discuss this and to put my ideas forward.  I'm opposed to any changes in 
the North Fremantle town centre, mainly because I have seen it grow - I live locally.  I have 
seen it grow into like a very unique town centre that has developed significantly, especially in 
the last three to five years - significantly, culturally, as well as in community base.  I find it's a 
very crucial point to living there to have that preserved as is. 
 
In the centre of that place there's a place called Mojo's and, as a musician, I find Mojo's is a 
key nexus to having a successful musical career.  I'm not sure if you have seen the ARIAs or 
the Musicoz Awards, but there's quite a few West Australian bands taking over and a lot of 
them got their vital link and their start from Mojo's.  A lot of touring bands need that place 
there to come through, which is where we meet them and if we get the chance to support 
them, then the favour gets returned. 
 
There's no other clubs like that in that area.  We have Clancy's in Fremantle, which is great.  
Failing that, there's really not a venue in that sort of field or in that sort of calibre with the 
sound system as well as the culture that it brings.  Okay?  So for me that's crucial. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Sure. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Not only as a musician but as a person who enjoys going out.  If we're not 
going to Mojo's, we also have Mrs Brown, which is a nice wine bar next door, and of course 
on the flip side if you want a decent meal there's Harvest across the road, all providing a real 
cultural, significant place where you can actually go and feel safe. 
 
I do live in Freo.  I don't like going into the entertainment precinct and if you go there on any 
Friday, Saturday night, there's at least half a dozen police cars in the middle of the street 
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with about 20 or so police officers continually roaming, and they're there for a reason:  
because they need to be.  I don't feel safe there.  I don't feel safe for all my friends being 
there.  I don't like going there at all. 
 
I do go to Mojo's and Mrs Brown's and those places where there is no security guards, there 
is no police officers, because it is safe.  It is a place where we can go have fun.  It brings 
with it, like I said, the live music aspect, which is a live music culture, who usually put on 
some really cool gigs to bring a lot of cultural sort of people in.  A lot of reggae from different 
parts of the world all comes through.  It's long-running nights there that they have reggae 
and hip hop nights and those sort of theme nights, which allows those industries to grow.  
There's nothing like that in the middle strip.  It's all very much the same music and just 
excessive drinking, okay, which if you're past the age of 19 doesn't really appeal to you. 
 
The hospitality is the big thing. There's also obviously the different burger bars and the surf 
clubs and the antique shop which all provide that sort of cool vibe, which I feel with these 
sort of amendments you're going to be taking away a part of that, which I don't want to see. 
 
I have travelled on that road before in the past for work and I was a little shocked to see this 
came through because I didn't think it was that bad an issue.  I didn't feel like there was a 
major traffic jam or a major hassle.  There is another road not 50 metres away that does the 
exact same job and that flows just pretty well as well. 
 
For me, I really would like to reiterate that I do not want that place changed.  It is there, it has 
done very well, and it's a place special to me personally going there, having a good time, but 
also as a musician who's getting somewhere finally.  It's kind of like it's a crucial part and has 
been a big part of the career, of my musical career, as well as my friends who have taken 
their music to the next level, that place has been significant, as well as if you just want to go 
have a good night out.  I just don't know anywhere else in my area where I can do that. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yeah. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Like I said, for safety there is already islands there.  I have not known any 
accidents to happen there and I go there quite a bit.  But, yeah, the way it has grown in the 
last five or six years has really made me - you know, that place is dear to me, which is why 
I'm here. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Great.  All right.  There's just a couple of things for clarification, just so that 
you're aware of what's going on.  The reason this is being looked at is because there's an 
existing reservation, so it's not because there's a safety issue as such.  It's because there's 
an existing Metropolitan Region Scheme reservation and so the ambit of this process has 
been to actually look at that and see if it's adequate or appropriate for current standards.  
That's one thing.  That's why it was done. 
 
The other part of it - the existing road reserve along Queen Victoria Street won't actually 
change.  The bit that will change or that is suggested to be changed is the addition of a bus 
jump queue lane at the intersection of the lights.  John, can you get out the plan, please, and 



 
6.11.13 3 Mr Ferrari 

show us?  The red line - the plans are a little unwieldy to actually read but John will explain 
to you.  The line that goes up to the building line is actually what exists at the moment, so 
there's no intention to-- 
 
MR FERRARI:   That's down here? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yeah, and that's the (indistinct) intersection.  This is the Town Hall. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Yep. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So that line goes up to the building lines that exist at the moment and that's 
existing and that won't change, so there's no intention from this plan other than that yellow 
bit you're showing. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Yeah. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Now, it's the recommendation - this panel have been on site.  We have had 
a look at it and we are making a recommendation that that bus jump queue lane is removed 
so that that impact is reduced.  Therefore, really you won't see any changes on Queen 
Victoria Street. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's just our recommendation.  The final decision is not ours to make, but 
that will be our recommendation. 
 
MR FERRARI:   That's the Town Hall? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes. 
 
MR FERRARI:   So there's a bus jump lane here already? 
 
MS BARTLE:   No, there's not one there already.  That was the actual land grab, if you like.  
That was the additional land that was going to be required to put that in.  Our 
recommendation is that that not be put in.  Even if this was implemented, it's unlikely that 
you would see any change. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   The other point is that this is a Metropolitan Regional Scheme amendment to 
look at that reservation as opposed to actual implementation of any works, which is a Main 
Roads issue.  There is no budget or future planning works through Main Roads or treasury 
for any works to be undertaken. 
 
MR FERRARI:   What do you mean by "reservation"?  I don't quite understand that. 
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MS BARTLE:   What happens is because Stirling Highway is a major road, it is like the top 
hierarchy of roads, there's already an existing - anywhere you would have a road reserve put 
in place which actually is reserved for road, so there's an existing one at the moment which 
is very, very wide, particularly towards the city end, and actually takes out huge swags of 
land.  Part of this process has been to look at is that appropriate and the recommendations 
have been actually no, to reduce that. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   It still impacts on properties and that's why, you know, we're having a lot of 
hearings, but it actually allows for any future works that need to be done can only be done 
within a reserved portion.  That's your local streets, that's everywhere.  There are road 
reserves everywhere. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Right.  I think I got backtracked then.  I'm trying to catch up.  So this is 
already-- 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's not there. 
 
MR FERRARI:   It's not there.  That's saying-- 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's what is planned. 
 
MR FERRARI:   That's what is planned. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That was what was advertised. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Yeah, and we're saying we don't want that. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's why most people are coming in from North Fremantle and saying, 
"We don't want this because this will impact on the buildings and the North Fremantle strip."  
We're saying we agree with you and our recommendation is that that be taken out and it be 
business as usual. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Great.  I agree with that recommendation. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Fantastic.  Well, we're all on the same page then.  As I said, it's our 
recommendation.  We don't have the final say. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Yeah.  Okay, cool.  Then this goes through to the minister to make a 
decision? 
 
MS BARTLE:   This goes through.  We make recommendations and there's a full report on 
all submissions that will go to the WA Planning Commission with recommendations.  Then it 
goes to the minister and then eventually to parliament. 
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MR FERRARI:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, did you have any questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Only to comment that in terms of the bus queue jump lane, it's designed 
so that the public transport can go through quicker.  Why we are not on side with that is 
there's a set of traffic lights immediately in front of it which almost negates the ability of it to 
do what it's intended to do, and I think that's the reason why we're sort of saying we can't 
see enough advantage against the disadvantage of removing the front off quite a few rather 
nice old buildings. 
 
MR FERRARI:   I see that point. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Corinne, do you have any questions or points? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, I was just going to ask you what the name of your band was. 
 
MR FERRARI:   There's a few, but I have pulled out of most of them.  I'm in one called the 
Pimps of Sound.  It's like a live band doing drum and bass, so what the DJs normally do.  
We do that live. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Okay. 
 
MR FERRARI:   The other one was Dilip 'n the Davs, which significantly played Mojo's a lot; 
and Parlez, it's a Brazilian percussion group. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes, Mojo's has certainly got a very, very long, proud history of supporting 
live music. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Yeah.  There was actually once a Mojo's All Star Band which I was a part 
of.  I was thrilled. 
 
CR MACRAE:   It's always good to have background information. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Yeah, yeah. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   (indistinct) why the passion is there. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Yeah, it is.  It is.  So many cool moments have happened in that place 
(indistinct) seeing stuff and going, "Ah."  Then you walk into (indistinct) like that. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's why you need different places for different people, don't you? 
 
MR FERRARI:   Yeah.  For sure, for sure. 
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MS BARTLE:   All right.  Well, we have got quite a long process to go.  We're coming close 
to the end of public hearings but we have still got a couple of days ahead of us.  Then 
reports have to be written and recommendations made and it is quite a long process.  
There's no final statutory end date on it but it's anticipated that it will probably be around 
about 12 months before decisions are finalised. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So you will in time get a response to your letter. 
 
MR FERRARI:   I'm sure. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay? 
 
MR FERRARI:   Thank you very much, guys. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thanks for your time. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Thank you, Robert. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Thank you for coming. 
 
MR FERRARI:   Nice to meet you. 
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MS KATE TRUSCOTT 
representing herself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Welcome to the public hearings for this Metropolitan Region Scheme 
Amendment, looking at the rationalisation of the Stirling Highway Road Reserve.  I'm Megan 
Bartle, I'm the chair.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae, and Kent McDowall.  We're the 
panel.  Our technical support is from John O'Hurley from the Department of Planning. 
 
Just to advise you, we represent the WA Planning Commission in these hearings.  Our role 
is to hear submissions, verbal submissions.  We have a copy of your written submissions, so 
this is your opportunity to just reiterate and tell us what your concerns are and your issues to 
make sure that we're quite clear on that.  These are public hearings, so they've been 
recorded, and the transcript of the recording, along with recommendations, will become 
public record - just so that you're aware of that. 
 
We've allowed 15 minutes for your presentation, which allows a little bit of time at the end for 
some dialogue, and I'll hand over to you and just ask if you would start by stating your name 
and then into your presentation, thanks. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Good morning.  My name is Kate Truscott.  I've prepared a small 
statement.  I lived in North Fremantle from birth until the age of 25 years.  For the last three 
years I've owned my own home in North Fremantle.  I'm an active participant in community 
matters and I'm here as a representative of the North Fremantle community.  I'm also an 
environmental specialist with over 13 years of professional experience, including having 
previously worked for state government agencies:  the former Department of Environment 
and the Heritage Council. 
 
I currently work for Hatch, a Canadian consulting engineering and project implementation 
company.  I worked for Hatch for four and a half years in Vancouver, British Columbia.  I 
consulted for the BC Ministry of Transportation as their Environmental Manager and owners' 
representative on the Pitt River Bridge and Mary Hill Interchange Project, and the 
Environmental Quality Manager on the Port Mann Highway 1 Project.  Both projects involved 
considerable highway widening and lane additions.  During the delivery of these projects I 
worked on social and environmental impact assessment, highway design review, 
consultation and property acquisitions, so I have some professional experience in such 
matters.   
 
I am very concerned about the rationalisation of Stirling Highway design in its current form.  
I'm very concerned about the process that appears to have been utilised to come up with the 
preliminary design, which only considers state heritage-listed properties.  There does not 
appear to have been any additional impact assessment, including impacts to local 
government, heritage-listed properties, businesses, residents, et cetera.   
 
I've reviewed the design from McCabe Street to Queen Victoria Street against the 
submission made by the City of Fremantle, which was an agenda item for the planning 
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services committee meeting of 20 June 2012.  I wish to have noted my agreement with their 
assessment and recommendations, in particular to object to the amendment in its current 
form and request modification of the proposed amendment to address concerns regarding 
impacts in North Fremantle. 
 
I also wish to register my support for the submission made by the North Fremantle 
Community Association.  Some key points that I would like to reiterate are the design 
ignores impacts to buildings on the local municipal inventory.  Any demolition or impacts to 
heritage buildings in North Fremantle will negatively impact our heritage values and diminish 
the character and identity of our suburb.   
 
Queen Victoria Street between Tydeman Road and Stirling Highway is our local centre with 
an important and well-loved community function of being our main street with shops, cafes, 
bars, et cetera.  It has become our local village, contributing to our quality of life.  The street 
has been traffic-calmed and impacts to this area, including demolition of businesses to 
facilitate to bus movements, is a completely unacceptable scenario.  
 
Widening at the Alfred Road intersection will significantly reduce parking at the shops there, 
perhaps fatally impacting their viability and therefore their contribution to our quality of life.  
Highway widening impacts to parking at the North Fremantle train station will result in 
spillover of parking to neighbouring streets or more cars on the highway, rather than 
encouraging use of public transport. 
 
Further to registering my support for the abovementioned submissions, I would also like to 
lodge advice about the large fig tree at the corner of Queen Victoria Street and Stirling 
Highway.  I'm not aware of the age of the tree but, judging by its size, would guess that it is 
very old.  It therefore is currently and has for many years been a marker for the entrance of 
the North Fremantle town centre.  I provide some photographs of the fig tree I refer to.  The 
tree contributes significantly to the visual amenity as you enter the North Fremantle village.   
 
The proposed design shows a kerb line that would most likely enable preservation of the 
tree.  However, protection measures would need to be implemented to preserve the tree 
during further design and construction.  I have a copy of the design here, if you'd like me to 
point out the particular location of the tree.  I don't know if that's useful.  
 
MS BARTLE:   You can if you like.  That would be helpful.   
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   It's just there.  
 
MS BARTLE:   It's right on the corner, yes. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   So at the moment you've got the boundary of the proposed new road 
(indistinct) and there's also a business here that's a tyre place.  I think that's the Town Hall 
and this is the business that's the tyre place, Midas.  This kerb boundary would likely protect 
the current trees, so I just want that to be noted.  
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MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Initially during construction they need to be marked out and they need to 
be located on design drawings and (indistinct) through.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   So, in closing, I'm here to add strength to the submissions made and 
ensure you're aware of the strong feelings within our community; that impacts to North 
Fremantle must be avoided in any rationalisation of Stirling Highway.  Thank you.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  Very good submission.  Can we get a copy of the 
submission because that actually is more than the written one that we've got a copy of.   
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Sure.  I've got it on my computer.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  Look, just to clarify the panel's position and a few 
other things - I mean, clearly you've looked closely at this and, given your profession, you 
know what you're looking at anyway.  The major issue for North Fremantle - we've been on 
site, we've had a look at it - the bus queue jump lane, which is the issue for the road 
widening here at the end, so that's what would cause the demolition.  So this is of major 
concern to most of the submitters that we've come in with.  Well, we concur with that 
concern and we don't believe, given the lights that are there, that it warrants being included.  
So our recommendation is going to be that it be removed from the reservation.   
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   That's good news.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  Obviously we don't make the final decision.  It's our recommendation 
and the feedback from Transport is that they see good reasoning to not include it as well.  
So that's still got a little bit of a way to go.  The other point is that this is purely looking at the 
reservation and not at implementation.  Any implementation, if it were to occur, would have 
to get budgeting from Treasury and become a proper works program for the Main Roads 
department.  That's not on the books at this stage and the advice we've had is it's possibly 
20 years, if at all.  That doesn't mean that no roadworks would ever happen.  That's just for 
this actual design as it is.  
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   I guess there's a strong concern that as a sort of a corridor there isn't an 
overall social and environmental impact assessment that will garner the interests of the 
community and enable us to have a voice, whereas the Main Roads may do this little bit by 
bit, chunk by chunk.  These people on their own may have impacts to their homes that won't 
have community support behind them to protect their asset and their homes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   We hear what you're saying completely.  The process unfortunately is what it 
is.  It's all we can make our recommendations based upon.  John, did you want to make any 
comment about that social impact assessment, the broader planning?  
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MR O’HURLEY:   I suppose that the next stage of the - this is part of an overall project, 
which is the Stirling Activity Corridor Study, and the goal or the aim of that project is to look 
at options for densification around high public transport routes, and Stirling Highway qualified 
for that.  So in order to advance the options for land use and development and other issues 
besides the road, there needs to be clarity with the road preservation.  So it is a difficult one 
to balance, but you can't do one without the other. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Chicken and egg, yes, because from our perspective, it would be really 
nice to have a drawing presented that actually takes into consideration some of these 
additional impacts and particularly anything that's listed on Municipal Heritage Inventories, 
and such, and businesses that have a key social function, and obviously people's livelihoods 
- it would be preferable.  I think that's really the way they tend to do it in Canada and that's 
why you get a lot of "not in my backyard" and it's very difficult, I understand.  Are you able to 
shed any light on any of the other parts of this corridor; what your recommendations might 
be at this stage, or not yet? 
 
MS BARTLE:   We haven't reached any - that was a major issue that we've had a lot of 
submissions on, so we've talked at length about that. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   But, no, we haven't made recommendations on anything else at this point.  
We're certainly looking closely.  I mean, every hearing raises - some of them are similarities, 
but individual points.  So definitely we look at each one. 
 
CR MACRAE:   You mentioned Alfred Road. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
CR MACRAE:   And some concerns about businesses affected there. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   On this corner we have the Croatian Church. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Mm'hm. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   And it looks as though that's the very corner of the church building, I 
would've thought - this line here. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Mm'hmm. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Then on this corner we have a bottle shop, and there's also businesses 
along here; two of them are cafe-deli-type establishments.  Then, of course, on the other 
side you have the old school. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Mm. 
 



 
6.11.13 11 Ms Truscott 

MS TRUSCOTT:   It's a very difficult intersection to deal with, because currently it's 
problematic.  Anyone turning right here, it does block the traffic, so I can understand there's 
concerns.  It's a bit of a bottleneck, so it needs to be dealt with very sensitively, and weighed 
up. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   You know, the benefits versus the impacts in this location, I see it as 
being probably a very difficult area to deal with, with the proposed approach.  Look, I wrote 
my submission ages ago, and got back from travelling yesterday, and went "Oh", so I 
haven't gone back through the City of Fremantle submission, but I recall, when I did go 
through and reveal it, I agreed with their recommendations for this area. 
 
MS BARTLE:   It is true.  I mean, this design, which is really just for the reservation 
purposes, what Main Roads did was apply the current safety standards.  So they're current 
standards.  They haven't necessarily looked, as you've pointed out, at individual 
intersections and things, so it's been an application of:  "Well, what are the current 
standards?  This is what it would result in." 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Right. 
 
MS BARTLE:   I believe it to be the case that any actual works would require, obviously, a 
detailed design and more consultation. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Sure, and I recognise that.  I know that's how - because I've worked on 
these projects. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   The engineers just propose a best-case scenario, if they get all their wish 
list for what's required for safety and line of sight, et cetera, as you go around corners. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   That's why you need to be aware of these things now, because there's 
discussions that need to occur as you move through the phases and into detailed design, 
which won't actually be us. 
 
MS BARTLE:   No.  That's right. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   And they might not happen in a forum that's going to be asking for that 
sort of input.  It's just, "Well, we're the Main Roads, and we have to ensure safety," whereas 
there can sometimes be a little bit of wiggle room with these things. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Mm. 
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MS TRUSCOTT:   We saw a couple of businesses preserved, on one of my projects, and 
some different access and egress options looked at, so that we could maintain safety.  It's 
got to come first, but there's definitely room to move if people are aware that there's an 
important function and there's a need to actually look at it a bit closer. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Absolutely. 
 
CR MACRAE:   This intersection, if I'm not wrong, is another one of these bus queue jump 
lane issues, isn't it? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it is.  It's something that we'll be looking at - all of those. 
 
CR MACRAE:   There's quite a few of them along Stirling Highway. 
 
MS BARTLE:   All of those.  There are quite a few, and each of the intersections we'll have 
to really have a good look at. 
 
CR MACRAE:   And, obviously, getting buses - giving them a priority at traffic lights is 
important.  We're not sure at this stage what we're going to do with that.  Certainly it's been 
sorted at that intersection. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   That's great to hear.  I'm sure that - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  We've seen a number of them from North Fremantle come through and 
we've got more coming. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   So we're all really quite a tight community, and it is really a village down 
there.  So I'm very happy to hear that you agree with the fact that this is quite scary and 
you're going to recommend that it doesn't go ahead in that area. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, preserve that area. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   This area here, or this area as well? 
 
MS BARTLE:   So Jackson Street is an issue because of the lights and the potential for, 
obviously - this is shown on here but it's not part of this actual process.  No, the jump queue 
lane is the yellow only. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Is there. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So it would certainly assist in this corner particularly. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   This is the business - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that's right. 
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MS TRUSCOTT:   That's that business with the hire - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, the hire place. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   And there's a few properties here that - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   The issue, of course, is - - - 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Cul-de-sac - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Cul-de-sac-ing of Jackson Road and how that's configured, which is 
something we're still looking at. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Oh, right.  So that could be an option? 
 
MS BARTLE:   It is the option, to cul-de-sac it, to close it off.  That is the proposal on the 
plans at the moment.  It's just how big an impact and the design of that cul de sac head. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   That might be good. 
 
MS BARTLE:   I think from a safety perspective it probably would be. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   If sensitively done, it should be good. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Yes, and also these - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Badly done, it might not be quite so good. 
 
MS BARTLE:   It might be a catastrophe, yes. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   These back streets, sometimes, like all through North Fremantle, get 
used by people who are non-residents, to kind of get around the traffic blocks and what have 
you. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   That's right.  There are some issues there that need to be looked at.  
Can you just tell me.  You said the Croatian church and things, are they on someone's 
register? 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   I would've thought that that would all be part of the municipal listing. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We've got that information available. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Things like churches, school, parks, the bowling club, et cetera, would all 
be, I'm sure, important places of cultural heritage for North Fremantle. 
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MS BARTLE:   These lists are put together in different categories (indistinct) always get on 
there, but it's not - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   It's not on the list. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So it's not. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   It's not. 
 
MS BARTLE:   I mean, someone needs to - - - 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   When it gets to it, if you're having a full impact assessment done, you do 
a full assessment of the corridor, and you identify these places, and that sort of is why this 
sort of approach is so concerning because there's so many places that are important, not 
just the things that are on the state register. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, we're reviewing that at the moment. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Yes. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   But people have the right to not go on. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   That's right. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   In 20 years' time, if they want to redevelop their property for some other 
economic purpose they still have that right.  This is part of the difficulty we have between the 
heritage and cultural issues against the individual's economic right. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Sure. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   And one of the reasons, I think, for trying to get a reservation is so that if 
anyone does decide to knock the place down, to make sure that they don't build it so as it 
creates a bigger impediment for the future. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   I see. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   So it's a very bouncing - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   It's a juggling act. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   - - - difficult situation.  How do you - - - 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Because the situation is going to be different for some owners versus 
others. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right. 
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MR McDOWALL:   Absolutely, and some - - - 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   So we face owners all the time. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Some of the places really are probably close to their economic life, but 
they don't have cultural significance.  If they redevelop now, and built a three-storey building 
right on the edge of the existing road reserve that may well be a very poor outcome for 
society. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   Right.  I'm picturing Claremont, at that intersection. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   So you understand the difficulty of giving a wise decision. 
 
MS TRUSCOTT:   I do.  Yes, I do.  Okay.  Thank you very much for your time, and I hope 
that this has been helpful. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  It has.  Thanks.  It's very much appreciated. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   It has.  As for the tree, I felt it was great to hear because that's the first 
time anyone has raised that. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Okay, because when I worked for the Heritage Council, we did actually list 
the trees, and I think that one is particularly important; it's a bit of a landmark. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it is. 
 
CR MACRAE:   And the size.  I'd love to know how old it is.  I'm sure, if you asked some of 
the very old people in North Fremantle, you might be able to find out about its age. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   And that's part of your curtilage.  That's good. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.   
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DR ANTHONY DUCKWORTH-SMITH & MS JENNIFER COOPER 
representing the Australian Urban Design Research Centre 

 
 
MS BARTLE:  Welcome.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:  Thank you.    
 
MS BARTLE:  These are the public hearings for the Metropolitan Region Scheme 
Amendment for the rationalisation of Stirling Highway road reserve.  I am Megan Bartle.  
Councillor Corinne MacRae. 
 
CR MACRAE:  Hello.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:  Hi, Corinne.    
 
MS BARTLE:  And Kent McDowall. 
 
MR McDOWALL:  How do you do?   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:  Good, thanks.     
 
MS BARTLE:  And we have technical support from John O'Hurley from the Department of 
Planning. 
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:  Hi, John.   
 
MS BARTLE:  As you are probably aware, we are representing the WA Planning 
Commission in these panel hearings.  Our role is to hear submissions.  We have a copy of 
the written submission that you have sent in, so this is your opportunity to give a verbal 
recap of that and make sure that we are fully across the points that you want to raise.  Just 
so you are aware, the hearings are being recorded and transcript, along with 
recommendations, will become a public record.  We have allowed 15 minutes for your 
presentation, to allow a few minutes for dialogue at the end of it.   For the recording, I would 
ask you to start by stating your name, and it is over to you.    
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:  My name is Dr Anthony Duckworth-Smith and I am from the 
Australian Urban Design Research Centre.  I have prepared some slides which I thought 
might be useful.  As I said, I work for the Australian Urban Design Research Centre.  We are 
affiliated with the Department of Planning and we are affiliated with the University of Western 
Australia as well, so I am here today representing them.   
 
Personally I am not in a unique position but I would say I am in a position to understand both 
sides of this argument in terms of transport and land use.  I worked for Main Roads as a 
traffic engineer for about eight years before I turned my hat to architecture and then got 
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interested in urban design and development, so I kind of see the transport and the land use 
outcomes and I wanted to talk about that balance today in the slides.   
 
At the centre we are very interested in Perth and the city, in terms of its growth, in terms of 
how we accommodate the quite substantial growth predictions in terms of where people are 
going to live, and giving people options for living in the city.  This flows on from the state 
planning policy very much.   
 
Thanks - the next slide.  One of the research areas we have been looking at for five years 
now is this idea of activity corridors and the way in which these can contribute to providing 
this sort of high density living in the city, and is it appropriate for Perth?  The idea of the 
activity corridor - you are probably sort of versed with it, but the idea is that these are good 
places for people to live in which we can reduce the dependence on automobiles.  Activity 
corridors are well connected to areas of employment and cultural destinations and they are 
well connected by public transport.  You are living on a public transport route.  There is a 
number of sort of good reasons to consider these in the city's fabric. 
 
The next slide, thanks.   This is just some of the work we did identifying corridors.  As I said, 
we have been at this for quite a few years, breaking down different types of corridors.  When 
we did this work initially - this is a couple of years old - we did define Stirling Highway:  is this 
an activity corridor?  Could this be a place where we should be intensifying urban 
development in the city?  It was selected. 
 
The next slide please.  When we look at a place like Stirling Highway, we don't just look at it 
in terms of its transport functionality.  We try and understand it in terms of its urban system 
as a place for transport but also as a place for living, a place for working and a place for 
meeting people, so part of the broader urban fabric and not just a transport conduit as such. 
 
The next slide please.  What I thought was a bit unclear in the reporting was that we weren't 
quite sure what the vision for Stirling Highway was.  If it is about transport, then I guess it 
needs to be stated explicitly - that this is the only thing it is about - but if it is about an 
integrated approach to land use and transport which most of our sort of policies are asking 
us to look at closely and is part of a sustainable future city, then I feel like this vision needs 
to be articulated before we start making decisions which are going to affect infrastructure for 
sort of 50 to 100 years. 
 
The next slide please.  Stirling Highway is not Brunswick Street but on some levels there are 
elements of Brunswick Street which have in the history of Stirling Highway appeared and 
been lost.  I'm not suggesting we return it to this and this might not even be an appropriate 
treatment, but I guess what it is in terms of those adjacent land uses is quite unclear at the 
moment. 
 
The next slide please.  Again on the other hand we have more grand sort of boulevards.  
This is St Kilda Road.  Is this a vision?  Is this an appropriate vision for Stirling Highway?  I 
guess I am just trying to point out a range of possible opportunities. 
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The next slide please.  Just to reiterate, at the centre what we thought we would like to sort 
of understand is:  what is this integrated transport and land use vision for Stirling Highway 
and how do the decisions which we make in terms of the road design impact upon that or 
affect it?  It is about establishing that vision. 
 
The next slide please.  At the centre, we have been doing quite a bit of work in terms of 
trying to establish a vision for these types of routes in a Perth context, so what is the 
appropriate land use and development that would flank an activity corridor in Perth?  This is 
some work we have been doing with the Property Council and the Greens WA which has 
been very well received.  I guess we are trying to understand.  If we had a vision of an 
activity corridor as this kind of ribbon of activated and high density living, if that was our 
vision, how would we achieve that?  This work tries to talk about how that might be 
achieved, particularly in terms of the land use. 
 
The next slide please.  These might not be appropriate but what we are trying to do here is 
model and test idea for these corridors in terms of their urban form and what they could do 
for the future of the city, what they could be.  I am sort of talking about this scenario A here 
which is just high density living along a transport corridor  
 
The next slide please.  What our research is leading us to find is that if that is what we want 
to do, if we do want people living in these places of advantage, then the closer you are to the 
roadway and the further you are away from the suburb is the place where you can develop 
the greatest intensity.  It kind of leaves us with a narrow band which flanks along the road 
carriageway.  If we want to maximise the developable land opportunities along these routes, 
then unfortunately we really need to minimise widening if that is part of our vision because 
the opportunities for the greatest yield are the ones that are furthest away from the suburban 
fabric where people generally are not too keen on having five or six or seven storey buildings 
adjacent to their residences.  There is a conflict in this vision in terms of widening and in 
terms of achieving high density infill. 
 
The next slide please.  Again another sort of idea or vision might be that you consider the 
highway as a series of linked places.  You accept that between these places it is going to 
work as a transport conduit but at those places you have a different approach and you start 
looking at it as a series of sort of more shared zones or places where traffic priority is not so 
important, but between those you do think of it as a transport conduit.  This is just an 
alternative to the sort of continuous development vision that I have presented previously.   
 
The next slide please.  A lot of work has been done in this field.  A lot of this work has been 
done by engineers, not just by urban designers who are trying to reconcile inherited street 
widths in cities around the world.  Instead of just widening them, they are trying to sort of 
grapple with - okay, we might not be able to widen streets in every part of a road alignment, 
so how do we reconcile the idea of transport and place value or, you know, the sort of 
human-centred value of a precinct as opposed to its transport value. 
 
The next side please.  I guess the question that comes out of all of this for me and for us as 
a research centre is:  does the current plan support an integrated land use and transport 
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vision?  If we don't have that vision, we don't know the answer to that question, so what we 
might be doing might not in fact in the future allow us to have that kind of vision.  I am just 
sort of stressing that instead of separating out the transport functionality, I think it should be 
considered as part of a broader sort of urban study. 
 
The next side please.  Not to sit back and do nothing - we have done research projects 
looking into this and we have a student, Jennifer Cooper, who is a thesis student who has 
spent the last year looking at what might be the options.  She has just entered the room - but 
what might be the options for an alternative transport strategy for this area, because we 
understand that you can't just say, "Okay.  We're not going to widen" but is there a different 
approach?  Is there an alternative transport strategy which makes use of the existing 
infrastructure and the existing capacity in that whole peninsula and has an integrated 
approach in terms of moving people and goods in that area, rather than considering the 
highway as a fairly singular transport function?  When we start to look into this, we find there 
is a lot of duplication of transport routes.  There are local streets that can be used and we 
also could look at it in terms of just where people are trying to get to and go from, instead of 
just thinking they have to get from Fremantle to Perth.  I haven't got time to go into all this in 
detail but we have done a lot of work looking into this transport strategy this year.  You 
understand this is required. 
 
The next slide please.  Some of the outcomes which Jennifer has been looking at are 
alternative cross-sections, so what actually happens is that if we do say we can 
accommodate some of that movement demand in other parts of the transport system, then 
potentially we could have reductions in the road cross-section of the order of eight metres 
along Stirling Highway which is significant.  As well as achieving the reduction it also allows 
us to sort of consider an integrated land use vision in that corridor as well.  
 
The next side please.  I have only got a couple more slides.  Just to talk about numbers, in 
terms of saving eight metres of widening along Stirling Highway - and I think we all 
acknowledge that the land values in that area are extremely high.  The service relocation - I 
mean, I don't know the details but when I used to work as a transport engineer, service 
relocation costs could be up to 30 per cent of any construction project.  I dare say Stirling 
Highway has its share of trunk services in terms of historical.  Without sort of trying to put 
exact numbers on it, I guess a more intelligent approach to the transport system might in fact 
have incredible fiscal benefits for the state in terms of not having to spend money.  I mean, 
there will be costs in doing the other transport strategy but I don't know if that has been 
considered.  I just feel like it would be a bit short-sighted to base a decision on such a critical 
piece of infrastructure based simply on through traffic movement which is from my reading 
the way in which the cross-sections have been derived. 
 
I think there is one more slide.  Just in conclusion, whatever we do, whatever our vision is, if 
it is a transport vision or if it is a land use vision, we need to have this comprehensive 
integrated transport strategy for the whole peninsula considered, not the best because it 
promises substantial fiscal benefits.  The risk is that if we do provide a piece of infrastructure 
which kind of doesn't allow an integrated land use vision in the future, it effectively rules that 
out because the road design does not support that kind of development and that kind of 
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place.  I think for somewhere like Stirling Highway, which we all would know is one of the 
most advantageous locations in Western Australia - but in Perth definitely - then it just 
seems to have so much potential to work as an integrated kind of corridor.  It is not Great 
Eastern Highway.  It's a different thing.  I would like to put the case forward for some of 
these research items that we have been working on which hopefully could lead to a different 
consideration of the route and its function.  Thank you.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay, thank you.  Kent? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Thank you.  I'm interested in about the eight metre saving.  Could you 
give some more detail about the cross-section that you're suggesting and what you've said 
can do.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes.  Well, I think if I just put the slide up which has the current 
widening proposal and just talk about it in relation to that which is - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   Number 14.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   - - - number 14, I think, is it?   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it was.      
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Next one, sorry, after that.  So I think, I mean, I'm not sure of 
the exact reasons for the cross-section that are there, although he's very generous and in 
terms of having very wide planting verges on the side I think this is an urban condition that 
we're looking at and I think we don't need to have very generous Leach Highway type 
scenarios on the cross-section.  I also don't think we need to accommodate on-road cyclists.  
Now, I'm a cyclist, okay, I'm not anti-cyclist but we have a veloway which runs along the 
railway and we also have an extensive local street network which could be used for 
commuter cycling which is in some ways far more appropriate and you could accommodate 
recreational cyclists on a path like most other paths, a shared path in the verge. 
 
So just by removing those I don't think we need the bus queue jump lanes.  I think they're a 
good initiative but they actually end up widening the road at the intersections, which are the 
places where you'd least want width in terms of crossing pedestrians and knitting together 
the urban fabric.  But it's mainly the reductions that come from getting rid of the cycle lanes.  
I think you do need a turning lane in the central median.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes, the five-metre median.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes, which can accommodate refuge when needed.  But it 
might be that even that can come down in width and maybe you accommodate pedestrian 
crossing away from where the turning pockets are and they do that in other cities so that 
could be, that could come down to say 3.2 or something quite tight.  I think we just pushed it, 
we said what if you just looked at an urban street and brought it right down and you didn't 
think of it as a highway but you still allowed for that safety and turning capacity.  The 
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eight metres was the figure we came up with and you'd get three metres just from the 
cycleways.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Did you take out any lanes of traffic at all?  I think it's the next slide or the 
one after that.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   The one with the cross-sections on? 
 
CR MACRAE:   The next one, yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   One more? 
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   One more.  No, it's still a dual carriageway so the only things 
we didn't take out were the bus queue lanes or the bus jump lanes, sorry, at the 
intersections where it then widens out into a six-lane.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   So they're all still dual carriageway cross-sections, they're just 
a lot tighter.   
 
CR MACRAE:   And what's the verge width there?   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   The verge width is between 3.5 and five metres, depending on 
where it is.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   So you're working on a road reservation of about 29 metres, something 
like that?   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes, around there:  28?  
 
MS COOPER:   No, it's 24.6.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   We got even closer.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Okay.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes, we got quite close.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   That's where we're trying to head, to find out what you thought the 
minimum - - - 
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   It's about 25.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   - - - that you could achieve, what the traffic system was trying to 
produce.   
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DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   I think as Jenny said, it's about 25.  If you consider it as that 
idea of a linked series of places, then these 25-metre sections would probably more apply to 
those areas where you wanted to bring it in.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   You could still have sections which were more generous 
between those places, but I think it's about matching the road cross-section to the urban 
fabric in those locations.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Anthony, there's a point that you raised and I'm interested to hear your 
position on it, was services.  So in a reduced cross-section like this what has been thought, 
have you thought that through, like where the service location and width and things like that 
is, because it's - you know, use the criteria that Main Roads would certainly take into 
consideration.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   I think we haven't done that in great detail, we haven't mapped 
them out and we just don't have the manpower for that.   
 
MS BARTLE:   No, that's okay.  I just wondered when you were looking and doing these 
whether it was really based on - yes, what your criteria were that you'd used and it really is 
just about that urban - - - 
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   It's mainly about not widening the carriageway.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   And in my experience, I mean, the carriageway is quite wide in 
places anyway because of the old trolleybus kind of allowances, is that in a lot of cities they 
would just take that inherited road carriageway width and they would work with that, they'd 
get smart about it.  I guess if you sort of assume that if you do that then you're not going to 
be necessarily doing a lot of work in terms of service relocation, because most of them will 
be in that verge area and you won't be digging that up and putting traffic on it.  So that it's 
mainly just from my understanding of how you budget these things as road projects; other 
than that, I don't have the detailed answers.   
 
MS BARTLE:   No, that's fine.  Thank you.  Did you have anything else, Kent? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes, intersection designs:  there's such a lot of right-hand turn 
movements, particularly in through the Claremont area where all the school parental 
movements are that appear to be, from the information we've been given, the congestion 
points are, 3 o'clock and that kind of time.  Did you do any work on how those intersections 
can function?   
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DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   No, not in any detail.  I think our approach to the school 
problem was, again, we've got a lot of people drop-off and pick-up movements by single sort 
of parents, not single parents but parents picking up their children.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   One in a car.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes, one in a car; and I think again surely there's something 
we can do there in terms of travel behaviours, possibly looking at even local bus services.  I 
mean, I don't know but if that hasn't been explored then it seems like a lot of money to spend 
on infrastructure.   
 
MS BARTLE:   (indistinct) behind you as well.  Would you like to join us at the table?  Yes.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Jenny has been doing a lot of research on the project.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So it's Jenny Cooper, is that right?   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Your research - - -   
 
MS COOPER:   The existing school bus system in that area is already really extensive and it 
goes as far north as Karrinyup, and a major drop-off point is at the Claremont Station.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
 
MS COOPER:   Which is less than a hundred metres walk to the two bigger schools.  So 
these sections are based on the fact that we realised that there's a system already there that 
should be used but isn't being used, and the schools need to start pushing the already - their 
school bus system.  Rather than them causing the problem and us having to change the 
road to cater for that - - -  
 
MR McDOWALL:   Good.   
 
MS COOPER:   - - - there should be an existing network.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Corinne, do you have anything else to ask? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No.  I think you make a very good point about the pedestrian severance; 
you know, the wider the roads, particularly if you're trying to get more people onto public 
transport, the wider the road is the more hostile the road environment becomes for crossing 
because obviously no matter where you catch the bus from you're going to have to cross a 
road to get back.   
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DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes.  So if I could just expand on that, so some of the research 
we've looked at, if you ask people the greatest impediment to crossing a busy road the two 
things they'll say is the traffic volume, but the width:  it is just simply the time it takes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   And putting in a two-stage crossing of a road is really punitive 
in terms of pedestrian road rules.  They're complex.  So people who aren't that able or 
maybe that have trouble with some of the cognitive capabilities of crossing a road, you're 
putting the most disadvantaged people at further disadvantage.  So I think there are real 
issues with those intersection designs in terms of width of their throats in particular, and 
particularly those are the places where traditionally some of the nicest buildings are as well; I 
mean, because that's the intersection where the economy works and people have sort of 
inhabited those historically.   
 
CR MACRAE:   You said that bus queue jump lanes were a nice idea.  You know, sort of 
research-wise is it working elsewhere around the world, in Australia? 
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   I wouldn't know.  I think just looking at them as they were 
designed, I can see the logic behind them from a transport perspective and that they would 
provide an advantage.   
 
CR MACRAE:   But often if the bus stop is then past the lights, you wonder what advantage 
is being obtained.   
 
MS COOPER:   Yes, 50 metres beyond the - - - 
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   The bus is stopping again?   
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.   
 
MS COOPER:   Yes.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Okay; I mean, yes, that might not be so effective.  But I guess 
in terms of those - - - 
 
MS..........:   Gets you to the bus stop quicker.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes, that's right.  In terms of the peak queues, I guess that's 
what it's trying to get through a bit; but, look, again it's balance of transport functionality with 
the land use, and it's not easy but I think there are intelligent approaches which need to be 
explored for this, which rely not just on the corridor but actually look further afield. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   So essentially I hear you saying that you can virtually fit your kind of 
proposals within the existing road reserve.  
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MS BARTLE:   Well, no, the existing built infrastructure.   
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Because the reserve is 80 metres.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   No, existing road reserve.  Is it 20, 25 metres?  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   In terms of the existing - - -  
 
CR MACRAE:   What's built.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's not the reserve.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Not the MRS.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   No, reserve.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Our approach was to try and fit it within the inherited road 
width, which is the carriage way width that is there.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, existing.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Property line to property line.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes, and in particular on the actual carriageway itself.  Now, I 
don't know whether we've achieved that because we haven't done it in detail, but we've 
come at it from the other end.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Very interesting perspective.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Somewhere in between is probably the right answer.  
 
CR MACRAE:   It's interesting to hear a keen cyclist say that the cycleway should be along 
the railway line.  We've heard that from a few people but we've also heard that yes, people 
would use it if there was a cycleway along Stirling Highway.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   I think for three metres of land in that context, again - you 
know, just in terms of its value compared to investing some money into a better cycling 
infrastructure in another location, I think that's the question.  Can it be better accommodated 
somewhere else?  Maybe that's already been tested with the road planners.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   In terms of the cyclists, we've heard varying views that recreational 
cyclists, yes, they will do that.  But the person who wants to commute wants to use the 
quickest, fastest route for cycling, and therefore they don't want to go through all of the 
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ramps and things that you traditionally get through intersections.  They just want to go down 
the road.  Your comment about the fact that they actually have a legal right - - -  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes, to use the road.  So I guess traditionally what used to 
happen is we'd just widen the inside lane a little bit and that was the way in which road - 
when I was a road planner that's what we'd do.  We wouldn't put separate shoulders onto 
the roads.  I agree, cyclists are driven by the need to get from A to B as quickly and as 
directly as possible as cars.  So they have equal rights in that regard.  I guess it's just that 
balance.  Can we invest more in the veloway along the railway line and provide a superior 
kind of facility there - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Safer, better.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   - - - that will be more attractive and is direct.  I use to work in 
Cottesloe and work in Perth.  As a cyclist I would always take the railway because obviously 
I wouldn't touch Stirling Highway because it's a nightmare.  But that facility was pretty 
adequate, so I guess can we invest in that as opposed to - you know, the cost of doing that 
on that road in terms of what it doesn't allow us to do might be more significant.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  Thanks for your time.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   No worries, thanks.   
 
MS BARTLE:   It's much appreciated.  We've got a way to go in this process.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   Yes, sure.  
 
MS BARTLE:   And the amendment has, in itself, so there's no actual deadline or end date 
on it but we're anticipating approximately 12 months.  You will get a response in time.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   All right.  Thank you for the opportunity.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Thank you for coming and sharing.  
 
DR DUCKWORTH-SMITH:   No worries.     
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MR GERARD MACGILL 
representing on behalf of the North Fremantle Community Association 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Mr MacGill, would you like to join us? 
 
MR MacGILL:   Good afternoon.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you and welcome for coming.  These are obviously the public 
hearings for the Metropolitan Region Scheme Amendment on the rationalisation of the 
Stirling Highway Road Reserve.  I'm Megan Bartle.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae, this 
is Kent McDowall.  We're the panel and we have technical support from John O'Hurley from 
the Department of Planning today.  We represent the WA Planning Commission in these 
hearings.  We have a copy of your submission and this is your opportunity to give a verbal 
presentation just to make sure that we're fully across the issues that you would like to raise. 
 
Just to let you know that the hearings are being recorded as public hearings and a transcript 
of the recording, along with recommendations, will become public record.  We've allowed 15 
minutes for your presentation and that will allow some time for dialogue at the end of it.  
Thank you.   
 
MR MacGILL:   This is the second hearing I've attended.  The first one was in 1964 and had 
to do with the southern extension of the Kwinana Freeway.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay, but we're still going.  
 
MR MacGILL:   Not the same people.  
 
MS BARTLE:   No.   
 
MR MacGILL:   Anyway, so far as the amendments are concerned, it's hard to oppose the 
general intention of it.  As someone who travels regularly up Stirling Highway, I'm fully aware 
of the problems there.  But I do have a problem with the priorities, I suppose.  There's priority 
given here to facilitating movement and that seems to be the principal objective.  There's a 
heading on page 9 of your document headed Social, and it's quite short but it lauds the 
social benefits of rationalising the highway:  potential for improvements to amenity, 
landscaping and streetscape, as well as better access to public transport, safer pedestrian 
movements and cycling, healthier lifestyle, certainty to landowners and so on. 
 
There doesn't seem to have been any social cost-benefit analysis to support these particular 
statements.  As far as I can see, there is certainty for landowners and I refer here in 
particular to North Fremantle, of course, where I have lived for the last four years.  There's 
certainty for landowners that the fronts of their - many of them, their properties will be 
chopped off and that they will be blighted, but their properties will only be saleable to the 
commission, which will buy them and rent them out to people who certainly won’t be 
restoring them in a hurry.   
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This is around Leighton, which is a very important area, and a number of those dwellings are 
on the local heritage list which the commission has taken no account of whatever.  You've 
highlighted the state heritage-listed properties, of which there are several, and they're worthy 
of their inclusion, but the council obviously values many, many of the others and they should 
be respected also. 
 
The improvements to amenity are also, I think, hard to see, particularly in North Fremantle.  
I'm sure you've had a drubbing over Queen Victoria Street, so I won't go over that territory 
again.  My submission refers to it fairly strongly.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
 
MR MacGILL:   It is, however, I think, symptomatic of the approach that I would have 
thought was obvious to anyone, that to take this measure in Queen Victoria Street would 
have a fairly devastating effect on the amenity of that locale, which is in the process of 
revitalisation, rejuvenation.  There's lots happened there already and lots more is going to 
happen.  There is also the truncations elsewhere at Alfred Road, for example, where you will 
cut into the car parking of those shops there.  I don't know if you pass through there and 
you've visited The Black Truffle, but it's a very high-quality local deli which is doing very well.  
But if you take away half of its parking, I don't see it surviving. 
 
There are other truncations like the front of the church.  The better access to public transport 
is also an aim, but you are - sorry to personalise it, but the commission.  The intention will be 
to remove some of the parking for the station, and the station parking is already overloaded.  
The parking area is filled and the short street adjoining along the railway is also filled.  So the 
use of the railway would be undermined and diminished if indeed parking wasn't - far from 
being reduced, if it wasn't actually increased in that area. 
 
The cycling infrastructure is a bit of a puzzle for many of us because we don't see that one 
could enjoy a much healthier lifestyle cycling along Stirling Highway and breathing in the 
fumes and being at risk of being knocked off one's bike, which is a real risk, and that there 
are better places to provide cycling presumably between Fremantle and Perth, fairly 
obviously along the railway reserve. 
 
So it raises the question of what sort of benefit of cycling on Stirling Highway is seen to 
exceed the possibilities provision in providing highway widening to accommodate it.  It's like 
1.3 metres each side or something.  That's a very significant amount of space and I think 
what you're doing on Stirling Highway should be absolutely minimal in its impact to achieve 
the maximum effect, and this requires some balancing and indeed a proper analysis of it 
which isn't to be seen in the provided documents.   
 
So I think - you can correct me here - there seems to have been little attention to alternatives 
to dealing with traffic management.  The phasing of traffic lights is something which could be 
attended to.  I mean, in other cities they actually have a live monitoring of traffic flow and 
congestion and adjust the traffic light phasings accordingly but when traffic lights are closely 
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spaced, to go through one and then find you're stopped at the next one is clearly highly 
inefficient and would be usually remedied. 
 
I think also on the part of the powers that be there is no confidence that the persons behind 
the wheel have got sufficient judgment and intelligence to do the right thing and there's some 
cause for believing that of course, as one sees every day when driving, but simple things like 
having give-way signs at slip roads instead of waiting there for an arrow to go green when in 
fact you can see forever, there is no-one there and, you know, one can exercise judgment in 
those cases.   
 
I lived in Vancouver in 1958 and you could - of course they drive on the right there, as you 
know.  You could turn right on a red light with caution.  I was in Adelaide in 1967 and the 
same thing applies, you could turn left on red lights.  I mean, we have to have some sort of 
confidence in people and these aren't big measures but they served to facilitate traffic flow 
and they saved also immense irritation on the part of persons using the road.   
 
The one reference that I could see actually dealing with places of difficulty of course refers to 
Claremont and Claremont is the sort of horror spot so far as certain times of day; traffic lights 
with multiple phases, schools, shops, everything, that conspires to make that a very slow 
point.  If you have one slow point in the middle of something, obviously it's affecting the 
whole of the traffic on either side but the solution here is not to do wholesale demotions of 
the buildings adjoining obviously.   
 
There's just what seems to me to be an extremely weak conclusion, that based on traffic 
engineering principles they will lower our speed limit at Claremont but permit a reduced road 
design width and reserve that consistently accommodates the range of road infrastructure 
planned for the rest of the highway.  I'm at a loss to really know what that means.  I would 
like to see it explained.  I know what it's trying to say but I would like to see how you can 
actually do that. 
 
If you have ever driven through Claremont at 50 kilometres an hour, well, good luck.  No-one 
or very, very rarely, in middle of the night, perhaps could drive through Claremont, that 
section at 50 kilometre an hour - I would have to say it's an absolute nonsense.  So that's 
really about all I have to say about this and I suppose in summary we are very concerned 
about the social impacts and the impact on our community and North Fremantle.   
 
We believe - and the City of Fremantle has canvassed certain alternatives - that there are 
other ways of dealing with this and perhaps not as perfectly as the road engineers would 
desire but it's possible to do a lot without going this far in various ways in relation to design 
and management, but I think seriously in something of this magnitude and indeed in any 
instance of major projects such as this, you have to demonstrate that there has been proper 
weight given to the social impacts because it really is - it's pointless to favour persons who 
live there and are going there over persons who live there.  It's privileging one group and 
one criteria against another.   
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North Fremantle has contributed enormously to the industrialisation of North Fremantle but, I 
mean, of course historically in its work (indistinct) and so on but it has lost probably half of its 
population, it went to the harbour, and it has this, it has the thread of the Curtin Avenue and 
so on coming through.  It has the container traffic and all of those things.  I mean, we pay - I 
won't say we pay - we pay dearly in many ways by living in North Fremantle of course but it's 
a wonderful place to live and we want it to be not just a place where people arrive and go to 
sleep and then go to work.  It has got lots of attractions around the river and we're trying to 
actually restore it as a living community.   
 
You refer here to one of the objectives of - that people - such development may encourage 
containment.  That's exactly what we want to - we don't want to be just a dormitory because 
historically it has been a very close community.  It still is.  We have lots of interaction among 
us and it's the sort of community which is walkable and everything else and if we facilitate 
traffic movements over the needs of the community, then we do create the barriers that you 
are saying here that you in fact would rather not have.  So I think I might leave it there.  
Thank you. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  You are representing the North Fremantle 
Community Association? 
 
MR MacGILL:   Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   So just to let you know, the panel has been out on site and we have walked 
most of Stirling Highway.   
 
MR MacGILL:   Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   We had a good look around North Fremantle and congratulations to the 
community because you are doing a wonderful job of creating a lovely little community area.  
We had a look at the design that has been suggested and that was advertised that included 
the bus queue jump lane near Jackson Street and the recommendation from this committee 
to the commission is going to be that that lane be taken out so that the reservation is taken 
back to actually what it is at the moment.   
 
MR MacGILL:   Right.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That is just a recommendation.  What actually is resolved is out of our hands 
but just so that you are aware of that.   
 
MR MacGILL:   Right.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Did you have any other questions or points?  Kent? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   No.   
 
CR MACRAE:   No.   
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MS BARTLE:   No.  That was a great presentation.  Thank you very much for your time.   
 
MR MacGILL:   Okay, thank you.   
 
MS BARTLE:   We have a bit of a way to go with this process and there's a number of 
recommendations and reporting processes to go.  The anticipated time frame at this time is 
about 12 months yet to go.  
 
MR MacGILL:   Right.  
 
MS BARTLE:   So in due course you will get a response.  We will see what happens.   
 
MR MacGILL:   Okay.   
 
MS BARTLE:   We appreciate it.   
 
MR MacGILL:   Thanks very much.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Thank you.   
 
MR MacGILL:   Bye.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Bye.   
 
 
 
 



 
6.11.13 32 Dr Keely 

DR NICHOLAS KEELY 
representing Veronica Yeo & himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hello.  I'll just explain what's going on.  I'm Megan Bartle.  This is Councillors 
Corinne MacRae and Kent McDowall.  We are the panel.  We have technical support from 
John O'Hurley from the Department of Planning. 
 
So these are the public hearings for the metropolitan region scheme amendment on the 
rationalisation of the Stirling Highway Road Reserve.  We represent the WA Planning 
Commission at the panel hearings.  We have a copy of your submission, and this is just an 
opportunity for you to give a verbal presentation to us, to make sure that we're quite clear on 
what it is that you'd like to raise points about.  We've allowed 15 minutes, but you can take 
as much of that time as you need. 
 
DR KEELY:   Not anywhere near it. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay.  Just to let you know that because they are public hearings these are 
being recorded and a transcript of the recordings along with recommendations will become 
public record. 
 
DR KEELY:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So what I'll do is I'll hand over to you.  If you could start by stating your 
name, then just giving us a verbal presentation, and then we'll have a bit of a discussion at 
the end. 
 
DR KEELY:   My name is Nicholas Keely.  The thrust of my attitude is just that in North 
Fremantle there appears to be a village-type atmosphere and the hub of the village is the 
area where the set of shops are, in Queen Victoria Street, I think it is, isn't it? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that's right. 
 
DR KEELY:   Having a bus lane going through there - basically, I gather it's going to be 
something that will increase traffic and impinge on the buildings that are already there - is 
something that will not really fit in with the idea of having a village-type atmosphere, and I 
think that type of thing is really an important thing for building community, which really, 
without our type of social fabric, is the essential thing to make for better health, mental and 
physical.  Nothing other than that, really. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay.  Just to let you know, we have been out on site, along most of Stirling 
Highway, and we particularly had a good look around North Fremantle and the Queen 
Victoria Street intersection with Stirling Highway.  It's the panel's view that the bus jump 
queue lane, which is added in there, that you've mentioned, is possibly not necessary in that 
location and would have a detrimental impact upon, as you said, the physical and social 
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location.  So John will just show you where we're talking about.  So it's the recommendation 
of this committee that that be removed from the reservation area. 
 
DR KEELY:   I just don't know where this is now. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   That's heading north.  That's the North Fremantle town hall. 
 
DR KEELY:   Oh, north. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   North is that way, yes, so that makes it easier.  There's the row of four 
shops, Jackson Road, Stirling Highway goes down this way, Swan River is to the south. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Do you know the Town Hall? 
 
DR KEELY:   Yes, I'm just trying to orientate myself. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   And the train line. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Is the Town Hall on the map there?  It is, isn't it? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, it is. 
 
MS BARTLE:   It doesn't show all of the road. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   It doesn't go all the way down Queen Victoria Street.  It just shows the 
top end, up to Jackson Street. 
 
DR KEELY:   Yes, okay.  So that's the start? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   And that was the only bit that was affected. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Do you have the aerial photograph?  It might be easier, John.  Sorry. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   That's all right.  This is Queen Victoria Street, Stirling Highway, and it's 
closer to the Jackson Street intersection than the Stirling and Queen Victoria Streets. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So there's not a bus lane the whole length along there.  It was just towards 
that end that there was a bus lane being put in, to allow the buses to get through the traffic 
lights. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes.  The amendment ends somewhere there. 
 
MS BARTLE:   There. 
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MR O’HURLEY:   So nothing is proposed for that portion, and the proposed bus queue jump 
lane that would affect the west side of Queen Victoria Street, the committee is recommended 
its deletion from the plan.  So the proposed reservation on Queen Victoria Street (indistinct) 
 
DR KEELY:   All right.  When that recommendation is made by you, where does that go? 
 
MS BARTLE:   It goes to the WA Planning Commission. 
 
DR KEELY:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   It goes beyond them and it ends up in parliament. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes. 
 
DR KEELY:   What do you reckon will happen? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Then all I know is what we can recommend to them, so the decision is out of 
our control.  But, I mean, that's the purpose of having hearings and having technical input 
into these things is that the recommendations are based on information as opposed to 
plucked out of thin air.   
 
DR KEELY:   Sure.  Fair enough, yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So we can only make recommendations.  The commission will have a look at 
it in context of the bigger picture and the intentions.  This is the process for the reservation 
on the Metropolitan Region Scheme, it's not the implementation.  So implementation would 
be done, if it is done at all, by Main Roads.  They are saying possibly 20 years.   
 
DR KEELY:   Who has made the proposal on the first (indistinct), do you know where it 
originates?   
 
MS BARTLE:   There's an existing reservation for the full length of Stirling Highway, it's up 
to 80 metres wide and impacts on a great many properties.  This process has been to look at 
is that an appropriate reservation and if not what should it be and the basis for coming up 
with that, the reservation as put forward is based on current safety standards for all roads of 
this hierarchy.   
 
DR KEELY:   Exhibiting my lack of knowledge.  The bus queue jump lane, what's the 
purpose of it?   
 
MS BARTLE:   The purpose of that, particularly in peak traffic is to allow the buses priority; 
so public transport becomes a priority over single vehicles and allows them to move through 
the traffic to get to the lights and to move off faster.   
 
DR KEELY:   I'd say that when you compare that with the weight of or the idea of losing - 
and this is just discussion and that's all right isn't it?   
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MS BARTLE:   Yes, fine.   
 
DR KEELY:   Losing community, community feel, which is sort of hard to measure but it 
does exist to me, having a faster bus, yes, I suppose for little old ladies and things like that is 
a nice idea but overall I think it doesn't weigh up compared with the down side.  So do you 
mean that the people who are coming along here have already given you enough 
information, or is it simply-- 
 
MS BARTLE:   No, we've been out on site as I said and we've had a look at the North 
Fremantle situation.   
 
DR KEELY:   - - - you making up your own minds independent of that - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   We've some feedback from technical support and Main Roads and they are 
happy to recommend along with us that that be removed in that portion.   
 
DR KEELY:   Okay.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So that's supported. 
 
DR KEELY:   Who would be, do you think, then, in parliament, who would be not in favour of 
your decision?   
 
MS BARTLE:   I think that's way beyond my call.   
 
DR KEELY:   I can't see that.  If there had been that many I would imagine that would be 
more serious agencies or - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   The Minister for Planning would have carriage of this amendment in 
parliament.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So that's John Day.   
 
DR KEELY:   What do you mean, he would likely just say - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   He'd present it:  he'd have to speak to it.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes; and presumably by that time, if it went forward in some form, then 
there'd obviously be some sort of party room consensus et cetera, the way parliament 
works.  But all we can do is recommend to the Planning Commission which then 
recommends to the Minister.  What happens after that is out of our hands.   
 
DR KEELY:   Did you say Main Roads are quite happy with that happening? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Do talk to this, John, please.   
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MR O’HURLEY:   The Queen Victoria bus queue jump lane has gone back, it's been 
referred back to Main Roads with the request for its review and that's been informed by 
many submissions arguing against it.  Main Roads comment or the transport portfolio 
supports the deletion of the proposed bus queue jump lane on Queen Victoria Street, so 
they've reviewed it and they agree or they concede that it may not be necessary or they're 
saying it's not necessary.  As you know, Queen Victoria Street fans into two lanes just before 
the Stirling Highway intersection.  
 
DR KEELY:   Yes.   
 
MR O’HURLEY:   If there was a bus queue jump lane the one lane would fan into three 
lanes, so they've conceded that it may not provide the benefit that a bus queue jump lane 
may for places.  So they support a modification and the committee is able to recommend the 
modification.   
 
DR KEELY:   So MRD and Transport are different departments? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Portfolios.   
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Main Roads comes under the Transport portfolio.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay, thank you for coming in.   
 
DR KEELY:   No, worries.   
 
MS BARTLE:   It's appreciated to get everybody's time.  We've got a way to go in this with 
recommendations and things, but in due course you will get a response to your submission.   
 
DR KEELY:   Okay.  Thanks very much - - -   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.   
 
DR KEELY:   - - - for the coffee and the water as well.   
 
CR MACRAE:   You're a cyclist, so did you come - - - 
 
DR KEELY:   I (indistinct) heating when I came in here.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Did you ride along Stirling Highway?   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Did you ride along Stirling Highway? 
 
DR KEELY:   No - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   So what do you think about the cycleway all along Stirling Highway?   
 
DR KEELY:   (indistinct)   
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CR MACRAE:   Would you use it?   
 
DR KEELY:   Is this for cycle or cycle/pedestrian?   
 
MR McDOWALL:   No, cycle.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Cycle.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Would you use it? 
 
DR KEELY:   Yes, definitely.   
 
CR MACRAE:   You would use it?   
 
DR KEELY:   If I wasn't there'd be tons of other people.  I just (indistinct) to use and the 
railway one is good.  But the more the merrier; I mean, that's one of the main reasons 
people won't do it:  they're afraid they're going to end up, you know, in Karrakatta.  If you're 
doing it on Stirling Highway it's really asking for it.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   In terms of commuting from North Fremantle towards the city, is there a 
viable route? 
 
DR KEELY:   At present? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   At the present?   
 
DR KEELY:   It's a sort of a longish route because you go along the railway line and you sort 
of do it - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.   
 
DR KEELY:   If you went along Stirling Highway supposedly (indistinct) is easy.  It's like a 
contradiction in terms, riding a bike and being in a hurry; and you wouldn't want to go on the 
highway, and all the people want to go to uni and that sort of thing - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   So from a commuting viewpoint as a cyclist, that would be a valuable 
thing for them.   
 
DR KEELY:   Yes.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   All right, thank you. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes, thank you.   
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MR JOHN & MRS PENUEL HALL 
representing themselves 

 
 
MS BARTLE:  Welcome. 
 
MR HALL:  Thank you very much indeed.   
 
MS BARTLE:  I'm Megan Bartle.  I'm the chair.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae, and 
Kent McDowall.    
 
MR McDOWALL:  How do you do?   
 
MS BARTLE:  We are the panel and we have technical support from John O'Hurley from the 
Department of Planning.  You know John.    
 
MR HALL:  Yes.    
 
MS BARTLE:  As you are aware, these are the public hearings for the Metropolitan Region 
Scheme Amendment on the rationalisation of Stirling Highway.  The role of the panel is to be 
the ears of the WA Planning Commission so we represent the commission in these hearings.  
We have a copy of your submission and this is your opportunity to do a verbal presentation, 
just to reinforce what you have said, and to make sure we are quite clear on your position. 
 
These are public hearings so they are being recorded and a transcript of that recording, 
along with recommendations, will become a public record.  We have allowed 15 minutes for 
your presentation which will allow for some dialogue at the end.  What I will do is hand over 
to you and ask you to commence by stating your names for the record.    
 
MR HALL:  Thank you very much.  My name is David Hall.  I'm actually known as John - 
sorry; known as David but my name is John.   I apologise for that. 
 
MS BARTLE:  I'm confused now.   
 
MR HALL:  And my wife is Penuel Hall.  You have read my submission which is very good 
for me, so I thought I would try not to repeat too much detail of that but I would try to 
summarise the key points that we would like to make, if we could.    
 
MS BARTLE:  Yes.    
 
MR HALL:  To do that, I think we should place this in a time situation when we became 
involved with the property.  We actually bought a unit, lot number 38 which I think you have 
as 444 Stirling Highway.  We bought it in January 1975.  We were in fact the first occupants 
of this particular villa.  There are 23 villas on this lot, lot 38.   
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I must admit I was kind of taken aback when this whole scheme was publicised.  We went 
along to the show and tell at the Grove, in Peppermint Grove.  There were lots of plans and 
all the rest of it.  To my horror, of course I find that our area, our buildings, which are called 
actually collectively Forrest Grove Villas - there are 23 of them.  They were built in the early 
70s.  They don't appear on the planning office's plans.  The ones that were shown on the 
show and tells showed a very, very big empty area.  It looked like a very rich man's Peppy 
Grove plot.   I was getting letters as the owner of lot number 38 - I wish I was, but I am afraid 
we are not.  We are a strata-titled set-up.  As I say, it has been there a long time.   
 
The gentleman who was showing us the plans at the show and tell was John.  I think he was 
startled that we weren't there but anyway - that's all right - these things happen.  If the line of 
the modified reservation is enforced, the situation with those villas is that nine of them will 
become uninhabitable basically.  If I could show you that - you possibly have copies of it.  I 
think I have one in my presentation.    
 
MS BARTLE:  Yes, you do.    
 
MR HALL:  I have drawn a red line.  As you can see, these villas rely upon an entrance from 
the rear.  They back onto Stirling Highway.  What happens is that you come home.  Mostly 
you pop off the highway and drive along here.  You have got a garage and a back door to 
your property.  It's a village style development.  It is very pleasant.  It is very quiet.  Yes, we 
have front doors but mostly we are out on the street trying to get home.  If we chop off there, 
we have really got a problem.  We have also got to try to find parking somewhere in the area 
which is not really very easy.  That really is probably the nub of our problem.   
 
There is another aspect of it.  These garages - the slope of their roofs is designed to defend 
us, if you like, from highway noise and they are hugely efficient that way.  These are two-
storey buildings.  You can actually be upstairs in the back, in the bedrooms, and not hear not 
traffic noise at all because the garages deflect it upwards.  That, if you like, is our position 
there. 
 
We are really in a problem.  The places would be totally unsellable if you couldn't get in and 
park at the back of your place.  They would be largely unrentable, I should think, as well.  
Now, there are other villas here around the back end and you could say that they are all 
right.  They are up to a point but, still, they are going to get much more noise and all the rest 
of it.   
 
I could never see that this was a realistic proposition.  I believe that a lot of the planning of 
course is done on a computer nowadays.  You input your parameters and the computer 
draws beautiful straight lines for you.  I am not being rude here.  I can't believe that people 
have actually kind of gone right along the highway and seen just what effect the lines of 
these reserves are.  As you can see, you have got buildings here which theoretically are not 
affected but in fact are.  It goes to the heart of the whole thing. 
 
You have said in your printed document that introduced the whole scheme - this one, the 
metropolitan scheme amendment.  You have actually said in there, at page 5 at the top, 
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"The amendment proposes to completely remove the reserve from over 200 properties 
(including strata units)."  I don't know whether that has been thought about by you good 
people in planning but if not, could we please be added to the strata units that are going to 
be taken out because honestly it is a realistic solution?   
 
To be honest, we are not greatly encouraged to be told, as we are right, left and centre, 
"Don't worry.  It probably won't happen for 25 or 30 years."  I couldn't tell you how many 
times I have been told that, but honestly it is no comfort.  We are in a situation that a large 
portion of our residents are reaching a bit of a good age.  Like ourselves, they worked like 
hell over their lives and this is the product of it.  I am sure you are all familiar with this.  
Penny and I having lost all four of our parents in the last few years are very familiar with it.  
There can come a time that you are generally fairly healthy but you have got to move on to 
some sort of home or some sort of care but in our area that nowadays is costing a million 
bucks, if you can get a place.  That is where a lot of these units come in.   
 
Years before this thing actually happens, I have to accept the fact that I need to go into care.  
I will put this on the market and that will get me in there, if I can find a place.  I have maybe 
got a bit of savings and stuff coming in but I can pay the monthly fees and so on and so on.  
It's a very reasonable and very prudent way of living, but if we get to the situation that they 
can't be put on the market, we have actually reached that now.  One person was 
tremendously lucky and he managed a private sale which came out very close to what his 
valuation was - not his valuation; his sworn valuer's valuation; but since then most decent 
estate agents literally laugh in your face.   
 
We are not trying to sell right now at all.  We are I hope still young enough and fit enough not 
to be quite at that stage but, nevertheless, once this thing started to bite, we did ask some 
top end real estate agents and they said, "No.  There's no way we can present this because 
there is no security here".  They say also, you know, 25 or 30 years maybe, but then maybe 
not.  You know how fast things can move here. 
 
It is a real big problem.  There is no question about it.  I put in my submission a way that, if 
government decides it has to go ahead with this, we could get around it if we were allowed a 
little bit of adjustment.  This may be hard to read a little bit.  This is the back of the villas.    
 
MS BARTLE:  This is what you have in your submission.    
 
MR HALL:  This is what I have in my submission.  Normally we come in either off the 
highway and into our garages or, if we happen to be in Forrest Street, say coming up from 
Fremantle or something like that, we would square the internal road around the back of 
these, and just come around and do the same thing.  If we said that for all of these other 
villas you could do what you like but we will have to come in from Forrest Street, no matter 
what we do, come down a one-way street only, we can go into our garage and to get out, we 
will have to come out by going straight on.  We have got quite a big scrubby horrible area 
here which just goes down to the highway.  We are using it at the moment for recycled bins 
and things like that out of the way but generally we have got a lot of spare bricks lying there 
and all of that sort of thing.   
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It would be very simple to run a little bank down there and another entrance onto the 
highway, purely for the people living along here so we can come in one way and give you 
back quite a lot of land, but we would ask for approximately - I mean, this is not a great 
drawing.  It is in feet and inches, believe it or not.  It's about three metres.  The orange line is 
where the proposal hits us.  There is less than a metre down about its ankle - less than a 
metre to these units.  It actually touches these units, the way it goes.  If it has to go ahead, if 
we could get about three metres which would allow you to broaden the pedestrian area, if 
that's what you want, it would allow you to put cycle lanes in, which I think are ridiculous but 
you could do it and it would just cut down the wall then, so that it is a practicality.  I don't 
know how this whole thing works.  I don't know whether you actually respond to suggestions 
like this.  I would like to think it doesn't just get buried.  Do you know what I mean? 
 
MS BARTLE:   No.  The process is that we do listen to all of our concerns. 
 
MR HALL:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   These kind of suggestions we can look at and we certainly take them on 
board when making our recommendations as to the impact on you. 
 
MR HALL:   That's comforting.  That's fine. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Because the actual design and final implementation, I know you have been 
told many times that it is not part of this process. 
 
MR HALL:   I do understand, yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, and any detailed design, that would be done at the time of the 
implementation.  We would have to look at again at some of these things. 
 
MR HALL:   Of course. 
 
MS BARTLE:   What is important for us is to hear you and to hear the impact and then for us 
to think seriously about whether the reservation as proposed and how it affects you is 
appropriate. 
 
MR HALL:   Look, that's fine and I certainly accept that. 
 
MS BARTLE:   You are talking about the reservation on the land title. 
 
MR HALL:   We have a puzzling situation as well in regard to this and perhaps it explains 
why the units were not shown on the plans.  It is that nowhere on our title deed is there any 
indication of the existing - I know the existing reservation goes way, way back technically. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   Nothing on our title deeds. 
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MS BARTLE:   No, there is no requirement to put it on titles. 
 
MR HALL:   Yes, I know but it leaves us in a heck of a situation. 
 
MS BARTLE:   I know.  Yes, I do understand your position. 
 
MR HALL:   You know, you hire all these people to do the checking for you before you sign 
and that didn't come up, so that's - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   That was a question I was going to ask you.  Were you aware prior to - - - 
 
MR HALL:   Absolutely not. 
 
MRS HALL:   Everybody is saying the same thing.  "It isn't on our title." 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it's on nobody's title. 
 
MR HALL:   I do understand that.  You are not at the detailed planning stage. 
 
MS BARTLE:   No. 
 
MR HALL:   At least what I am saying now is getting recorded and I am very happy about 
that and as long as it's taken into account. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   I just wanted to make a couple of comments on the traffic. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   I use that section of the highway a heck of a lot.  There was never a traffic jam 
almost anywhere on Stirling Highway until you get right up to where you come off the flyover, 
in other words you're right up in the city, except when school is in.  The danger is - and I can 
accept you would probably say, "Well, look, it's not really affecting you that way," but we say 
that the first day of school holidays, we can get on the highway and, zoom, we're right in the 
middle of the city in minutes.  It actually takes about 10 minutes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   So it's all to do with - the government is in danger here of being accused of 
attacking residents, knocking their houses down, putting people out.  It's all just nonsense 
but that's the sort of idea that comes out through the press, et cetera, et cetera.  The reality 
is the problem on the highway is simply school transport.  It's as simple as that and every 
day I see single ladies - or I shouldn't say ladies - single persons driving four-wheel drives 
with one little tacker in the back and the rudeness and the flouting of road rules is shocking.  
They fight to get on the verge, because they can't park anywhere else, because Johnnie 
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can't walk 50 yards to the school entrance and I understand that.  You know, I'm a 
grandparent now.  My daughter has grown up but I think - I couldn't walk myself, et cetera, I 
know, but the real way of tackling the problem of traffic is to get the schools together and set 
up a system of minibuses picking up from slightly more remote but very quiet areas.  Now, it 
works all over the world. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   I spent most of my working life in Hong Kong.  My daughter lives there now and 
has her little girl going to school and so on but it's amazing how it works there.  It's one of the 
most densely built and populated places in the world. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   Yet these little minibuses, they're all tied to different schools and there's 
different pick-up points and so on.  There is a lady - usually it's probably a volunteer from the 
parents, whatever - on board the minibus to make sure there's no - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   - - - …(indistinct)… I mean, it really works but I think the government must 
pressure these schools into really trying to tackle the problem.  Regardless of our situation 
where we live, et cetera, et cetera, schools like this should not be allowed to actually dictate 
movements on a major road into the city.  It just doesn't make sense, so I have made my 
point.  Pedestrians - sorry, cyclists should not be on that highway either.  It's classed as a 
main regional road, as far as I understand the technical term.  It's too dangerous for cyclists 
and it's too dangerous for others and in fact, they don't use it much.  Parallel to Stirling 
Highway, you've got roads that go up that way.  There are marvellous safe cycle tracks up 
there, so again, it's a matter of a little of discipline and saying, "Look, don't go up the 
highway.  Go a couple of hundred of metres to the left and you can get straight into the city." 
 
I think that there's an awful lot of emphasis placed on cyclists but honestly, they're a very 
verbal and vocal minority and they don't pay road taxes and insurance but that's perhaps a 
little unfair but, you know, I think we have to be realistic about it.  Pedestrians are mentioned.  
It's an extraordinary thing but again, we know Stirling Highway very, very well from start to 
finish.  There are actually very few pedestrians.  People don't seem to walk along.  They 
might walk along because they're going to go to such-and-such a restaurant or something 
but, you know, there's not constant backward and forward flow and my belief is there are 
plenty of crossing places.  Certainly, if we find there are things like old people's homes or 
something like that now which are not well served for crossings, that's a different matter and 
obviously something must be done there but I don’t think it's a huge problem, to be honest, 
so that really is in the main what I wanted to say. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay. 
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MR HALL:   I did make some notes somewhere.  You have answered one.   My second 
question I'm hoping you will answer is can we please discuss the strata title? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, I will clarify that.  I will defer to John but my understanding, that 
statement is just trying to paint a picture of the types and number that are going to benefit 
from a rationalisation. 
 
MR HALL:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   And it includes some strata titles, not all. 
 
MR HALL:   No, no, no, I understand. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, I think that - - - 
 
MR HALL:   It defaults as 200, I think. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that's right. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   In general, yes, the existing reservation over your property is twice the 
width of what's proposed, so in that - - - 
 
MR HALL:   Yes.  Look, I well know that. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, so this - - - 
 
MR HALL:   I know as well as anybody but not before. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   That portion of the amendment report talks about the part of Stirling 
Highway between Jarrad Street and Broadway. 
 
MR HALL:   Yes. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   So including your area. 
 
MR HALL:   Yes, that's right. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Because the proposal is to reduce the 80-metre existing reservation down 
to under 40 metres, it obviously takes a number of properties out to - - - 
 
MR HALL:   I get that. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Not yours, unfortunately. 
 
MR HALL:   I still think logically we qualify but anyway, I think the idea is - - - 
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MS BARTLE:   In title, as a strata title, yes, you do.  Unfortunately, where the road 
reservation as proposed sits currently as advertised, yes, you're not one of the - - - 
 
MR HALL:   No, no, no, I understand but I'm bringing up this as a matter of I would like it 
brought it up.  If you look at where we live, the Star of the Sea Church is there. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   They have some land.  That's fine.  All good for them.  The next one up is - we 
know it's a standard - it's pretty high standard ones.  They are in a much more dense strata 
titled area where this line will go right through the middle of most of them, so again, in the 
future, I know it's not planned yet. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, we are hearing from a number of owners that have concerned like you. 
 
MR HALL:   There's a note in here.  I just refer to it on page 7.  It says - they are talking 
about housing stock and that kind of thing and they are saying, "We know.  We want to try 
and provide alternatives to residents seeking to downsize out of larger homes and remain in 
the area."  Frankly, what's it saying?  "We are the good guys."  Probably the last point is that 
- and it's just something that puzzles me.  When you think of this scheme, it's fairly simple to 
say, "Well, you know, some people may have to go and this is going to cost so much," and it 
will cost an amount. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   But I suppose you are thinking about the services, the electricity and the gas, 
the water, the sewerage.  I mean, I can see the government facing a new stadium, a new 
hospital, et cetera, et cetera, worth of dollars and I can't see a lot sense of it, plainly.  That is 
my view. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that's something we are not looking at in detail.  You are right though.  
All of those things, if implementation was to happen and there were to be reconstruction, 
yes, they would have to look at all in construction. 
 
MR HALL:   Let me close by just saying this.  We - I suppose this was published, the green 
book. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   We got hold of a sworn valuer - I think that's the correct term - and asked him in 
and said, "Well, look there's sort of wording here about, you know, compensation, maybe 
like the difference between the thing," as if this has never happened and I said pretty 
optimistic. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
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MR HALL:   But we thought, well, all right.  Let's get ourselves a sworn valuation and we did 
and I can tell you it was around about 1.2 million for our unit. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR HALL:   The last one that actually did sell sort of 800,000, it's a 40 per cent reduction 
purely on the basis of people's perception of what is going on, not necessarily what the 
government has actually done but the publication of this, plus the newspapers and all of the 
rest of it.  That is fact. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Perceptions versus reality, isn't it? 
 
MR HALL:   Yes.  I'm afraid, yes, that's it, so I'm very grateful for the chance to come in 
here. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Corinne, did you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, I have just been studying your map. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   No, I'm pondering the suggestions. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Well, we appreciate you coming in and the effort you have put into your 
submissions. 
 
MR HALL:   Thank you very much. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We have got quite a long way to go in this process. 
 
MR HALL:   I understand. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So it will be at least 12 months, probably. 
 
MR HALL:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   There is actually no set end date to an amendment.  It could well sit for a 
long time but the anticipated time at this point in time in approximately 12 months. 
 
MRS HALL:   What, to a decision? 
 
MS BARTLE:   To a decision. 
 
MR HALL:   That includes putting it to parliament. 
 



 
6.11.13 47 Mr & Mrs Hall 

MS BARTLE:   That's right.  That's going through the full process to parliament.  You will in 
time get a response but I can't tell you when that will be. 
 
MR HALL:   So I must put my address down as Karrakatta then.  No, I don't intend to be 
there.  I do not intend to be there.  Thank you so much for your time. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Thank you very much. 
 
MR HALL:   Thank you. 
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MR LOUIS KENT 
representing himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   These are the public hearings for the rationalisation of Stirling Highway road 
reserve.  I'm Megan Bartle.  I'm the chair.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae.  This is Kent 
McDowall. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Hi. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We're the panel and our technical support comes from John O'Hurley from 
the Department of Planning. 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Hi.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Just to recap, we represent the WA Planning Commission in these hearings.  
So we're their ears.  Our role is to have a look at your submission, which we have, and also 
to allow you time to give a verbal presentation to recap on that and to reiterate and ensure 
that we are across the concerns and issues that you may raise.  We've allowed 15 minutes 
for your presentation which will allow some time for discussion at the end of that.  As they're 
public hearings, they are being recorded.  A transcript of that recording along with 
recommendations will become public record.  So I'll hand over to you and ask if you could 
start by stating your name and then just going into whatever you'd like to.  Thank you. 
 
MR KENT:   Thank you.  My name is Louis Kent.  I am currently a resident of Hilton but I 
used to live in North Fremantle.  That's where friends and family live, so it's where the 
interest comes from.  I should probably start by saying I haven't prepared a 15-minute - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   No, that's quite all right.   
 
MR KENT:   Actually because it was quite a while ago I put this submission in, I had a 
re-read of it last night just to refresh my memory and I thought it covered just about 
everything I wanted to say.  There's not a lot more to add to it but I thought the best way to 
start would potentially be to ask - because I had a look at the proposal and I understand 
there are some merits to it but I was just wondering if it was possible to get some indication 
of why it had been done in that way, what the benefits are that caused that proposal to be 
put forward, because it seems like a very limited section of additional lane there on the 
southern side of the traffic lights.  To me it didn't seem to add up, so I was just wondering if 
there was any additional information that could be given.   
 
MS BARTLE:   The reservation as proposed is based on information from Main Roads 
which is based on current standards for safety and giving priority to buses at traffic lights and 
things, which is where that section of additional road reserve has come in in Queen Victoria 
Street.  Is that where you're talking about?   
 
MR KENT:   Yes, Queen Victoria Street, just next to - - - 
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MS BARTLE:   So that's where that has come in.  I'm probably jumping ahead a bit here but 
just to let you know, we've been out on site and had a look there.  We've had a number of 
submissions because there were a lot of submissions from North Fremantle on this issue 
and it's going to be the recommendation of this committee that that bus lane is taken out of 
the design.  Main Roads have had a look at it.  John will show you on the plan.  We've had 
technical input into that and it's believed the merits that can be gained from bus queue jump 
lanes, that could be gained at other lights but not necessarily gained here. 
 
MR KENT:   Yes, okay.  No, that's consistent with what I put in my submission because, 
because there is the single lane immediately preceding it - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR KENT:   I understand the benefits of it and I personally don't even own a car at the 
moment, so I rely on buses, trains and cycleways but in this case it just didn't seem to add 
up.  So I'm happy.  Yes, in that case I probably don't need to bang on about all of the 
reasons why there should be a bus lane there. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay.   
 
MR KENT:   The other bit was the cul-de-sac at the eastern end of Jackson Street.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
MR KENT:   Before I get into that, have you got a position that you may - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   We haven't got a position on that, though it is something that we are, yes, 
aware of and having a look at.  It's, I think as Kent would say, I don't let me put words in your 
mouth, if it was sensitively done it would work quite well and from a safety perspective 
cul-de-sacing that road seems to make some sense.  It's just how it's done but to minimise 
impact on the community.   
 
MR KENT:   The idea is to minimise cars crossing over the northbound lane to get into 
Jackson, is it? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   I think it's to prevent traffic out of Jackson into Queen Victoria. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Into Queen Victoria. 
 
MR KENT:   Okay.  I would imagine the risk is more associated with - if you're coming out of 
Jackson, turning on to the southbound lane, because turning on to the northbound lane, 
you're not crossing - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:  So it's turning right, yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right.  The right turning is the problem. 
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MR KENT:   So if there was a median strip in the middle - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   I think you need to be aware of the thing that's not spoken about. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Of the Curtin Avenue. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   That's the Curtin Avenue which is what the problem is.   
 
MR KENT:   Yes, okay.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Which is not actually part of this amendment.   
 
MR KENT:   That was only one scenario. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, and it's not part of this amendment but all the design work at this stage 
again is not designed to be implemented necessarily - at this stage.  It is really looking at 
current standards but that proposal for Curtin Avenue, John, that has been taken into 
consideration, has it not? 
 
MR O’HURLEY:   The design, yes.  The impact of Jackson Road is - there are a number of 
safety issues there.  The one that Main Roads often refers to is I think the one you're 
mentioning in regards to right turns and left turns.  Coming from the north to turn right into 
Queen Victoria Street and to Jackson Road is obviously a risk of an accident because where 
a car is actually turning right, vehicles may interpret them as continuing along Queen Victoria 
and also the proximity of the local street intersection to what is and will continue to be a 
significant and major intersection, so Main Roads generally calls that there shouldn't be a 
local street intersection so close to traffic lights, generally, just for confusion of where 
indicating traffic is actually going to go. 
 
MR KENT:   Yes.  So in the current layout of the road there - I understand the risk of cars 
coming from the north, heading to the south and then if they turn into Jackson Street there. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Turning across.   
 
MR KENT:   As I mentioned in my submission, we often sit out the front of the townhouses 
there.  The residents there, even if you're not a resident and you're just visiting, you'll 
definitely hear tyres squealing where people assume they're continuing on and merging and 
they end up stopping to - in fact a lot of it is just from people not being able to merge.  You 
hear a screech and then you see both cars continue down Queen Victoria Street but as I 
mentioned in my submissions, if you had a median strip down the centre there to stop 
southbound traffic turning into Jackson and to stop traffic exiting Jackson and turning south 
then that would - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Turning right, yes.  It's all the right hand mergence, isn't it?   
 
MR KENT:   Yes.  Turning left into Jackson Street is not unsafe. 
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MR O’HURLEY:   And turning left from Jackson.   
 
MR KENT:   From Jackson Street is not unsafe.  So the cul-de-sac while it stops the 
problem also has negative impacts for the residents there, not only making it more difficult 
for residents of Jackson Street to get in but also adding more traffic to Pier Street.  I'm not 
sure what the name of the lane is there.  It's drawn here without a name.  That lane is 
incredibly narrow.  It's so narrow that there's a power pole in the road there which I'm sure 
doesn't meet any kind of standard but - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   No, I'm sure it doesn't.   
 
MR KENT:   So that road is so narrow that you really don't want anything apart from people 
living on that lane using it.  That means that any traffic on Jackson Street would be going 
down Pier Street and Pier Street is a very family friendly street.  You go there and you see 
paintings on the road and the children playing on the road, so while you avoid the right-hand 
turn scenario, I think you could maintain the safety of Pier Street and avoid the right-hand 
turn scenario by having the media strip there instead of a cul-de-sac.  They're the only two 
points I was making.  The main one was that the bus lane but the other one also seemed a 
bit peculiar to me.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes.  You can see then a different solution that would work?   
 
MR KENT:   Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Corinne, did you have any questions?   
 
CR MACRAE:  No, I don't.  I think that's the first time I've heard of a neat little solution - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   A solution, absolutely. 
 
CR MACRAE:   - - - for Jackson and Queen Victoria. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, do you have any questions?   
 
MR McDOWALL:   No argument.   
 
MS BARTLE:   You've been very succinct and thought-provoking for us.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes, it's given me something to think about.   
 
MS BARTLE:   I appreciate you coming in.  Thank you very much.  We've got quite a long 
way to go with the department on this.  We make recommendations to the WA Planning 
Commission and they make it to the minister and so on.  There's actually no end date to 
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amendment but we're anticipating around 12 months that this will be finalised.  So in time 
you will get a response to your submission. 
 
MR KENT:   Sounds good, thank you.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Appreciate your time.  
 
MR KENT:   While I'm here, just on the scenarios with Curtin Avenue, is there any 
information available on that?  I remember seeing a number of scenarios on that one as well.   
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes, the Department of Transport is looking at progressing an amendment 
process similar to this one in the future.  The Curtin Avenue extension is heavily tied in with 
the Fremantle Ports movement.  That would have to go through obviously a public process 
similar to this.   
 
MR KENT:   Okay, so it's just a matter of keeping an eye out.  
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes.   
 
MR KENT:   No worries.  Thank you very much.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.   
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MR JONATHON MCCORMICK 
representing himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Welcome.  These are the public hearings for the Metropolitan Region 
Scheme Amendment for the rationalisation of Stirling Highway Road Reserve, as you're 
aware.  I'm Megan Bartle.  I'm the chair.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae and this is Kent 
McDowall.  We're the panel and we have technical support from John O'Hurley from the 
Department of Planning today.  So just to make you aware, we are representing the WA 
Planning Commission at these hearings.  Our role is to look at your submission and to give 
you an opportunity to speak to that submission and make sure that we're fully across any 
concerns and issues that you may have. 
 
Just to let you know that the hearings are being recorded because it's a public hearing and a 
transcript of that recording, along with recommendations, will become public record.  So 
we've allowed 15 minutes for your presentation or discussion and that will allow a little bit of 
time at the end of it for us to have dialogue with you and make sure we get some clarity.  So 
I'll hand over to you and ask if you could start by stating your name. 
 
MR McCORMICK:   I'm Jonathon Robert McCormick, currently at unit 2/224 Stirling 
Highway, Claremont.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   I have, in regards to the - well, my garage is actually in line - part of the 
garage.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   The setbacks actually encroach onto my unit as well.  They're going to 
rip - well, the edge one metre plus on the corner.  I'm a bit concerned how you're going to - 
where I stand in position.  I mean, I obviously can't take on the government.  I don't agree 
with Stirling Highway.  I think the railway line is probably a better option.  I think Stirling 
Highway is a bit of a band-aid solution to this thing.  However, in regards to a couple of 
things you said - right-hand turn pockets and bus pockets - I'm not sure where in my 
submission - because it was done for me - which one it is. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay. 
 
MR McCORMICK:   It's been a long time.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Both of those things are included in the design at this stage, right-hand 
pockets and - sorry, if I can just provide some clarity for you as to where the design has 
come from.  It's been based on design by Main Roads and current standards of safety for 
this standard of road.   
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MR McCORMICK:   I realise that.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  So it's not a detailed design.  It's not intended necessarily to be 
implemented at this time.  It was really to look at - there's an existing road reserve on Stirling 
Highway which is very, very wide.  Is that appropriate?  Should it be kept?  Should it be 
reduced and, if so, to what would it be to still meet those standards?  So that's how they've 
come to the line at this point in time.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   It's just how they certainly do things.  Like I'm saying with Walter Road, 
which I'm sort of - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   With Walter Road, what I noticed is - living here and actually having 
access to here, I noticed there's about one car that turns right at any one time.  It's actually 
extremely rare for two cars to turn right.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Right.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   Okay, I realise that you're in for the future but they're all character 
houses up here, all been reconditioned, all renovated and not likely to be subdivided 
because they're quite significant, as with the property next door.  My concern is how you 
would do this as you need 10 metres of this side and only - as it says in there - I think it's 
grossly unfair.  It's extremely unfair giving economic advantage, considering I can't really 
take on you people.  I'm just thinking of ways of reducing here.  Why does it have to be - why 
can't it be shut off as a right-hand turn, as there is modern ways of doing things - is that the 
traffic can come in like an enclosed - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   Oh yes.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   I don't know what you call that but, anyway, the other thing is if they do 
put a pocket in, I've done my measurements at 33 metres, which is ample for capacity of 
four cars, easily, with a space of - been down the set of lights, and one and a half to two 
metres car space between them.  So that doesn't even incur onto our brick walls, plus with a 
pocket there's always - no building, nothing here.  Why can't the bus stop be shifted 30 
metres to the west?   
 
All those is reducing - I'm just trying to find out the reduced - but at the end of the day I'm 
coming here to find out what happens if my garage lose - if I lose my garage I've lost my 
property.  How do I get compensation?   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   I want a bit more than - I haven't had any - - -  
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MS BARTLE:   Okay.  Well, there is a process for compensation, most certainly, and there is 
a handout that we can provide you.  John, did you want to outline anything more about it?   
 
MR O’HURLEY:   Yes.  With compensation at an early stage, like if it's before the 
government is going to do the roadworks, a landowner can trigger compensation.  So the 
landowner would write to the commission and could seek that - either ask the commission to 
purchase their property or begin a negotiation for another alternative.  There's a number of 
options for compensation and it's all guided by legislation.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   What percentage are we looking?  My perception is with what my type 
of unit is, I'm at the bottom end of the thing.  I'm at entry level.  I don't think, unless the 
compensation is above - I've read some old language that came with this.  It's a minimum.  
They have to compensate you for market value minimum.  I've been hearing conflict of 
interest is 10 per cent, 6 per cent, so the market value plus 6 per cent, 10 per cent.  What 
actually is it?  
 
MR O’HURLEY:   The compensation is an endeavour to match what the value of the 
property would be without - - -  
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yes, but is that the same as like with cars.  Cars are a lot less than real 
market value.  The government market for a vehicle is a lot less than market value.  
 
MS BARTLE:   No, you - - -  
 
MR McDOWALL:   There's a huge difference in percentage.    
 
MR O’HURLEY:   It's an independent valuation and the valuation is based on the fairest and 
best land use, so the most valuable land use.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   Anyone know offhand what it actually is?  You know, the percentage 
part - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   No, because a valuer would have to look at your land.  
 
MR O’HURLEY:   It's not a percentage.  
 
MS BARTLE:   And it is set down in legislation.  It's not something that this panel can go into 
today.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   Okay.  
 
MS BARTLE:   It's worth having a read of that and then perhaps if you've got more 
questions, ring the department and get more information regarding the conversation. 
 
MR McCORMICK:   I tried to but I get misleading - like there's only one submission put in, I 
find out three - I had a hassle with just ringing people here.  I didn't find it very helpful, 
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actually more frustrating than anything.  So what's our purpose here, just to get some ideas.  
Like what I'm doing is just - does the bus stop have to be there?  Why can't - I mean, all the 
Asians have to go to the university.  It'd be 30 metres difference short of that.  So you people 
don't see things like that because I actually live at the place. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   And that's what I'm trying to put forward.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's what we need to hear from you.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That's the purpose of us being here, to actually hear what you are observing 
and, you know, take that on board - - - 
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yes.  You really wouldn't want to hear what I observe.  My observation 
is the government brought the immigration in that has caused all this problem in the first 
place, a slap in my face.  I mean, when I bought the property - you don't get any - you get 
two seconds to look at the paperwork and the one bit of paper I found that had a line through 
here, it didn't even reference to anything and I did ask the person, "What's this?"  "You don't 
need to worry about it."  Well, I am actually worrying about it after 15 years.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, certainly it's - - - 
 
MR McCORMICK:   And I haven't slept very good over all this.   
 
MS BARTLE:   No.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   This is just - but who do I see?  I mean, it's just going around in circles.  
I'm just going around in circles here until someone says - you know, I can see the noose is 
going around my neck.  I know what's happening, you know.   
 
MS BARTLE:   The thing is until it's finalised, this amendment is finalised, that's the process 
that we're trying to get through. 
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yes, I know.  I mean, it's - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Unfortunately we can't give any assurance.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   - - - supposed to be going to parliament at the start of this year.  We're 
at the end of the year.   
 
MS BARTLE:   No.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   That's what I was told. 
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MS BARTLE:   Well, let me assure you this has actually got a long way to go.  It's probably 
at least another 12 months before it's finalised and that's probably no comfort to you if you're 
feeling uncertain and unhappy about the situation. 
 
MR McCORMICK:   Well, the main thing is why is it 10 here and 2.7 on the other side?  I 
find that quite disturbing.  It's so unfair and how am I - I don't believe that I would get 
compensation enough to actually relocate in the area.  I believe once - if I have to sell up, I'm 
out of the area which is then - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   I can't provide you with any answers on compensation I'm afraid and the 
actual, you know, design of this is - the technical side of the location widths is beyond this 
panel's ability to answer as well.  All we can do is, you know, as I said, listen to you, take into 
consideration that and in our recommendations again give good reference to you and other 
people like you that feel similarly.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   The main thing is just to clear up some things like okay, if you shifted 
that by two metres and the garage is still in but is the separate - still there?  It still causes a 
problem with - I mean, how do they compensate - like this area here will be compensated 
but what about - I'm not interested in how is that - being on common ground, part of it's - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   As I said, I can't answer any questions on compensation, I'm afraid.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   Okay.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Other than to say that there are processes for compensation.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Okay.  Who will I see - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   We could just take that on notice really and if there's anyone able to assist 
Mr McCormick - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Get them to contact, yes.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Get them to contact you.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So we can certainly pass that on.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Today is just about, what, just some information like can I get the bus 
stop in your plans shifted and things like that? 
 
MS BARTLE:   It's actually not so much about questions.  It's about - you know, you have 
made a submission saying that you have concerns about the impact of this on your property 
and it's to reiterate that.  So again, as I said when we were starting out, we have got your 
submission.  We understand - - - 
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MR McCORMICK:   Yeah, but it doesn't have the actual - this and the bus stop - because 
there's a lot of times lapsing - it gives you more time.  It was shoved in my face after 15 
years.  You get a bit in the paper which I don't necessarily agree with or believe and then it's 
just - like you people - like you seem to be working behind your back - behind - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   If I can let you know that the panel has been out on site and we have walked 
this part of Stirling Highway.  I'm not going to say that I know it like the back of my hand.  I 
don't live there, none of us do, but we certainly understand your concerns and we can 
certainly take them into consideration when making our recommendations as to whether this 
is appropriate or not.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Perhaps I could just ask a question, Mr McCormick.  Your garage is 
separated from your unit by? 
 
MR McCORMICK:   By about three metres.  
 
CR MACRAE:   Three metres.  I suppose - and this theoretical - that if the garage was 
needed, that little corner was needed, it could be relocated against your unit.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yeah; off to the side but they would have to - well, the trouble is mine is 
a freestanding garage - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   - - - and I have access to it - which I have exclusive use to my unit but 
that's only 3.3 metres which is, coincidence, the same as my garage.  The only thing is I've 
got windows and access to the breeze which is - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   They would - someone would suggest a carport.  I don't want a carport 
because what I use - my garage is actually storage plus my car.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   Plus my stuff, I don't want moisture to get in, and a carport wouldn't do 
that.  The only thing is there's land - we have to obtain land here, because what I'm talking 
here - sorry, here, with my garage, there's only access to a 3.3 - a little pathway which is 
access to the other peoples' units - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  
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MR McCORMICK:   - - - and their cars which are parked here.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   The only way you can get around it is buy land next to the neighbours, 
three metres, to make that a driveway, so then people can use their spaces, because we've 
got all - all this is car space; two here plus number 6 or 6 doesn't go on your theory but it 
goes on the set-back.  See the set-back - you've got one issue with the thing and then 
you've got the set-back.  So it throws everybody out and even this garage here which is not 
even in there, that garage - there's a garage next door which is not on this actual red line but 
it would fall into the set-back by two metres.  So I don't know - in the submissions everybody 
has put the whole picture in of the actual complex, you know what I mean. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.     
 
MR McCORMICK:   But you would be able to see with your photo technology now, and you 
know where the set-back is and you know my unit starts here.  You've already measured it 
out.  
 
CR MACRAE:   So the people who have garages inside here, they're access is down this 
side here? 
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yes.  We have only got the one access to one side which is on the 
eastern side.   
 
CR MACRAE:   On the side there, yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, did you have any questions of Mr McCormick? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   No.  I hear what he's saying.  I don't have answers to what he's saying 
but I heard and it's pretty well set out.  You want to know why the reserve is offset the way it 
is, 2.7 on one side and - - - 
 
MR McCORMICK:   I noticed it.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   The only other question is - just show me where the bus - if you could 
just show me where this bus stop is that you're asking - it's on two sheets, it’s on there and 
here - - - 
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yes.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes, it's just there.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   So could you tell me where the bus - - - 
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MR McCORMICK:   It's basically about here.  My unit is - where's 1?  Here is 1.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yeah, yeah, and it goes back over here.  
 
MR McCORMICK:   Right here.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yeah.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So it's right on the - - - 
 
MR McCORMICK:   On the boundary.  There's - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Okay.  So it's in here? 
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yeah.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Okay.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   It's right on the corner, just tucked in the corner between the two 
properties next door, and there's all this vacant land.  They're actually set back - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes, okay.  Thank you for sharing that with me because that helps me.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Because all the uni students, which are 99 per cent, use that bus stop.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Well, walk back up that way anyway to get up to - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   All right.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Any old people that want to get off for the chemist and do (indistinct) 
shift it for a few metres to the west.  I'm just trying to reduce my impact on me.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Those things can be shifted.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   I understand that.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yeah.   
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CR MACRAE:   That's fine.  Thank you.   
 
MS BARTLE:   We appreciate your time, Mr McCormick, and thank you for coming in.  We 
will pass on your details through John and see if there's someone that can contact you about 
compensation.   
 
CR MACRAE:   It will be future compensation, well into the future. 
 
MS BARTLE:   It will be well into the future.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Yeah.  That's what I'm concerned on, is like how do I - with 
compensation, like this could happen in 20 years time.   
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Or it might five.  Can I - that's what I need to know, what my best 
interests for me is.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, and it may well be that you need to get advice beyond the department, 
you need to get professional advice from someone else, but they can assist you with that 
information.  As I outlined, this has actually got quite a long way to go, at least 12 months.  In 
due course you will get a written response to your submission but in the meantime hopefully 
we will find some way of assisting you.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   I will be glad when it's all over.  
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes, I'm sure.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   I understand that.   
 
MR McCORMICK:   I'm a bit naive about (indistinct) there's not much I can do.  It's got to go 
to parliament, doesn't it, unfortunately?   
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes, it does; yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Fortunately or unfortunately?   
 
MR McCORMICK:   Well, they've run out of money, so it might not happen.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Okay.  Thank you, Mr McCormick.   
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MS MARIA CATELLI & MR CLEM ROSSITER 
representing Maria & Anna Catelli  

and the Owner's of Terrara (Strata Plan 1275) 
 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hello, have a seat.  Welcome.  I'm Meagan Bartle, this is Councillor Corinne 
MacRae, this is Ken McDowell for the panel today, and our technical support is from John 
O'Hurley, from the Department of Planning.  Welcome.  These are the public hearings for the 
Metropolitan Regional Scheme amendment, looking at the rationalisation of Stirling Highway 
road reserve, as you're aware.   
 
Our role as the panel for these hearings is to have a look at your submissions, which we 
have got, and give you an opportunity to give a verbal presentation to ensure that we are 
fully across all the issues and concerns that you might have.  As these are public hearings, 
they are being recorded and a transcript of the recording along with our recommendations 
will become public record, just that you're aware of that.   
 
We have allowed 15 minutes for your presentation, so that will allow for a little bit of dialogue 
at the end of that, and we may ask some questions in between, if that's okay.  I will hand 
over to you and ask you if you could just start by stating your names and then just go into 
what you want to say.   
 
MR ROSSITER:  I'm Clem Rossiter, and I'm in unit 5.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.   
 
MS CATELLI:  I'm Maria Catelli, and I'm the owner of unit 7, part-owner with my sister in 
unit 7, and I'm actually the Strata Manager for the complex at 224 Stirling Highway.   
 
MS BARTLE:   All right.  Thank you.   
 
MS CATELLI:  My concerns are what I have actually written in this, my submission, and the 
main thing which I want to do is to emphasise that, you know, instead of having Stirling 
Highway made bigger is to most probably put it where the railway line is there, along Curtin 
Avenue, and possibly sinking the railway line and putting the road above it, technical stuff for 
the planning people to organise.   
 
My other - as it says here, it's in two bits.  If they do make it wider, you know, instead of 
putting the bus stop right in front of where we, we don't really have the land, next door, they 
have got a much more bigger - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   Setback?   
 
MS CATELLI:  Setback, yes, so that's where we would suggest for the bus stop to go, on 
the setback, that part there; so that's my main concern, because we also realise that if they 
do make it bigger, besides taking most of our front bit and Jonathon's garage, like the noise 
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will be higher and the pollution and danger in crossing the road and, you know, so there's a 
lot of problems later on.  So the other part is to actually minimise the impact on Terrara 
Strata complex and there should be no right turn at Walter Road.  That would mean that you 
do not have to resume so much of the land.  I said the second one, the bus stop currently 
earmarked to be constructed Terrara put near lot 11. 
 
The other, we thought there was a bit of a discrepancy between our side, where they will be 
taking 10.2 metres off us, across the road they would only be taking 2.7 metres.  Our 
concern is, once you have taken away all our front area, we won't have any parking; so 
that's where we really need compensation for that.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, okay.   
 
CR MACRAE:   That would be visitor parking, would it.    
 
MS CATELLI:  No, it's not only visitor parking.  Three of our carparks - the complex doesn't 
have - there's two visitor carparks, but next door to Jonathon's garage there's unit 3, unit 4 
and unit 6, all park along there.  That's the way - the complex has an unusual parking 
system.   
 
CR MACRAE:   They don't have garages, but it's parking?  
 
MS CATELLI:  Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   I get you.  Do you want to add anything?        
 
MR ROSSITER:  No, that's petty much what would - - -   
 
MS BARTLE:   So just to clarify, at the moment the existing reserve actually (indistinct) of 
the property, so this is reducing it down to still 10 metres, as you say on your property.  
 
MS CATELLI:  Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Were you aware previously that there was a reservation on the property?  
 
MS CATELLI:  No.  It was really interesting, when we bought the property we didn't actually 
see that line.  I don't think there was one there.   
 
MS BARTLE:   No, it's not required to be on titles.  It's just more whether you were aware of 
it or not?  
 
MS CATELLI:   No; and I would have been in strata management since 2000, so 13 years, 
and so we weren't aware of it then, no.  So when we bought the place we weren't aware of it 
and our real estate didn't point it out to us either.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, you're not alone.   
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MS CATELLI:   Thank you.   
 
CR MACRAE:   I just think in your submission you have made the point that if one unit were 
to be resumed then all units must be resumed because they don't lend themselves to being 
subdivided.  
 
MS CATELLI:   Yes.   
 
CR MACRAE:   I'm not sure if that is the case but - - - 
 
MS CATELLI:   Why we say that is because they're all joined.  So like unit 1, have you got it 
there?  Unit 1 and 2 on this - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   (indistinct) those units.   
 
CR MACRAE:   We've got an aerial - - - 
 
MS CATELLI:   Yes, so that's why you'd have to cut it off from there or, you know, you'd 
have to take out his completely so that for the carparking - because here is where we've got 
the other carpark.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes, that's right.  You've got parking here.   
 
MS CATELLI:   Yes, and there would've been carparking there because the trees aren't that 
big.   
 
MS BARTLE:   There's a bit of shadow there, I think, as well.  
 
MS CATELLI:   Yes.  So you'd actually have to - that's why we say unit 3 starts from there, 
so if you took two, these, you know, just taking that off it would seem to really reduce the 
quality of the person living in there anyway.   
 
CR MACRAE:   So there would be no parking at all for the owners.   
 
MS CATELLI:   No, and these are where the other carparks are.  I mean, these are where 
the other units are so that you have to walk over there and these people just walk straight 
down here to their unit 3 and 4.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay.   
 
MS CATELLI:   And 6.  So they just walk down this side bit.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Right, okay.   
 
CR MACRAE:   That sheds a little more light on it.   
 
MS CATELLI:   Yes, so this is all joined and then we've got two units on top of here, so that 
makes it 11.   
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MS BARTLE:   Kent, did you have any questions?   
 
MS CATELLI:   Here's a better picture. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   That's fairly straightforward.   
 
MS CATELLI:   There, that's what our picture looks like.   
 
MS BARTLE:   I see.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Can I have a look at that?  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
MS CATELLI:   And that's the unit on the top of it.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that sits on the top.  Thank you.  Just to make clear what this process 
is, so this is not about implementing say or building and you're probably aware of that.   
 
MS CATELLI:   Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   This is really about looking at the existing road reserve which is that really 
big one and the process has been to look at that, say is it appropriate; if it's not, based on 
current road safety standards what should it be and that's how this line has been arrived at.  
Now, whether, you know, how it is south to north, you know, that alignment, I can't give you 
an answer on that.  That's a technical issue which Main Roads are not here so I can't 
provide you with that at this point in time.  But these are the concerns that we are hearing 
from other residents as well so it's certainly something that we'll take into consideration when 
making our recommendations to the WA Planning Commission as to the appropriateness of 
this alignment.  There's not much more I could say about that is there, John?  You can't add 
to that?  No.   
 
MR O’HURLEY:   The alignment, about the north-south?   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, north-south.   
 
MR O’HURLEY:   No, it was basically the advice from Main Roads was it was in the 
proximity to Walter and Bay Streets, they felt it was very difficult for the alignment of the road 
to be - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   To swing.   
 
MR O’HURLEY:   - - - swung north, yes.   
 
MS CATELLI:   Yes.   
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MR O’HURLEY:   And it was based on technical transport considerations rather than one 
side of the road versus the other, but it has been brought up.   
 
MS CATELLI:   All right, then.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So, yes, that's the process, this process, which is for the Metropolitan 
Region Scheme.  So anything about implementation is to do with Main Roads and Treasury, 
generally.  At the moment there is no forward budget to do these works and there's no 
program, no project, real, as such, within Main Roads.  Discussions with them is that it would 
possibly be 20 years, if ever.  So this is really about saying there's an enormous reserve 
there at the moment not being adhered to, so what should it be. 
 
MS CATELLI:   Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   We've got a long way to go on this in writing reports and making 
recommendations.  We make recommendations to the WA Planning Commission, then their 
report goes to the minister and so on until parliament.  So at least 12 months from now, of 
the process.   
 
MS CATELLI:   That's good.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So you will get a response in due time, but it is going to take some time to 
finalise.   
 
MS CATELLI:   I'm not going anywhere.  We’re not going anywhere.   
 
MS BARTLE:   But, you know, there have been a lot of submissions on this amendment and 
we understand the community concerns.   
 
MS CATELLI:   Yes.  And actually what I'd really prefer is if the community would be 
encouraged to get out of our cars and walk or catch the train, so that's why - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, which is certainly some of the purpose of the design is to include 
bicycle lanes, get people cycling and encourage people to hop on buses because that would 
therefore give them some priority at lights and things like that.  So that is the intention in 
allowing the reserve to accommodate that - if it's built.  
 
MS CATELLI:   If it's built:  "if", yes.  All right, then.   
 
MS BARTLE:   All right?  So we appreciate you coming in.  Thank you very much.   
 
MS CATELLI:   Thank you.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Give us time, and we'll get back to you.   
 
MS CATELLI:   Thank you very much for your time.   
 
MS BARTLE:   That's all right.   
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MR JOHN SHOWELL 
representing himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Please have a seat. 
 
MR SHOWELL:   I'll introduce myself.  My name is John Showell.  I live at 30 Pier Street, 
North Fremantle.  I'm 74 years old and I have lived in the area for 40 years. 
 
MS BARTLE:   John, can I just interrupt you?   
 
MR SHOWELL:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you for starting.  I'll welcome you.   
 
MR SHOWELL:   Sorry. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's all right.  You beat me to it.  I was letting you get comfortable. 
 
MR SHOWELL:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.  Very good. 
 
MR SHOWELL:   You were all sparing me - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   I know.  It's very quiet.  Full of a lot of expectation.  As you are aware these 
are the public hearings for the Metropolitan Region Scheme Amendment for the 
Rationalisation of Stirling Highway.  So welcome.  Thank you for coming in to see us.  I'm 
Megan Bartle.  I'm the chair.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae and Kent McDowall.  We 
are the panel and we have technical support from Anthony Muscara from the Department of 
Planning today.   
 
MR SHOWELL:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   As you're probably aware, we represent the WA Planning Commission in 
these hearings.   
 
MR SHOWELL:   Sure.  
 
MS BARTLE:   We have a copy of your submission, your written submission.  This is an 
opportunity for you to give a verbal presentation and just make sure that we're fully across 
the points that you wanted to raise.  We've allowed 15 minutes for that presentation which 
will allow a bit of time for dialogue at the end.   
 
MR SHOWELL:   Okay. 
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MS BARTLE:   As these are public hearings, they are being recorded and a transcript of the 
recording along with recommendations will become public record.   
 
MR SHOWELL:   I have no secrets. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Good.  I'll hand over to you then.  Thank you. 
 
MR SHOWELL:   I suppose one reason I decided to make it is probably I'm one of the oldest 
people that has lived longest in North Fremantle.  I shifted there because I bought a 
business which is called the Noven Shop at the time and I turned it into what became the 
Stone Crow Winehouse and it became an iconic music venue and still is, happily.  It has 
gone through a little bit of reformation and stuff but it's basically the same as it was in format 
to when I kicked it off.   
 
We were sort of like the sounding board for a lot of musicians and bands that were just 
starting and had nowhere to go.  Ours was the venue.  We were the only ones at the time.  
Bands like No Fixed Address which sort of became Yothu Yindi, you know.  When they first 
came to me and said, "We're an Aboriginal band" and they expected me to go, "Shock 
horror.  No, sorry, we don't do that sort of thing," I said, "Well, what do you play?" and one of 
the guys said, "Look, can I give you a little bit?"  He had his guitar there and he gave me a 
little bit of intro of what sort of music and I said, you know, "It's basically Reggae, Aboriginal 
Reggae."  I said, "It sounds all right to me."  They were a huge success and within probably 
eight weeks we couldn't afford them any more because they'd hit the big time, you know.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
MR SHOWELL:   But that was a badge of honour, when a band told you, "Sorry, John.  We 
just can't afford to play there any more.  You know, it's too small a venue."   
 
MS BARTLE:   That's great. 
 
MR SHOWELL:   You know, you cop it and that's the way it went but in doing so, by starting 
this little venue there it was sort of like it was the start of a little bit of recovery of that little 
part of North Fremantle that had just become a corridor and a corridor of nothing.  It meant 
that a few people - because when I shifted in there were just antique shops.  There was 
nothing else and as you know, an antique shop is quiet until occasionally a car calls in, stops 
and someone calls in, but that's all there was. 
 
I saw the Old Town Hall over the other side of the road.  That belonged to the ballet 
company at the time and I thought, well, there's a little bit of life left in North Fremantle.  It 
took a long time for things to build up a little bit and would you believe at one stage the 
buildings that the current scheme wants to smash down, someone else wanted to smash 
them down in 1977.  It was a consortium of developers that wanted to do the same in North 
Fremantle as was done in South Fremantle, a long retail strip.  They had all the guys on the 
southern side on board.  The old Jewish lady that owned the big tall buildings in North 
Fremantle and I believe the relatives or her heirs - I think she has died and her heirs still own 
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them but she was just like, you know - one way or the other she didn't particularly want to 
sell them but she was being persuaded.   
 
So I was the piggy in the middle there.  I had a business but I only had a lease and I didn't 
own the building but fortunately for me the owners of the buildings were a couple of 
winemakers up at Toodyay, the Woods brothers.  They were lovely people and I went up 
and I said, "Look, I'm actually selling your wine but it looks like I could be completely 
squeezed out," and I know that the developers have already made overtures to the Woods 
brothers.  Anyway, they were nice guys and I said, "If I could raise some money, can I buy 
the property off you?"  They said, "Yeah, as long as, you know, can we have some sort of 
agreement that you'll still buy my wine and what have you?" and I said, "Yeah, sure."  They 
were really lovely old guys and so I rushed around the banks and what have you and I raised 
the $75,000 to buy that property.  The house next door which is now a beauty salon.  That 
was also sort of part of that property. 
 
Once I got the title of that, this other scheme just evaporated because I let out that I certainly 
wasn't going to sell.  It gave me security and I held that business for the next eight years.  Bit 
by bit the house over the road became Harvest Restaurant and then, you know, in recent 
years, as you probably know, Mrs Browns started and now there's just a little bit of life, a 
little bit of what formerly was a very vibrant community but as you probably know in history, 
in the 60s, David Brand just demolished half of our community in North Fremantle for the 
sake of railway yards for the Ford Factory and of course the fuel companies which are now 
redundant, as you probably know.   
 
The fuel companies are only there because they used to unload fuel in 20-litre containers in 
a wooden box years ago, and so they got a foothold all around North Fremantle there, to 
unload the fuel and store it in sheds.  Of course because they had the depots there already, 
when they established the refinery, BP refinery down at Kwinana, they piped it all to these 
depots.  This was costing them money today just maintaining these pipelines and what have 
you.  For what?  I mean, nowhere else in Australia, I don't think, a beach suburb has been 
just obliterated for the sake of oil companies and a railway yard. 
 
By demolishing half a suburb, that led to the demise of North Fremantle and of course, as 
you know, eventually the town of North Fremantle became - you know, because half of it 
was gone, so it went back to being part of Fremantle Council, but with the few buildings that 
are left there and this vestige of the community - and of course over the other side of the 
highway, we're pretty well dislocated but we've got this lovely little part of North Fremantle, 
the bowling club.  The bowling club has essentially become sort of like the headquarters if 
you like of the community spirit and what have you in North Fremantle.   
 
I take my life in my hands every time I go from Pier Street across there because I've got two 
sort of like double highways to cross.  I had hoped that when the Fremantle Council said 
they were going to calm down Queen Victoria Street, right where the old iconic buildings are 
and what have you, that somehow or other they could kid the government, the planning, to 
have an underground access, so sort of us on the railway side weren't so cut off but nothing 
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has happened and now the current idea is to cut us off even more by widening the roads and 
making the traffic faster.  It's just not right.  I don't think it's right.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.   
 
MR SHOWELL:   I travel a lot around the world and everywhere I go I see where roads are 
upgraded and widened and they are instantly full of cars.  Look at Bali.  Everyone now in Bali 
wants a car, so they upgrade all the roads and there's 3 million people on that island in a 
very small area. They all wanted cars, so now it takes you one hour, at least one hour, 
sometimes two hours, to get from one side of the island to the other and traffic here is going 
the same way.  There's a thousand vehicles, new vehicles, on the road every week.  By just 
widening a road for - I mean, by widening for bus stops do you think everyone is going to 
suddenly travel on the bus to Fremantle?   
 
MS BARTLE:   No.  Let me explain a couple of things.   
 
MR SHOWELL:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   The panel have been on site and had a good look around North Fremantle.  
The Queen Victoria Street intersection with 205 Stirling Highway is a really important 
intersection obviously and for that whole community.  So having looked at that and had 
some technical advice in that regard, the bus lane that has been added in there which would 
actually have a detrimental effect on the properties, we're recommending that that be 
removed from the plans. 
 
MR SHOWELL:   Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So you'd end up with the same road as you've got at the moment.  The road 
reserve that is there at the moment is not planned to be widened.  It actually is the same as 
the existing reserve which goes right up to the building walls, and the reserve allows for 
footpaths and things like that.  Nothing would actually change in Queen Victoria Street, so 
there's no proposal as a result of this to affect the buildings and really Queen Victoria Street 
is under the jurisdiction of the City of Fremantle working with the State on that because it's a 
slightly lower ranking. 
 
MR SHOWELL:   How do you plan for us people in Pier Street and Jewell Parade to actually 
be able to go to Fremantle in a few years' time?  How are we going to get there?  How are 
we going to get out of the road?   
 
MS BARTLE:   The road network won't change, so - - - 
 
MR SHOWELL:   It was me that originally rang up and requested no standing any time at 
the end of Pier Street and also on Jackson Street. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
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MR SHOWELL:   But Jackson Street entry for us is extremely dangerous because you've 
got a couple of cars waiting for the lights and you cannot see whether some guy either 
speeds, goes through a red light - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Is going to wait or not, yes. 
 
MR SHOWELL:   - - -  or goes late on an orange going through, and you're wanting to turn 
right up into Queen Victoria Street and you just edge your car out a little bit at a time and, 
you know, peripheral vision, taking it all in, taking it all in, and it can be still quite dangerous 
there.  It really needs, you know, more signs - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, this design is actually to close Jackson Street at Queen Victoria Street, 
that would become a cul de sac.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  Okay.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So that, because of the safety reasons, that's what Main Roads has 
designed.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  So everything will be going down Pier Street?   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, you know the area better than me.  All I know is what is proposed as a 
part of this amendment, which is really about the actual road reserve.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   It's not about implementation, so it's not about actual construction, that is a 
different program and a different project that would be done by Main Roads once they get 
funding from treasury, which is not allocated at this time.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  Okay.  What I can tell you, it's extremely hard and dangerous and arduous 
to get out of Pier Street on the southern end to go towards Fremantle, because the semi-
trailers now are getting all the big B-Doubles and what have you, and some of them don't 
take any notice of  don't, no standing over the end of the street there; but we need - there's 
writing on just one inside lane, but it needs it on the second lane as well, because if we are 
going towards Fremantle, we have got to get in that lane to be able to turn at the lights, don't 
we?   
 
MS BARTLE:   Right.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   You've got to cross lanes.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  We have got to somehow get across this traffic to get in the right lane to 
Fremantle, so it's getting harder and harder, you know, for us to get out of our streets.  
Sometimes, when it's really busy, I go into Jewell Parade and I go through the liquor shop's 
carpark, because it's the easiest place to get onto that bit of Queen Victoria Street.   
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MS BARTLE:   Right.  These are certainly issues of local concern, and I understand where 
you're coming from.  They are things that the City of Fremantle could perhaps discuss with 
you further, because they are things that they can work with you on.  They are a bit beyond 
this committee because we are looking at Stirling Highway.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  When we (indistinct) there was no container traffic at all when we moved to 
Pier Street.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, and I saw that in your submission that the container traffic is causing 
some real local disturbance.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  I think - what's going to happen?  I ask you as planners or what have you.  
There's 70 hectares out that has been reclaimed from the land.  It was much bigger than the 
Port Authority originally told us, and they have made that, and it's a huge area of land, and 
that's open for all businesses and what have you, and all of them have got to exit down 
Tydeman Road or Cottesloe, whichever way, to Tydeman Road is just going to be absolutely 
clogged when all that comes into it.  Any other questions?   
 
MS BARTLE:   Any other questions?    
 
CR MACRAE:  No, I think you have already answered one of the things I had in mind.  No, 
thank you.    
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, have you got any questions?   
 
MR McDOWALL:  On the plans it showed a connection, a future connection of Curtin 
Avenue into Stirling Highway, just north of Jackson.  
 
MR SHOWELL:  Yes.   
 
MR McDOWALL:    Yes, we have heard in discussions with many people from North 
Fremantle there was also an alternate to go down Tydeman and - - -  
 
MR SHOWELL:  It wouldn't work.   
 
MR McDOWALL:    It won't work?   
 
MR SHOWELL:  It won't work because two traffic - if you've got three traffic lights all within 
100 metres of each other, within 100 metres, with these big B Doubles or what have you, it 
would become absolutely gridlocked.   
 
MR McDOWALL:    Okay.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  Unless you had programmed lights that went, all lights went - - -  
 
MR McDOWALL:    And that's going to make your Pier Street thing even more difficult.   
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MR SHOWELL:  It is, yes, well - and at the moment we, you know, one of the things that's 
really pissing us off at the moment, if you don't mind the term, is that people that want to go 
to Claremont coming from the port, and they see the traffic lights there, and they know that 
we are a short cut, and they just quickly turn a leftie, and they're in a hurry anyway, so they 
scream down out street, you know, and we've got 12 little kids under the age of 10 on our 
street, and it's a very community-minded little street with kids and dogs and things like that, 
and these people who are in a hurry to Claremont, or wherever it is, they go down and they 
get shouted at by me and a few other people.   
 
MR McDOWALL:    Yes, so there is a local issue there that's beyond our - - -  
 
MR SHOWELL:  There are all sorts of issues.  I know that you're not here to settle all sort of 
local council issues and things, but I can only just tell you from our - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, and we appreciate that.   
 
MR McDOWALL:    We appreciate that, because it helps build the picture.   
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right, a local perspective.  I appreciate your time.  Thank you very 
much for coming in.  
 
MR SHOWELL:  No worries.   
 
MS BARTLE:   We have got quite a long process to go through with report writing and 
recommendations and things.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  I know.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So there's actually no end date to an amendment like this, but we're 
anticipating around 12 months it should be finalised, so in due course you will get a 
response to your submission.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  I thought I'd come in because I thought you would probably have no idea of 
that development scheme to smash all the buildings - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   Previously, no; I didn't know about that, no.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  No.   
 
MR McDOWALL:    It doesn't change much, does it?   
 
MR SHOWELL:  Sorry?  
 
MR McDOWALL:    It doesn't change much - - -  
 
MR SHOWELL:  No, but it wouldn't have worked anyway because, as we all said, the traffic 
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moves - the traffic in South Fremantle where it worked, the traffic was all slowing down a bit 
as it got out of Fremantle, right, so people could turn in, but where it was, you know, on that 
conduit, it wouldn't have worked because traffic would go too fast and wouldn’t be 
turning - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:   Too fast, and speeding up, isn't it, yes.  All right.  Thank you very much.   
 
MR McDOWALL:    Thank you, John.   
 
MR SHOWELL:  Thanks for hearing me.   
 
MS BARTLE:   That's quite all right.  Thanks a lot.  Bye bye.    
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MR GABE PARKIN 
representing Chris Leighton 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Welcome.  As you are aware, the public hearings for the metropolitan region 
scheme amendments - - - 
 
MR PARKIN:   I am not all that aware of what is going on.  I've been interstate.  My mum 
passed away recently and I have been dealing with that and I just got back and was asked to 
fill in for one of my business partners. 
 
MS BARTLE:  There's a Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment for the rationalisation of 
Stirling Highway road reserve, so it's an existing road reserve that has been looked at by the 
Department, so the panel here is - I'm Megan Bartle and I'm the chair.  This is Kent 
McDowell and we have Councillor Corinne MacRae, and we have technical support from 
Anthony Muscara here today from the Department of Planning.  So we represent the WA 
Planning Commission in these hearings today.  The written consultation time for the public 
has closed and those who put in submissions had an option to have a public hearing.  This is 
what it's about.  
 
We have a copy of the submission from Chris Leyton, is it.  We have a copy of that that we 
believe you are representing.  This is your opportunity to give us a verbal presentation 
hopefully on what you know the issues to be and what your concerns are so that we have 
a - - -  
 
MR PARKIN:   I guess our concerns are how the adverse impact might affect business in 
North Fremantle.  North Fremantle, over the last few years, since we became involved at the 
bar has become more vibrant and it is going to become more and more so.  There's going to 
be another bar and another restaurant opening in the next probably four months or so.  It's 
becoming a destination in its own right, and for our business that's very good.  I'm not 
exactly sure how far up it extends, like what are you knocking down and - - -  
 
MS BARTLE:  Let me just explain a couple of things.  There's no intention to do any works 
at this time.  
 
MR PARKIN:   No - ten years down the track - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:  Just let me explain it.  Well, if at all, so that's a whole other process with Main 
Roads Department and Treasury, so this process is looking at the road reserve.  You are 
particularly interested in Queen Victoria Street? 
 
MR PARKIN:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:  Just let me get the plans for you.  This is the Stirling Highway coming down 
through here.  This is Queen Victoria Street, which continues on, and Mojo's is about here.  
At the moment the road reserve as shown is actually reflecting, other than this bit here, what 
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is existing, so the buildings at the moment are already built right up to the road reserve.  
That's not intended to change, so the footpath and everything as it is currently exists within 
that reserve. 
 
MR PARKIN:  So this yellow section here is what is going to change, yes? 
 
MS BARTLE:   That is what is proposed, which is for a bus lane to get to the lights.  This 
committee has been on site and we have had a look at it and we've had technical support, 
and our recommendation at this stage is that that bus lane be removed from the plans so 
that the impact - - - 
 
MR PARKIN:   It just seems a little excessive for a bus lane. 
 
MS BARTLE:  Yes, and the technical support have looked at it and Main Roads and others 
have looked at it and said that perhaps it's not going to achieve what was hoped and what 
could be achieved at other lights by putting in that kind of lane, so the recommendation - 
obviously we don't know the outcome because we don't make the final decision but our 
recommendation is that it not be included. 
 
MR PARKIN:   Okay.  
 
MS BARTLE:  That only shows part of the road.  It's just that intersection that was the main 
impact. 
 
MR PARKIN:   So it's not going to affect the - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:  There is some impact, yes, but what it's based on, the design is based on 
and the road reserve line is based on - what Main Roads at the moment - what their current 
standards are for safety for a road of this order, which is a highway. 
 
MR PARKIN:   From a Fremantle perspective I think a lot of people are sort of questioning 
why we need to widen the roads and not rely more on public transport. 
 
MS BARTLE:  Actually the bus lane would improve public transport flow.  That's the aim of 
it. 
 
MR PARKIN:   I don't think that it's necessary. 
 
MS BARTLE:  As I said, this is not about widening the road at this stage.  It's about setting a 
reserve for safety reasons.  It's not about implementing it.  We've got a lot of submissions 
from North Fremantle residents, and we have had a lot of people come in and we're telling 
them the same thing.  Main Roads would have to put out a program together and actually 
have a separate project for implementation and that would have to have money allocated to 
it from the Treasury budget.  That's not done at the moment and in talking with the 
department, it would indicate that a minimum of 20 years, if at all - - - 
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MR PARKIN:   That's what I gathered.  It was a long way in the future. 
 
MS BARTLE:  Yes. 
 
MR PARKIN:   I guess from a Fremantle business owner's point of view it's just a concern 
on how it's going to affect our trade in the future, which is a long way in the future. 
 
MS BARTLE:  Yes, it is. 
 
MR PARKIN:   Even so, I don't think we would particularly keen on it. 
 
MS BARTLE:  Okay. 
 
MR PARKIN:   Having said that, it is a long way.  I gather there's been more negative 
attitude towards it than support in the Fremantle community. 
 
MS BARTLE:  Generally, yes, the submissions have not been supportive.  They have been 
outlining specific things that are their concerns.  That's not unusual.  People generally will 
write and voice their concerns rather than support. 
 
MR PARKIN:   So if they're looking at buying a property somewhere on this highway in the 
next few years, this could affect the value of that property down the track, or not?  
 
MS BARTLE:  We couldn't give you any advice on valuation of land.   
 
MR PARKIN:   So along here there's no planned change.  It's only where the yellow bits are.  
Am I right? 
 
MS BARTLE:   No.  That's not right.  The red dotted line is the actual reserve.  
 
MR PARKIN:   So all these front yards here are just going to be - - - 
 
MR MUSCARA:   The red dashed line is the new reservation boundary.  It doesn't 
necessarily mean that the road will be built in that reservation boundary.  That's the potential 
area where you might have other services or footpaths and other related uses that would 
complement the road within that area.  Essentially the red line is part of the new reservation 
boundary. 
 
If a building needs to be taken and it can't be modified in a way, there's compensation that's 
paid.  There's a process for compensation to occur but of course bearing in mind in terms of 
the advice we've just had, this is a long-term plan.  We're not going to have development 
occur - the government is not going to go in and build this road in five years' time or ten 
years' time, and it's a massive expense to do that, and there is no time frame attached to it, 
but essentially that is the long-term strategy, as you see on that plan. 
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If all the comments are taken into account and then the committee makes its own 
recommendation to the commission, and then that is progressed further down the track, so 
your comments will be taken on board and considered.  Obviously your interest is (indistinct) 
and Craig Street, isn't it? 
 
MR PARKIN:   I'm renting a house there but I'm sort of in the process of trying to buy it over 
the next year or so, so it's quite possibly going to ruin my day at some stage in the future.  I 
guess it's something to bear in mind, to be aware of in the future. 
 
CR MACRAE:   At least you are aware of it now.  A lot of people have bought houses 20, 30 
years ago, not being aware that there was a reservation through their land, so at least you 
are being made aware of it now, or the potential. 
 
MR PARKIN:   Yes.  How far, like all the way through Mosman Park?  The whole highway, is 
it, that's going to be widened? 
 
CR MACRAE:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:  Not widened.  This is not about widening or anything.  This is about the actual 
existing reserve and looking at the adequacy of it, and so the alignment of that road reserve.  
In this area it is widening slightly to what it was, and in other areas like Nedlands it's actually 
being reduced. 
 
MR PARKIN:  Okay.  What do you mean, to what it was?   
 
MS BARTLE:   I beg your pardon?   
 
MR PARKIN:  You said it has been widened to what it was.  It used to be wide before?   
 
MS BARTLE:   At the moment it's the existing carriageways as they are.   
 
MR PARKIN:  So essentially will you be talking about an extra lane on either side on this 
section?   
 
MS BARTLE:   No.  I can't give you that general advice.  You will need to get that 
through them.   
 
MR MUSCARA:   Yes, that's an indicative desire, just the actual road (indistinct) that has 
been proposed.  I mean, this is just a desire to support the reservation of the land take, but 
that is what is being proposed.  You will see that there's a median lane through - that's a 
long-term strategy anyway, that may change, but that shows the land take area and how the 
road might be built in the future.   
 
MR PARKIN:  Yes.   
 



 
8.11.13 13 Mr Parkin 

MR MUSCARA:   I mean, the entire (indistinct) of this is a rationalisation, so in some places 
the reservation is already on private property and it's not required and it's moving it back to 
where the road is and the reservation itself, and in some cases it is widening the reservation 
to accommodate a wider road; so it is give and take for the length of the amended area.   
 
MR PARKIN:  Yes.   
 
MR MUSCARA:   But there is a process; if it needs to be - down the track if property needs 
to be acquired, there is a conversation process.  That was all explained in the booklet that 
was provided.   
 
MR PARKIN:  Yes, I've been away for a bit, so I might have missed out on a bit of stuff.   
 
MR MUSCARA:   There's a standard process - - -  
 
MR PARKIN:  Is it compulsory acquisition or - - -  
 
MR MUSCARA:   No, it wouldn't be compulsory, no, only if - - -  
 
MR PARKIN:  So the land owners along here - you probably can't tell me, are they likely to 
be happy with what they are offered or not?  
 
MR MUSCARA:   That's a different process.  This committee couldn't answer that question.   
 
MR PARKIN:  Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So Mr Parkins, Chris Leyton is the name on the submission for this.  Is that 
your - - -  
 
MR PARKIN:  Chris, no Andrew Ryan is my business partner.  Chris and Andrew have been 
working together on this.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Right.   
 
MR PARKIN:  I'm not even sure why Chris couldn't be here.  I only found out about it a 
couple of days ago.   
 
MS BARTLE:   That's okay.  We just wondered if there was some association between 
them.  Okay.   
 
MR PARKIN:  We had a couple of meetings just with sort of local business owners and stuff 
in regards to this.  No-one seemed all that sure exactly what the full plan was, and I think 
there is still - because you are going to get negativity from Freo residents about it, 
particularly North Freo, but a lot of them probably don't - haven't been given full information 
about it.   
 



 
8.11.13 14 Mr Parkin 

MS BARTLE:   There has been a lot of information and there has been public forums and 
there has been good reception of those, and tenders; so the department has done 
everything it can to make this an open and public process and to inform people.  If you would 
like information, that is available through the department.   
 
MR PARKIN:  Okay, just on line or to come in here?  You guys have just moved here, have 
you?   
 
MR MUSCARA:   No, we have been here almost two years.   
 
MR PARKIN:  Okay.   
 
MR MUSCARA:   But if you need more information, I can give you the contact details of the 
office that is dealing with this site.   
 
MS BARTLE:   On the table as you came in there's a blue pamphlet that gives most of the 
information about this, so you are welcome to take one of those with you, and you can 
always - there's numbers in there you can phone for additional information.   
 
MR MUSCARA:   If you have got any site specific information about that lot that you're 
talking about, it's probably worth having a discussion in the office (indistinct)  
 
MR PARKIN:  All right.  If not, can I just say this as a resident and a (indistinct) North 
Fremantle, there's probably a bit of apprehension as to how it's going to affect things in the 
long run.  Having said that, it's sort of hard to say and it's a long way down the track, 
20 years.  I might be in a different country by then.   
 
MS BARTLE:   All right.   
 
MR PARKIN:  Can I get the details off you who I want to speak to?   
 
MR MUSCARA:   Yes, I'll write that for you.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay?  
 
MR PARKIN:  All right, thank you, guys.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Bye.    
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MR CHARLIE NICHOLSON 
representing himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hello. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Hello. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Would you like to join us? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Right, which one do you want me in? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Anywhere you would like.  Let me introduce us.  I'm Megan Bartle.  I'm the 
chair.  This is Councillor Corinne MacRae and this is Kent McDowall. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   How do you do. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Good. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We're the panel.  We have technical support from Anthony Muscara from the 
Department of Planning this afternoon. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yep. 
 
MS BARTLE:   As you're aware, this is the Metropolitan Region Scheme amendment for the 
rationalisation of the Stirling Highway road reserve. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yep. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We represent the WA Planning Commission.  We have got a copy of your 
submission and this is your opportunity to verbally go through it and make sure that we're 
clear as to what your points are. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Just to let you know that as these are public hearings, they are being 
recorded and a transcript of the recording, along with recommendations, will become public 
record. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yep, that's all right. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Good. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I've said it all before in public. 
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MS BARTLE:   We have allowed 15 minutes for your submission and that will allow a bit of 
time for dialogue at the end, so I will hand over to you, please. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   All right.  Well, thanks for having me, and everybody else in North 
Fremantle that's got their goat up about this. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I just wanted to clarify something I said in my second paragraph where I 
said, "The planning documentation justifies widening Stirling Highway to create bus lanes."  I 
have worded that poorly because it doesn't justify it at all.  It actually fails to justify it.  I 
probably should have said "argues for" or whatever because - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   "Provides for it", yes. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:    - - - my whole point is that there's no justification for this. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, okay. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   If you want to interact. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, sure. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I'll just go quickly through and if there's anything that you think I haven't 
raised or that I've got blatantly wrong, I'm happy to be advised.  The one issue in there is this 
thing of having a slip lane in Queen Victoria Street to get onto this mythical connection with 
Curtin Avenue, which is another planning exercise altogether - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it is. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:    - - - and I don't believe it's resolved.  I don't believe it has ever been 
satisfactorily - although the documentation argues, you know, in these sort of vague terms 
that the documentation uses that this has all been approved by some community committee 
or whatever.  Well, in fact it was all the people from further up the highway saying, "Oh, 
yeah, you can do that in North Fremantle.  Don't worry about them."  So slipping that slip 
lane in is, you know, a bit of a Trojan horse. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay.  Well, I can give you - - - 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   We don't like it. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yeah.  Do you want me to answer that now? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yeah. 
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MS BARTLE:   All right, so the committee has been on site.  We have had a good look.  We 
have had technical input on that and that bus lane in Queen Victoria Street - our 
recommendation is that it be removed from the plans, and that's supported from a technical 
perspective at this point. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Well done.  Which opens up the broader point, I think, which I will go 
straight into, which is the sort of expansion on some of, you know, the broader philosophical 
issues where I'm ranting on in here about what it does to our - et cetera. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yeah. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Is that as I understand it, this whole thing comes about because we're to 
be guinea pigs for the - I've got to find the bits of paper - guinea pigs for the - yeah, here it is.  
"Since the endorsement of the network city, the DPI has embarked on a process of 
enhancing and refining the role of activity corridors.  This project gives an opportunity to 
develop an on-ground example of an activity corridor."  So to me that's just guinea pig stuff.  
We're being asked to be the trial case for some notion about how the planning might be 
done, et cetera - abstract sort of concept so we wear the brunt of it. 
 
Now, that then translates into the next bit, which is that, as I understand it, SKM set up a 
design criteria, so all this widening road - the documents that are associated with this, the 
SKM concept design report, March 2009 and November 2010, which simply borrow national 
standards.  Now, national standards are always a fraught proposition.  These national 
standards, as I understand it, are developed for greenfields developments. 
 
You know, this is the best case if you're going to go and build something at Ellenbrook or 
somewhere, and it's absolutely not appropriate - if you get an engineer to just come in and 
lay those measured road widths and footpaths and bike paths and all the rest, just roll it out 
like a paint roller across the country, without any regard whatsoever for the local patterns, 
the local transport issues, the way people live and use the highway and/or buildings, you 
know, as their way of life.   
 
So to bring these national standards in - I understand a lot of that.  I've been involved in 
national committees and funding, Landcare funding and all that sort of stuff, where national 
standards exist so the Commonwealth can hand out money and you don't get your money 
unless you meet the national standards, so by default everybody just slips into, "We'll apply 
the national standards."  When I look at this, and, "So the resolution of the ICC providing 
guidance on Stirling Highway carriageway design is summarised as follows" - I didn't ever 
quite pick up who the ICC were but obviously they hadn't driven down Stirling Highway and 
talked to locals, with these standards for central medians and bus lanes and bicycle lanes 
and all the rest of it.  My argument is that none of this design is relevant to most of 
Stirling Highway and particularly not North Fremantle.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, okay. 
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MR NICHOLSON:   That's the fundamental thing; that I think the whole thing has gone off 
track, and so we've ended up with a planning document that's all full of wonderful fairyland 
statements about how this will improve everybody's life and da da da da, when in fact there's 
just going to be demolition.  It's just going to be destructive.  That's why I got cranky about it.   
 
MS BARTLE:   I completely understand where you're coming from.  You're right.  The 
design has been put together to meet current guidelines and safety standards.  It is not a 
plan that has been designed for implementation at this point in time.  It is purely to have a 
look at how wide the reserve should be to meet those standards.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   It's dangerous ground because once you make the reserve that wide 
then the invitation is there for the engineers to go in and do it.  I just don't think - we shouldn't 
go there, you know.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, okay.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   My example is the issue of the cycle path.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Nobody will use the cycle path along Stirling Highway through 
North Fremantle, that area.  As I said in here, I wrote to the Minister for Transport when they 
electrified the railway line and said put a bike path in, a commuter bike path, because we've 
got the difference between commuter bike paths and local recreation or ducking down to the 
shops bike paths.  A bike path along Stirling Highway, it's nice to propose it in theory and I 
can understand Bikewest saying, "Yes, in theory we should have bike paths everywhere," 
but if it's at the expense of knocking down all our buildings and bringing all this uncertainty 
into everybody's lives and so on about "When is this going to happen?" and puts a blight on 
the whole strip while it's all in limbo, it's just a tragic piece of non-planning to me. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay, thank you.  Kent, did you have any questions you wanted to pose? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   I think that pretty well - what I'm hearing you say, Charlie, is that the 
three metres width of bike path along Stirling Highway ought not to happen.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   It's not necessary because we're supposed to have a bike path, you 
know, 50 metres away along the railway line.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Given that a cyclist has a legal right to ride down Stirling Highway, what 
do you think the committee should say or do?   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   The only people who have earned that legal right are some hot boys in 
lycra who don't do it en masse anyway.  They all go down Port Beach Road.  They don't use 
Stirling Highway, so you end up with the odd like commuter cyclist who has decided to make 
use of their legal right, but you go and count bicycles riding on Stirling Highway in that 
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section of North Fremantle through to Mosman Park or beyond.  How many do you see?  A 
couple a day. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's interesting to know.  Like, you live in the area.  Do you feel that there's 
many people using it?  Not really.  No.  They don't, no. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   They don't, not Stirling Highway, no.  Those of us who've given up the 
racing bikes and now travel around on old treadles - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Comfortable bikes.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   - - -  we just duck around here and there and cross the railway line and 
jump through it and so on and we have our own way of getting around.  You can certainly 
tidy that up down through Queen Victoria Street, you know, making a bit more provision for 
cyclists to amble down there but that's a different issue completely from the commuter cyclist 
who wants to get on a bike and go like hell to get to work.  I used to ride from 
North Fremantle into Mount Street when we had the office there when I was at the EPA and 
the whole point of riding a bike is that often it - well, it was quicker than catching a bus, and 
so you want a high speed run.  That's why I said, "Let's have the railway bike path."  They 
built is as far as Grant Street and then as soon as it gets into the premier's electorate it 
stops.  He did promise to finish it in the last election but of course the money has all 
evaporated, hasn't it?   
 
So there's a solution there.  There's a solution to all the perceived problems that are sort of 
generating this in local application, local tweaking of road design.  There are spaces where 
you can put in a bit of a bus lane, so that the traffic can whiz past while the bus toddles 
along.  There's all other ways of doing it, if planners and traffic engineers and whatnot, you 
know, get out there with their tape measures and their glue boards and look at it and say, 
"What can we do here?" because otherwise you're trying to turn it into Great Eastern 
Highway now.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Or the road down to Mandurah or something.  Stirling Highway is still 
Stirling Highway.  This vision that they've painted in here about how lovely it will be with 
trees and all the rest - you know, Tony Blackmore was showing me the photos of 
Stirling Highway full of trees.  That will all go when you do this.  Do you want me to - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   No, no.  Just - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   My question then is - obviously someone who does or has done a lot of 
cycling, if cycling was I guess the word is banned along Stirling Highway, what do you think 
the reaction would be? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   It would probably be - well, I wonder who would react. 
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CR MACRAE:   Because there would be people doing local trips. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   No, no.  People who - - - 
 
CR MACRAE:   They're just going to Cottesloe or - - - 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   People who do local - if I want to ride down to Mosman Park to visit my 
sister or something, I wouldn't go anywhere near Stirling Highway.  You know, there's back 
streets.  There's bike paths.  Mosman Council went through this great exercise of developing 
a bicycle network to service all the schools.  You don't need to go anywhere near 
Stirling Highway.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   So if there was a ban and provided there were optional routes, do you 
think the cycling community might support that? 
 
MS BARTLE:   It's not our position to make that kind of ban but it's just a question - - - 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I know but - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   It's just a question.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I'm sorry.  What I was suggesting is there's no need for a ban because 
the only people who ride on Stirling Highway are the two or three - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Commuters. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   - - -  commuters who, for whatever reason, the alternative the rest of the 
track from Grant Street to the bit from Stirling Bridge through to Tydeman Road or to Port 
Beach Road is disconnected and it's not - it doesn't flow smoothly.  The council, they just put 
in a nice section of bike paths down on Tydeman Road, down Pier Street, but, you know, at 
the end of that, bang you're into Tydeman Road and there's sort of no way to get across.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Corinne, did you have any questions?   
 
CR MACRAE:   No, it was along the same lines as Kent's, the cycles.  It's a very interesting 
issue.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes, because we've got - I mean, not only should we have the railway 
cycle path but there's also the existing Curtin Avenue that turns into Port Beach Road cycle 
path, and there's also the beach one alongside it.  So you've already got - if you finish the 
Grant Street to Fremantle along the railway line, you've got three bike paths running parallel. 
 
MS BARTLE:   The third being the dual use path. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   All within a few hundred metres of each other.   
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MS BARTLE:   So the third being the dual use path in the actual sand dunes? 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, okay.  Thank you very much.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   You have given us a lot to ponder on.   
 
MS BARTLE:   It has.  Charlie, I appreciate your time. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   You've got my phone number.  Any time you like.  Any time you want 
me to walk around or ride around with an engineer or a town planner, I'm available. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Good.   
 
MS BARTLE:   All right.   
 
CR MACRAE:   Thank you. 
 
MS BARTLE:   We appreciate your time and your thoughts.  Thank you very much. 
 
MR NICHOLSON:   I appreciate being able to - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   This committee has got a bit of work to do.  We've got to make 
recommendations.  They've got to go to the WAPC, so we're anticipating at least 12 months 
of work ahead of this amendment before any decisions are finalised.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   You could fix it up very quickly, you know.  You don't have to waste 12 
months. 
 
MS BARTLE:   I guess what I'm saying is in due course you will get a response to your 
submission but we appreciate your time.  Thank you very much.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Then we'll take the activism up to the next level.   
 
MS BARTLE:   As is your right.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   As is our want.   
 
MS BARTLE:   True.   
 
MR NICHOLSON:   Thank you very much.  You've very generous. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Thank you for coming. 
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MR RIC SKIPWORTH 
representing Tish Skipworth and himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Welcome.  As you are aware, these are public hearing for the metropolitan 
region scheme amendments on the rationalisation of Stirling Highway.  I am Megan Bartle 
and I am the chair.  This is Councillor Corrine MacRae, Kent McDowall and we have 
technical support from Anthony Muscara from the Department of Planning this afternoon.  
The panel represents the WA Planning Commission in these hearings.  We have a copy of 
your written submission and this is your opportunity to give a verbal submission so that we 
are quite clear on what your points are. 
 
You have requested a private hearing.  I just wanted to let you know that whilst that means 
that no-one else can enter the room while you are giving your submission, they are public 
meetings and therefore they are being recorded as a matter of record along with 
recommendations.  We have allowed 15 minutes for your presentation. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   I don't think we will require 15 minutes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That will allow for some dialogue with us as well so I will hand over to you. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   Thank you very much.  I missed the first one.  My apologies to the 
committee for that, and thanks for the opportunity to come in on the second occasion.  It 
probably won't take all of 20 minutes because I know that the Heritage Council has put 
through a submission on the basis of properties that will be affected on Stirling Highway.  
Along with my wife, father-in-law and my son I am a resident of 66 Stirling Highway; that's 
our life; we live there.  So I will try to make this not sound like it's a line from The Castle but 
that's what we are talking about today.  It's where I live. 
 
I am mindful that the impact in the plan is not going to be as significant on paper as it is to 
other properties, and I'm also aware that this is not the forum to discuss the merits of public 
transport et cetera et cetera.  Having said that, I will get into why we actually felt that there 
was a need to come.   Part of it was motivated by the Heritage Council who actually said it 
would be good for the committee to get a feel for "this is one of the people who lives in the 
houses that will be affected". 
 
I know that some of the other properties are more commercial and probably of historical 
significance but not actually used by individuals as a residence.  I am a resident so therein 
lies the difference.  I don't know where to begin.  66 is listed in the heritage places.  I went in 
this morning, largely unprepared, to Fremantle Council and found that there was a portfolio 
on my house because of the cultural significance they consider it to have within the 
Fremantle area.  It's a fairly modest place from the front.  It's a split-level worker's cottage, 
1895.  Two brothers actually built the property.   
 
In getting all of this together I highlighted things and took notes and all sort of things but 
sitting here in front of you I just don't think that a lot of it is going to be pertinent because I'm 
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sure that the other statutory bodies have given their presentation on cultural significance and 
historical impact, et cetera et cetera.  I suppose my concern is that we are one of 47 people 
since the house has been built, the owners.  Anecdotally we have a chap living in our street, 
Harold, who is 92 years of age who was also born in our house.   
 
The house then takes on a significance within the area because people know it as 66.  It is 
one of the old properties.  My concern, purely from a structural point of view, is that in 2001 
consulting engineers were asked to do a survey on the place.  The result was - one of the 
findings that was given was the fact that the walls are constructed on limestone footings, 
which were probably placed on uncompacted sub-base and movements of the foundation is 
expected and cracking occurs. 
 
The proximity to Stirling Highway also means that the structure may be subject to vibration 
from a large volume of traffic, and masonry walls tend to be brittle and thus subject to 
damage from vibration.  When you buy a heritage house I suppose you know it's peculiar, it's 
a unique structure.  It is single frontage, but it's actually three stories as you move through 
the house, and that is part of the reason that it was given permanent registry. 
 
You buy a property like that and you expect it to be a labour of love.  You know that there 
are considerations that you have to make before you purchase that because there are 
certain constraints placed upon you as to what you can and cannot do to the building.  You 
are also mindful, I'm sure, that when the brothers built the property they weren't - I think the 
biggest traffic day would have been the coach running from Perth to Fremantle.  Stirling 
Highway is obviously busy, very busy.  I would expect that the proposal will just make that 
even busier. 
 
Had it been a more professional presentation I'm sure someone would have given you the 
stats on what the current road traffic is and what the expected road traffic would be given the 
proposal.  I don't have those stats but I would think reason we are looking at a widening of 
Stirling Highway is to increase efficiency and therefore pick up the traffic.  Looking at the 
plan, the front of my house, the hedge is my last barrier between myself and the footpath.  
The plan then takes that hedge away which leaves the footpath right up to the front of my 
house. 
 
Forgetting all of that, my concern is generally the substructure.  Living in our house is like 
living on the Sydney Harbour Bridge.  You start at one end and you start repairs and by the 
time you get to the end, you go back to the - but you love it.  I know it does sound a bit 
‘castle like’, but we are just keepers of this house because being the 45th owners, we know 
that when our time comes we will pass it on and hopefully other people will become then 
residents of that house and they will be responsible for the upkeep and maintenance of that 
property. 
 
My concern is that if the proposal goes ahead in its current form the widening of the roads 
and the proximity to the front of the house - I'm not an architectural engineer and I would 
have to seek advice on what they would expect that to be, but given that in 2001 they 
expressed concerns, even in 2001 to 2013, I'm sure that the increase in road traffic has 
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been significant.  To imagine what it would be proportionate to the proposed plans and how 
that would impact on the substructure of the house I can't even imagine. 
 
In a nutshell that is really our concern.  As I said, the Heritage Council has probably waxed 
eloquent about what impact this will have culturally, and whilst that concerns me no end, 
primarily I'm a father and a husband a carer and that's what concerns me, what will happen 
to my house as a result of the road encroaching. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  Ken, do you have any questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   How much space behind the hedge to the verandah posts would there 
be? 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   None at all.  It is our barrier between ourselves - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   So virtually from when you walk on the verandah the hedge actually is in 
line with the verandah posts. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   Yes. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Because when you look at a plan you can't actually quite see that. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   No. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   So the hedge is two-foot wide, I suppose. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   It's a substantial hedge.  I have encouraged it.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   Beautifully manicured. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   Google must have gone by at the right time because at the moment it 
looks nothing like that.  It keeps honest people from wandering onto our verandah.  We still 
get the odd incident, as you would do and you expect that, living on a main thoroughfare.  
Most of the entrance, exhibit is made through the rear of the property, through Hevron 
Street, so very few people come through the front door.  It is a facade more than anything 
else. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Looking at it, one would think that 0.3 to 0.4 metres wouldn't make much 
difference but essentially it does make a huge difference because you couldn't grow a 
hedge. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   Looking at the plans, my understanding - I had a chap take me through 
it and he's just said, "It will run right up to your verandah.  The footpath will be walking 
adjacent to your verandah." 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Which would make a significant difference to the quality of life. 
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MR SKIPWORTH:   The other thing, I suppose, that concerns us is the Heritage Council has 
said that one of the more significant aspects of the house is the facade.  That gives us 
limited capability to maybe consider security screens.  I know in South Fremantle a lot of the 
houses that are adjacent to the footpath install not screen - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Roller shutter sort of thing?  That would be shocking. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   Yes.  Someone in Swan Valley is making a fortune off heritage wrought 
iron bars.  We're not even allowed that.  So that would expose our front door to - and I know 
that it's only a hedge but, as I say, locks only stop honest people and hedges only stop - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   It provides a significant barrier. 
 
MS BARTLE:   It provides a psychological barrier as much as anything to people. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   I think for us and for them. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that's right. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   But we can't do anything once that hedge disappears.  At one point, 
when we first took over, we were considering putting a wall up.  Two of the local watering 
holes have since ceased to be and that seemed to have improved the standard of bypasser 
no end, so we are a little more relaxed about it now.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Corrine, did you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   I'm just interested - you said as you move through the house it goes from 
single level to three levels. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   Yes. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Was it constructed like that? 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   It was originally, yes. 
 
CR MACRAE:   Fascinating. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   The history of the house is extraordinary.  It's been a boarding house; 
it's been a shop.  Local folklore has that during the 1930s it was a house of ill repute.  It has 
been a family house.  Each of the four bedrooms on the first floor all had a sink attached, 
which were removed subsequently I think during the seventies.  It was a boarding house.  
Each of those bedrooms has a cellar underneath them that was used for storage, and that 
also contributes to maybe - I would think you would struggle to get approval for that 
nowadays.  I actually have climbed down into the cellar and it's an interesting approach to 
architecture.  It's lovely but it's probably not the way - you wouldn't get it through nowadays.  
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It then drops away down to the bottom floor where there is a kitchen and dining room, and 
then as the stairs go upstairs, it goes to the master bedroom and the main bathroom and 
balcony overlooking North Fremantle.  So it runs up, runs down and runs like so. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   It's a split. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   Yes, and that was one of the things again they make reference in here 
to - it was unique in that sense that they can find no other examples of that around North 
Fremantle.  From the front it looks quite modest.  It looks like a worker's cottage, and when 
you arrive at the back of the building you a little taken aback by the difference. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   So the original land would have sloped away. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   It still does.  The gradient on the property is significant. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   A sufficient gradient to get that split. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   Yes, and as I say, with the cellars underneath, one cellar has been 
renovated and is active and in use. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Can I just ask you one thing on the heritage listing.  Are you aware of the 
curtilage around?  Is it just the building or is it the whole property around it?  Do you know? 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   I believe it's just the building because - I read this last week.  The 
extensions on the back - we have outside laundry, bathroom, showers, et cetera, and that's 
subject to change at will. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   As far as I know - the thing that has been reinforced by Heritage is the 
facade is the significance, so if we want to do anything at all to the facade we have to 
get - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Get Heritage and council approval; because the position for this study has 
been state heritage listed sites certainly have been given recognition and been taken into 
account.  Obviously the property around it is of interest to us as a panel but we have to just 
look at it in context of what else is going on.  Any other questions?  No.  I very much 
appreciate your time.  This has got a bit of a way to go.  We have to make recommendations 
and a report that goes up to the WA Planning Commission and up the chain until parliament 
considers this.  It's approximately a 12-month process still to go.  In due course you will get a 
response to your submission, and there is actually no end date on an amendment like this so 
it could go on longer than that.  We appreciate your time and giving us your full perspective. 
 
MR SKIPWORTH:   Thank you very much for the opportunity. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you.   
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MR IAN DAW 
representing himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Hello.   
 
MR DAW:   Hi.  How's it going? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Good, thank you.  Welcome. 
 
MR DAW:   Thanks.  
 
MS BARTLE:   These are the public hearings for the metropolitan region scheme 
amendment, so you're aware of that.  I'm Megan Bartle.   
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.   
 
MS BARTLE:   This is Councillor Corinne MacRae.   
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.  
 
MS BARTLE:   And Kent McDowall.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   Hi.  How are you going? 
 
MS BARTLE:   We're the panel and we have technical support from Anthony Muscara from 
the Department of Planning.  
 
MR DAW:   Yeah, okay.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So as you're probably aware, I'll just reiterate, that the panel is here 
representing the WA Planning Commission, so we have a copy of your submission and this 
is your opportunity to give a verbal presentation.  
 
MR DAW:   Yeah, sure.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Reiterate that, go over any points, just make sure we're quite clear.  
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.   
 
MS BARTLE:   As they're public hearings, we're being recorded and the recording of that 
and all the recommendations become public transcript.   
 
MR DAW:   Yeah; yeah.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay.  So we have allowed 15 minutes for you.   



 
8.11.13 28 Mr Daw 

MR DAW:   Yeah, sure.  That will be more than enough.  
 
MS BARTLE:   That will allow some dialogue, so I will hand over to you.  If you could start 
just by stating your name.  
 
MR DAW:   Yeah, okay.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Then if you just get into it.  
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.  Well, my name is Ian Daw.  I'm a resident.  I live on Stirling Highway.  I've 
lived there since 1999.  I guess, you know, I'm obviously a regular user of it.  I go up there 
very day.  I used to work in South Fremantle for about five or six years, so I was going one 
way and coming back the other, and now I work in the city.   
 
So I, you know, go up there and come back the other way.  So since the 14 or so years I've 
lived there I've been a regular user but prior to that it was a road I used frequently because I 
lived in the area as well.  So it's a major transport route.  I guess what I've probably noticed 
about it over recent years is that traffic has increased everywhere in Perth I suppose but I 
just sort of feel that the sort of plans I saw in regards to the widening, I did have a number of 
concerns listed but, you know, more about the scale of it.   
 
I think there could be improvements made to sections of Stirling Highway but just the width 
involved and what the proposed widening was and the loss of people's dwellings has been a 
possibility of that - or having the roads up close to your house is obviously a big concern.  I 
think that most of the widening actually wouldn't affect my property because it takes place on 
the other side of the road but I put a list of things down there of what I had concerns about.   
 
I won't go through every single one but I guess a couple of points - you know, being a user 
of it every day, the road is a busy road but my sort of feeling is that the thing that takes my 
journey time into Perth as being a key issue is what has been going on in the city.  I mean, 
basically if I leave at 7 o'clock in the morning, I get a really good run right into the city and all 
the problems - you know, the last one kilometre or two kilometres of my trip takes as long as 
it does to get up there.   
 
The road is very fine in school holidays.  It moves very well.  I'm probably telling you stuff 
you already know.  The school congestion starts probably about 7.30 in the morning and 
goes for an hour.  Outside of that I usually get a pretty good run up and down.  To put a 
huge widening scheme in at considerable expense, I'd be sort of really recommending a 
couple of other options, one being - which I did put in there - looking at improving the public 
transport - I mean, buses.  The buses that currently operate up Stirling Highway, not many 
go from - you know, basically from Fremantle all along Stirling Highway and the city.  There's 
one I think that does the circle route and that's only a few buses - or as far as I'm aware, it's 
not one an hour or something, so it's very infrequent. 
 
So I think if there was a bus into the city - I mean, there is a train but a bus up to the uni, for 
instance, would encourage people a lot more to use public transport.  At the moment they 



 
8.11.13 29 Mr Daw 

sort of have to go to Claremont and then they have to get off and get on another bus to get 
up there, as I understand it.  That to me seems, you know, not the best use of the public 
transport system.  The buses aren't really that frequent. 
 
I saw there was talk about making a cycling lane.  I mean, I'm all for - I cycle.  I have cycled 
to work from where I live.  Well, I've done 5000 kilometres this year, in addition to driving.  I 
probably cycle as much as I drive.  There is no way known under any circumstances I'd go 
up Stirling Highway on a pushbike and I think if there was a cycle lane there, there's still no 
way I'd go up Stirling Highway on a pushbike because of the volume of traffic. 
 
There are far better options for cyclists and, you know, I see a lot of cyclists on the way and 
the vast majority actually divert around Stirling Highway and go up around Dalkeith.  The 
other option which is excellent I think from memory about Subi onwards is the cycleway that 
runs parallel to the railway line, just simply because on Stirling Highway you have still got 
traffic turning across you, squeeze points at intersections.  Most people I know who cycle 
don't want to go anywhere near the busy roads.  So I think cycle lanes are going to get put in 
there, I would be really concerned about going on Stirling Highway in the sense that - you 
know, I'm not sure if it's  - the shared cycleway and bus lane idea works really well, because 
I've used those.  The one down on Hampton Road in Fremantle, if people are familiar with it, 
it used to be a dual carriageway like Stirling Highway and it became a single lane and a bus 
lane, and the cycle lane is also in the bus lane. 
 
That's all right, but when you're in the cycle lane going about 25 K's an hour and there's a 
bus coming, you know, hammering up your backside, it's not a great combination for cyclists 
either; so - I mean, I just think, you know, there are actually some really good options for 
cycleways, and I know, you know, then you get into local government roads and not your 
own, but I would think the cycle lane, keep it off Stirling Highway, look at using the river 
bank, because it's an uninterrupted sort of situation.  Actually, there's good cycle ways along 
three quarters of the way.  The other area where it's completely deficient for cycling is south 
of Wellington Street down to Fremantle.  There's nothing there - the railway line would be an 
excellent way, the cycle way could go along there, because there's very little turning across 
the railway line from traffic.  I mean, I just think, you know, there's a couple of things there 
that could be looked at, but I just think if the cycle way is Stirling Highway, I just don't think 
it's the best option. 
 
Probably the other concern I had, I did see over the years, because I've lived in the area, 
you know, for a long, long time, is the Servetus Street widening,  which looks like it's a 
similar scale to what they were talking about with Stirling Highway, what I saw, I mean, 
people still talk about that cutting Swanbourne in half, and you know that huge sort of 
expanse, wide road, with the big cuts in the side of the sand dune, I suppose they were back 
then, has really - people on one side, you know, it really has cut off that suburb, and I would 
be concerned that, you know, a wider road is going to have that impact on the Nedlands, 
Claremont areas and also Mosman Park. 
 
I think the other sort of issue I had, you know, widening roads is great.  It also increased the 
speed of traffic pretty significantly, and I just think again, you know, it is a road where a lot a 
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people have entry and exit points off it and people like myself actually have to pull out onto it 
each day.  I'm not sure that widening the road is going to slow down the traffic, and it's going 
to make people like me who actually have to access the highway, because I've got no other 
way. The only way I can leave my property is going straight onto the highway.  I don't have a 
back laneway, and that is an issue for us, turning right off the highway into my driveway is, 
you know, something I try and avoid doing, simply because of the chance of a rear-end 
collision, but when you've got a trailer or something like that, we need to have that option to 
turn right; so if there's a huge median strip down the middle of the road, that's going to be an 
issue for some of us too, you know, and there's a number of us in that situation.  We don't 
have back laneways.  There's not always back access like people like to believe there is. 
 
I will probably just - I just thought there was something else.  You know, the other thing, I 
mean the final road, there's an incredible amount of traffic lights on Stirling Highway and, I 
mean, if people are talking about traffic flows there's a lack of synchronisation of the lights.  
Some of them are literally a couple of hundred metres apart, so you go, you know, to one, 
then you get the next one and the next one.  Again, you know, I just think the traffic flow 
could really be improved by looking at maybe removing some of those sets of lights, looking 
at having proper turning lanes, you know, where people can actually wait off the road so 
traffic can get around them, because a lot of the congestion really does occur round that 
Claremont shops. 
 
I just think really, really you know, there's a classic one there where, if you're going towards 
Fremantle from Perth there's a Hungry Jack's and everyone turns right into that one, and 
that basically blocks off one lane; so again, you know, maybe looking at cutting out a couple 
of sets of traffic lights and putting some roundabouts or synchronising lights, I think the traffic 
would flow through, you know, a lot better.  I mean, I just sort of wonder really why we would 
be spending a colossal sum of money doing this stuff and widening roads.  I just think it's a 
bit of a - what is our tax dollars going on, you know?  Is it going on building roads, widening 
roads, when it's perhaps not necessary.  I mean, that area is very well linked for a train line.  
People use it all the time, and I think if you improve the bus service a bit and gave people a 
few options on cycling that would save a lot of your issues there.  I mean they are some of 
the, I guess, key points I wanted to raise.  Yeah.     
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.   
 
MR DAW:  I'm not sure if you've got any other things you want clarity on.  You probably 
heard it a million times and it sounds like I'm rambling on, but I mean I just sort of think, you 
know, look - the road does, you can get from point A to B.  It's pretty predictable, you know.  
There is a bad patch in the morning.  It's almost entirely attributable to people wanting to 
drop their kids off at the school gate, you know, and I mean when the school holidays are on 
or you even notice it on - I mean I know traffic generally is lighter when the school holidays 
are on, but even on those days when those schools have like a student free day and the 
other schools are open, that road is still very quiet so, you know, the parents are queuing up, 
they do it all through Mosman Park, and they're dropping their kids off. 
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I think, you know, it's a cultural thing and that's what people are doing but, you know, that's 
something worth looking at, giving the parents and the kids some options, you know, maybe 
to get around those schools without, you know, being dropped off at the front gate, using 
overpasses or whatever.  The other thing I'm a bit concerned about is, I'd really be pretty 
concerned if they started knocking down, you know, things like that, the church on the corner 
of - I think, is it Bay View Terrace and - - -   
 
MS BARTLE:   Is it Queenslea Drive?   
 
MR DAW:  Yeah, or I mean the war memorial, things like that.  I'd just be, I just think, look, 
the road, the two lanes are adequate.  I think there are some things you could do with, you 
know, making turns easy, reducing some of the right turns, possibly, at certain parts, but to 
widen the road by another, you know, so many metres and have - just put the cost factor in it 
and the fact people might lose their homes, that would be a real concern to me as a resident 
and, you know, as a person who has an interest in the development of the area, I suppose.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  Corinne, have you got any questions?   
 
CR MACRAE:   I was interested to hear you say that you thought the bus service wasn't as 
good as it could be.   
 
MR DAW:  Yes.  Well, look, I catch a train a lot.  I don't catch the buses much of the time.  
I've caught the buses - the buses go up the road but - look, this might have changed, but 
certainly as far as I'm aware, there's not a direct bus that goes up Stirling Highway, other 
than the circle route one, which I think does go down there, but a lot of people would use the 
bus from North Fremantle, Mosman Park  to get to uni, because the train diverts away 
behind Claremont there, so if you want to go to the university or further up, you actually have 
to get off at Claremont and then walk up the road.  I know, because I had to do it once when 
I went to some function and I wanted to catch public transport up near uni, and I remember 
just thinking it's just ridiculous, you know, and the buses actually weren't that frequent.  The 
train service is brilliant.  It's 15 to 20 minutes almost all the time, and it's reliable and it's 
clean and it's just fantastic, but it does go away from some of the parts where people would 
want to go so; so to me, if you can improve the flow of buses up there.  I mean, a lot of the 
buses sometimes have to stop on the highway and that causes the traffic to block up a route.  
Even having some of the bus lanes in there where the buses could actually pull off the road, 
because there's a lot of parts they can't do that around there, so it just sort of stops the flow 
a bit.   
 
I think, you know - I mean I've really changed my tune on speed limits.  I used to think high 
speed limits were good, but I now I'm sort of thinking doing what - in other countries in 
places obviously far busier than Perth, I just tend to think that, you know, if you drop the 
speed down a bit and you get the flow going, in the end I just think you get a better run, and 
so - you know, a lot of people get really concerned when you drop the speed limit from 60 to 
50, but if you can get the synchronisation, the flow through - you know, interestingly enough 
I've got something on my car that times my trip and my trip takes as long for me to drive as it 
does to ride a bike, and the average speed is about 30 kilometres an hour for me going up 
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Stirling Highway into the city.  So it's not as fast as people think anyway, you know.  You 
have a couple of bits where you can get up to the speed limit and then most of the time 
you're just crawling along really.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Kent, did you have any questions? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   No.  Apart from I'm interested in the comment that the cycle trip and the 
car trip is not much different.  
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.  No, they're not.  In fact if I rode my - I mean, largely because when I 
cycle I go around the back.  You can go right around the back of Mosman Park, around 
through Dalkeith, so you're not on the road.  You're not in the traffic.  There's no lights.  
There's no - virtually very few intersections because it runs along the riverbank effectively.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   Where are you going from, Ian? 
 
MR DAW:   I go from my house which is basically Wellington Street.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   (indistinct)  
 
MR DAW:   Yeah, yeah, and I go through the back of Mosman Park.  The problem is - and 
again what would make a big difference for cyclists would be when you get to - it's not 
Scotch, it's - yeah, it is Scotch, is it?  On the - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   No.  Christchurch.   
 
MR DAW:   Christchurch, I mean, sorry.  That bit there - you're forced back onto the highway 
and that's a big problem for cyclists, that bit, because - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Because they go down to the - - - 
 
MR DAW:   - - - you can't go around the back.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   It's private land or something.   
 
MR DAW:   Well, even if there was - there is a sort of a cycleway but it's shared with - you 
know, there's a lot of cars driving into the school.  That bit is the most dangerous point and if 
you can get around that, like, you know, I mean, through the front of the school or the back 
or something, that would - you know, people could go right from the city to Fremantle without 
actually virtually having to go on the road.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   Where do you cut off then to go to the city?  Do you go down Princess 
Road or something? 
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MR DAW:   No.  I just go right - like I ride around to the back of UWA, so it's actually about 
two kilometres longer but it takes me about the same time, and then through UWA and you 
go - there's a fantastic cycleway along Mounts Bay Road and then you're in.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   You just use that? 
 
MR DAW:   Yeah, and then you go right up to - - - 
 
MR McDOWALL:   So when you drive to get into the city - - - 
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   - - - you said you were blocked off.  
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.  
 
MR McDOWALL:   So you're getting into the Wellington Street - - - 
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.  I go to, you know, the roundabout on Mounts Bay Road and then - there 
has been probably - since about 2008 they did the diversions for the freeways around there 
and ever since then it has been horrific.  I know they're doing all the Elizabeth Quay thing 
and that and that has made it really bad too.   
 
I used to be able to go from my house to the city in 20 minutes and then once they did that 
freeway diversion, I always get caught no matter what time or day and it takes about 35 now.  
So that didn't help but there's a lot of road works going on but it just seems to be forever, you 
know, so yeah. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Okay.  For someone going to the uni and they want to ride a bike, there's 
an alternative to Stirling Highway? 
 
MR DAW:   Absolutely, and everyone - I mean, there are dozens of people who - I reckon 
there's hundreds actually, you know, each day, they're all riding around the back of Dalkeith, 
so no-one sees them, because we all try and get off the main road.  
 
MS BARTLE:   It's a nicer route, I would think.   
 
MR DAW:   Absolutely and it's safer, I mean, ultimately, yeah. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, for sure.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   It solves a parking problem at the university for the students too.   
 
MR DAW:   Yeah, yeah.  I mean, I've just started cycling to the city this year largely because 
- you know, it was really just a bit of a fitness thing but, I mean, the difference for me doing it 
as opposed to driving is minimal other than when you get to work, you have got to have a 
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shower and things like that and it slows you up but other than that it's really good.  It's just 
that that bit around Christchurch is the main for people, yeah.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much.  It's very worthwhile having people like you 
because - - - 
 
MR DAW:   Well, I live there, you know.  I mean, I just don't want to - look, I mean, as I said, 
part of my job - I do a lot of driving around the city and the congestion is pretty bad 
everywhere.  Stirling Highway is one area I can pretty much rely on.  I know how long it's 
going to take me to get from A to B and it's not that bad, you know, but there are a lot of 
spots that a lot more unpredictable or worse than that. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, all right.  Just to let you know there's a way to go - - - 
 
MR DAW:   Yeah, sure.  I'm sure, yeah; yeah.  
 
MS BARTLE:   So we're looking at approximately 12 months before any decisions are made 
and that is an approximation.   
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.  
 
MS BARTLE:   In due course you will get a response to your submission.   
 
MR DAW:   Yeah, sure; yeah.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So thank you very much.   
 
MR DAW:   That's all right.  Yeah, I'm happy to come in and have my say.  
 
MS BARTLE:   It's good to hear people that are using it - - - 
 
MR DAW:   Yeah, yeah.  
 
MS BARTLE:   - - - their perspective too.   
 
MR DAW:   Yeah.  Okay.  All right.  Thanks for your time.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thanks very much, Ian.   
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MR PATRICK FORD 
representing himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Obviously these are the public hearings for the MRS amendment for the 
rationalisation of Stirling Highway road reserve.  I'm Megan Bartle, I'm the chair.  This is 
Councillor Corinne MacRae and Kent McDowall.  We're the panel, and we have technical 
support from Anthony Muscara from Department of Planning.  Our role is to represent the 
WA Planning Commission.  We have a copy of your written submission and this is your 
opportunity to give a verbal presentation to us to make sure that we're quite clear on the 
points that you want to raise.   
 
These are public hearings so they are being recorded which is why we have the 
microphones, and a transcript of the recordings along with recommendations will become 
public.  We've allowed 15 minutes for your presentation and that will allow a little bit of time 
at the end for us to ask any questions and just have some dialogue.  
 
MR FORD:   Yes, okay.   
 
MS BARTLE:   So I'll hand over to you and ask if you could start by just stating your name 
for the record and then just go into whatever you'd like to say.   
 
MR FORD:   Great.   Patrick Ford, for the record.  I'm a North Fremantle resident and 
frequent user of the highway, and I also have a background in urban design and architecture 
with 10 years' experience so I have kind of a professional as well as a personal interest in 
this project or this proposal rather and in its implications.  Okay, do I need to signal to - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Marija will turn - - -   
 
MR FORD:   Yes?  Unless there's a clicker or something like that?   
 
MS BARTLE:   No, there's not.   
 
MR FORD:   There's not?  Okay.  I'll obviously flick between my notes then and yourself and 
the screen.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Sure.   
 
MR FORD:   So I just want to start then with what I think are the key criticisms that I have of 
the scheme so it's quite broad at this stage, I'll try and read through it as quickly as I can.  
Actually there are three overriding criticisms I have and then there's a common theme.  So 
the rationale I believe is not very precise, it's quite faulty.  I think the actual concept design of 
the road is poor and at times unnecessary and thirdly I think the overall impact, the outcome 
of this particular proposal will have a really negative effect on the local communities that 
should be served by the highway. 
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The common theme is throughout which is, I think, something of a weak process that is 
underpinning a lot of these concerns that I have so I'll probably come back to that quite often 
but I'm aware that the purpose of this hearing is to really look at the impacts, the outcomes 
of the proposal rather than to talk about perhaps how it's emerged.  Have I got that - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right.   
 
MR FORD:   Have I got that about right?   
 
MS BARTLE:   That's right.  The purpose is, yes, to look at the submissions that have been 
received and to hear your submission rather than - - - 
 
MR FORD:   Yes.  So, I mean, I understand where the project comes from, I understand the 
need for good transport planning and especially planning of activity corridors.  There's 
clearly an issue in Perth, the rate of our growth, the significance of the traffic congestion 
problem now and projected into the future and then of course issues such as environmental 
quality and the resilience of our communities.   
 
So I mean in terms of environmental quality, air and water come to mind but these things are 
all issues which good transport planning ought to have a significant impact on and so I 
support the attempt of trying to tackle these challenges; however, it needs to be done in a 
holistic way and so far what I've seen of the proposal and the previous SHACS work seems 
to apply a far too technical and limited approach to this task.  In particular the 
standardisation of the road design and the generalisation of that design across the whole 
highway, with one exception of course, is actually quite disappointing.   
 
In the course of this I believe this particular proposal would create a whole new suite of 
issues which it apparently is trying to ameliorate, such as further intensification of traffic; and 
also, I think, the significant undermining of civic character of various areas which the 
highway passes through, dislocation of residents from their community and of course 
destruction of viable businesses and homes. 
 
So if we look at the rationale, you know, it says it's about relieving congestion or dealing with 
I suppose a congestion crunch.  It says it's about clarity and certainty from a statutory 
planning point of view, I'll come to that in a moment.  It says it's also about accommodating 
further density and it says that there are some sustainability benefits.  Now, pretty much with 
the whole rationale I suppose there are significant criticisms.  If we go just to the next slide 
I'll just try to demonstrate where I think, anecdotally at least, and I'm not sure whether traffic 
planning would probably suggest this, where I think the pinch points are.  
 
The critical issues in terms of congestion are at Claremont, the town centre.  Further south to 
Eric Street there's also significant congestion issues and I think if you come further south 
again to Mosman Park, at the level crossing there's significant congestion issues.  Now, 
outside of the actual project area is, I think, the other really significant congestion point on 
the highway and my doubt, my concern is that given the approach across the highway, north 
of Canning Highway obviously, that's out of scope at this point, I think actually what you end 
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up doing is attracting more vehicles in fact to use that area, use that road, and that's born 
out of a lot of global experience in actually trying to implement these sorts of strategies.   
 
It's all good to want to improve mobility, but if you do it basically in one mode, in one stretch 
of road, then you're just encouraging more cars to enter that stretch of road and so I'm 
doubtful about whether the rationale around congestion is actually going to be met with this 
solution or this proposal I should say.   
 
Clarity and certainty is interesting because you have to ask for whom, so on one level the 
proposal achieves clarity and certainty and that's at the statutory level but while there's no 
land use planning associated with this proposal there's no clarity and certainty for anybody 
else.  It would have been good to see the statutory process better informed by an integrated 
land use planning approach and with urban design principles.  So at this stage, again the 
rationale I would say is not a very good one as far as wanting to seek clarity and certainty is 
concerned. 
 
Density.  I'll just say very quickly it talks about 1500 new residents on the corridor.  I mean, 
that's quite unambitious again so could the rationale have been stronger with integrated land 
use planning to actually spell out what some of those opportunities might be for increased 
density?  I think I've spoken a little bit on congestion but just too again refer to this, that I did 
mention one exception which was Claremont which is rightly identified as a section of 
Stirling Highway which has the most acute peak traffic congestion. 
 
The proposal concedes at this point that the road design could be, can be adapted with a 
reduced width and reduced speeds in that area due to spatial constraints and heritage-listed 
properties.  The issue I have is that we're told that the features of the road design elsewhere 
along the highway, that is, the width and the bus prioritisation for example will improve the 
traffic flow and mobility.  If this is true then it follows that the strategy in Claremont would 
create congestion rather than relieve it.  So again you've got these areas of really high 
mobility, all of a sudden they're hitting an area of constraint, you know, what would actually 
be the impact of that? 
 
My concern is that it would be a significant congestion problem.  So you're encouraging 
people to join the road and then you're creating, as it were, an impost on them halfway 
along.  However, on the other hand, if it's good enough to introduce strategies such as that 
in Claremont to respond to build form parameters at a pinch point, or what is already at a 
pinch point in the highway, then surely it's good enough to apply those strategies, that 
responsiveness to context, to build form, to heritage, to a number of other urban design and 
urban form issues across the rest of the highway.  So why there's a concession for 
Claremont but, say, not a concession for Cottesloe, not a concession for North Fremantle, 
et cetera, again is not abundantly clear. 
 
If we go to the next one, I will just quickly talk about the actual concept road design.  I'm 
interested in this from the point of view of comparing it to best practice, and allow me quickly 
just to define what I believe best practice principles, transport planning, would be, or at least 
the ones that are relevant in this case. 
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Good transport planning would separate modes and users where possible, such as 
providing, for example, a principal shared path for cyclists and pedestrians rather than, in 
this case, a cycle lane integrated into the road reserve.  It would do this while also improving 
integration with existing and future modal networks. 
 
So the concept road design may be great if looked at in isolation, and let's remember that it's 
actually an Austroads template that's being applied here, but once you start to - if you were 
encouraged to look at the broader transport network and all of its multiple modes, as 
Austroad principles would suggest, in fact this particular road design starts to look heavy-
handed and cumbersome. 
 
Again, and this touches on something I was talking about before in regards to the rationale, 
this road design and the overall proposal ought to also consider - again you're following 
good transport planning principles - it ought to consider the downstream congestion impacts.  
It ought to consider the traffic impacts on non-motorised and pedestrian movement and 
mobility.  It ought to consider strategic land use impacts.  It ought to consider impacts on 
physical activity and public health.  It ought to consider direct and indirect environmental 
impacts, including contributions to the urban heat island effect, acoustic impacts, air and 
water quality. 
 
Now, again, against a lot of those, as I have already discussed, I think the proposal is 
actually wanting, in particular the impacts of downstream congestion and whatnot, but I think 
against all of those, the separation of modes, the good integration with existing modal 
networks, considering its impact on land use, I think the current design in fact is failing in that 
regard. 
 
If we go to the next slide, in not meeting those principles it's actually inconsistent with a lot of 
well-developed guidance, and this goes for Austroads itself, it goes for the Department of 
Planning's very own guidance with respect to integrated transport planning, and in particular 
the context-sensitive road design which is a feature of that document, and it goes against, 
again, global and national research and experience.  It goes against lived experience with 
respect to how transport corridors should be developed. 
 
We will go to the next one.  Going with me - I'm not as clear as I should be between pages.  
If we look at some key issues then of that road design, responsiveness to context or lack 
thereof I think is quite critical.  Again there's one concession made for Claremont but none 
for any other environment.  The verge and median widths again seem extremely heavy-
handed.  The verges are four to five metres, I believe.   Some analysis of where in fact that 
verge width would become relevant would be helpful, but again there has been no land use 
planning or associated urban design study so the actual concept design for the road can't 
really be tested against land use, which is again a significant issue. 
 
Likewise with bus priority, I think it needs to be tested against other factors as well as just 
providing some level of sacredness around where buses can access.  You might ask, for 
instance, what is the current efficacy of the bus system, what is the volume of buses using 
Stirling Highway, et cetera.  As I have mentioned, the cycle lane within the road I think is 
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inferior compared to creating a dedicated PSP along the railway line.  Integrating the cycle 
lane within Stirling Highway would be dangerous.  I can say that from personal experience.  
Again, I think there are some good alternatives to that idea.  If we can go to the next 
page - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Just to interrupt you, sorry.  We're getting very close on time, so just to let 
you know that. 
 
MR FORD:   Sure.  Sure. What we might do then, I might flick to some alternatives.  I'm sure 
this is stuff that has been thought of before so I will perhaps flick to some other material. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Okay. 
 
MR FORD:   Is there five minutes then, roughly, to go? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yeah. 
 
MR FORD:   Okay.  I'm probably halfway through so I'll try and speed up.  But again just to 
draw your attention to the fact that the Department of Planning already have very well-
developed guidance in integrated transport planning.  No doubt you have been involved with 
it or, you know, used it in your work in any case.  Is it too much to ask for good strategic 
planning, which this would be, to inform statutory planning?  It seems in this case that it 
hasn't. 
 
Sorry, we will go to the next slide and again Austroads, a similar integrated - this shows an 
integrated approach to both considering urban developments and urban systems and 
transportation systems. 
 
We might go to another page, sorry, if we can flick just a bit further on.  Sorry, that's a bit too 
far.  If we go back two more.  This is what I think - as my comments initially discuss, this is 
what I think are the key impacts that this proposal would make and they, I think, are 
extremely severe.  Essentially I think this proposal is destructive of residential areas and 
homes, of community identity and neighbourhood connectivity, of pedestrian amenity and 
comfort. 
 
The principal aim of the proposal to provide clarity and certainty for future road planning and 
orderly land use planning along the urban corridor is a little bit too much if there has in fact 
been no land use planning associated with the development of the transport planning. 
 
If we can just go to the next few slides, I will just show some very brief analysis and, if you 
like, alternatives just coming out of trying to address the sustainability and the traffic 
congestion issues that have been raised as a rationale and trying to look at the effectiveness 
of the overall modal transport network. 
 
This first slide just simply shows the railway line and its stations in relationship to Stirling 
Highway.  The obvious point to make is that the Fremantle railway line is massively under 
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capacity in terms of its use and in terms of the number of trains and the number of carriages 
of those trains.  Anyone who uses that line would know that. 
 
Again approaching the problem of congestion by simply pouring it into the road corridor is 
the wrong approach.  It needs to take a far more integrated approach which would include 
looking quite seriously at investment in the heavy rail on that line.  That doesn't just mean 
improving the line and improving its facilities and capacity in, you know, the easy quantifiable 
terms, but also looking at all the networks, the transport networks, that connect to those 
stations and to that line and that includes pedestrian networks in particular. 
 
If we go to the next slide, this just quickly maps out - again if you know the area well, you 
know that there's a massive gulf in the congestion of the highway between holiday periods 
and school periods.  There seems little doubt that if something could be done about how 
people interacted with their school, the whole congestion on that road would be a matter that 
would be improved, I think. 
 
Just to quickly map those schools out as one example of perhaps how some land use 
planning might have informed this initial study and proposal - and we go to the next slide 
which shows the extent of existing PSP and in-road cycle facilities, if you like, which shows 
an extraordinary level of fragmentation.  Who would ride to school under those conditions?  
If we expect the transport network to actually be useable by people - it serves people; that is 
the point - then we are looking at something which is either in a state of disrepair or simply 
not up to the job of being a functional transport network.  Again before we start looking solely 
at the corridor as the thing that is going to solve congestion, we need to take that quite 
seriously. 
 
If we go to the next slide, this is my dream but that dash line shows an extension of the PSP 
as an alternative to the cycleway in the street.  That would be far more desirable again from 
a safety point of view and I think from the broad connectivity point of view should investment 
actually be put into other cycle networks within - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:  And that is on existing road networks. 
 
MR FORD:  Yes, that's right.  The green dash lines would show perhaps how cycling areas 
might be integrated into the local scale streets and then patched back into the PSP.  Again 
there is a task there in how you manage crossing of the highway but needless to say the 
current proposal, irrespective of the excess space granted to the median strip, is going to be 
an impost to that connectivity across.  Once we go down that road of such a wide road reserve 
and intensive space across the road reserve, I think we are creating further problems to come 
back and then address what is a really shambolic cycling network, for instance.   
 
Again that's just one example that needs to be looked at.  I think there needs to be effort 
shown across a lot of the transport modes.   
 
Just lastly, if I can, just to summarise, again the common theme if we go to the next page is 
that the process has been lacking.  There is no evidence of land use planning.  There is no 
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evidence of urban design considerations.  There is no evidence at all in fact of just 
qualitative assessment of the communities through which the highway passes or their 
environments.   
 
Again, if we go to the next slide from the web site itself, there is something wrong if we think 
that it is a matter of just doing transport planning first in one phase and then coming back 
later to do land use planning.  That must be integrated.   
 
The next two we can flick through.  It concerns North Fremantle and what I think is a fairly 
cloak-and-dagger part of the amendment.  That would seem to suggest that the future of 
Queen Victoria Street - at least not in this proposal but the next one - would be under threat 
but to summarise, I think the rationale is faulty.  I think the road design is poor and the 
impacts to the community would be extraordinary, deleterious and costly.  Approval would 
reward poor planning in this case.  Approval would reward a farcical process in that it has 
missed all of these other crucial elements and, lastly, it would deliver poor outcomes for the 
urban environment and for the community.  Perhaps now is a good time to take some 
questions, if there is time. 
 
MS BARTLE:  Maybe some quick ones.  We have got other people coming in after you; 
otherwise we would have allowed more time.  Kent, do you have any questions?   
 
MR McDOWALL:  Is it possible to get an electronic copy - - - 
 
MR FORD:  Absolutely, yes.   
 
MS BARTLE:  Marija will copy it for us.   
 
MR FORD:  If Marija can copy it now, that's fine.   
 
MR McDOWALL:  There's a huge amount of information there.   
 
MR FORD:  Yes.  I am sorry; there is a lot to get through.  I know I have only skirted over my 
actual comments.  Obviously it is connected to my commentary, but given the type of 
hearing it is, it was also an opportunity to go through some other material.    
 
MS BARTLE:  That's right, and we appreciate that. 
 
CR MACRAE:  Certainly the identification of the bicycle routes and the schools was really 
very good.  In your last couple of slides, you talked about - the amendment should be 
withdrawn et cetera; but there is a current reservation along the highway north of Jarrad 
Street into the city which is very, very wide so if the amendment were withdrawn, that 
reservation would remain in place - - -  
 
MR McDOWALL:  It is an 80-metre one.   
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MR McDOWALL:  - - - adding to more uncertainty and the lack of any kind of cohesive 
planning that could occur in the future.  It leaves land owners in limbo and councils in limbo.  
I mean, is that a good thing? 
 
MR FORD:  No, it is not.  Again I understand the purpose of it.  It is just that the statutory 
purpose needs to somehow be given - it can be given more strength by looking more at a 
strategic level of analysis.  Let the statutory process be informed by some understanding, 
not just of where lot boundaries are and workings lie within the MRS, but what the actual 
qualitative elements of these areas are.  The statutory process won't be served if that 
analysis isn't done and if some consideration of good strategic planning isn't brought into it.   
 
I am not saying that there aren't issues with respect to the MRS defined area of the highway 
- there clearly are - but there is, if I can say, kind of a cognitive dissonance between how 
government understands clarity and certainty and how that is understood by communities.  
The way I think to address that is by looking at good strategic planning in concert with 
transport planning and in concert with obviously this statutory process.  If you go ahead and 
make these sorts of decisions without being informed in that sort of strategic planning 
process, then you are bound to sort of get the community upset because they see massive 
shifts in use and what not.    
 
MS BARTLE:  Kent, do you have anything more?  
 
MR McDOWALL:  No.   
 
MS BARTLE:  Have you - - -  
 
CR MACRAE:  That was the question.  Thank you.   
 
MS BARTLE:  Patrick, sorry we had to hurry you along.  It was a very good presentation and 
obviously you have given it a great deal of thought and some analysis which is very much 
appreciated from us, to get that perspective.  This process has got a long way to go yet:  
recommendations to the WAPC and then up to parliament, so probably at least another 12 
months of work.  In due course you will get a response to you submission but we appreciate 
your time today.    
 
MR FORD:  No worries.  Thank you.   
 
CR MACRAE:  Megan, did you want to talk about Queen Victoria Street?   
 
MS BARTLE:  Queen Victoria Street, just quickly.    
 
MR FORD:  Sure.  I did have some slides on that.   
 
MS BARTLE:  I did notice that.  One of the recommendations of this committee - we have 
been out on site and we have had a look.  The bus lane, and queue-jump lane - our 
recommendation as a response to having a look on site and also getting input from technical 
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advice is that that be removed from the plan, so that would reduce the impact on that strip.  
The other thing is that this amendment is looking at obviously that intersection of Queen 
Victoria Street with Stirling Highway.  It doesn't extend all the way down and the reservation 
that is there is actually reflecting what the reservation is at the moment, so the buildings are 
currently built right up to the boundary and that reflects - so the footpaths and things are in 
the road reserve and that reflects exactly the same as what is there at the moment.   
 
It is certainly not the intention of this amendment that there would be any further impact on 
Queen Victoria Street.  It becomes a blue road at that point so it becomes a negotiation with 
the local government, so the City of Fremantle, with Main Roads on any works there.  That 
intersection is certainly something we have had a good look at and that is our 
recommendation.  We can't guarantee the outcome.   
 
MR FORD:  Sure.  I understand that.    
 
MS BARTLE:  But that is where we are at the moment.    
 
MR FORD:  It's a good start anyway.  Thanks very much.    
 
MS BARTLE:  Thank you.    
 
MR McDOWALL:  Thank you for coming.   
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MR DAVID WEBER 
representing Layla Tucak and himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:   Welcome.  Let me just give you my little presentation to start with.  I am 
Megan Bartle.  I am the chair.  This is Councillor Corrine MacRae and Kent McDowell.  We 
are the panel and we have technical support from the Department of Planning Anthony 
Muscara.  We represent the WA Planning Commission in these hearings.  These are the 
public hearings for the MRS amendment for the rationalisation of Stirling Highway road 
reserve.  We have a copy of your presentation, thank you.  The process is to allow you to 
give a verbal presentation to ensure that we are clear on the points that you wanted to raise. 
 
MR WEBER:   Because Layla McCanna, who lives in the same house, had also said she 
was prepared to appear but she is working and can't. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's okay. 
 
MR WEBER:   So Layla has put it more cogently and less emotionally, and I would like to - 
it's basically the same thing, if that's okay. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, that's fine. 
 
MR WEBER:   Living in North Fremantle there are a few but notable heritage buildings in 
North Fremantle, and at the moment there's a bit of a boom in terms of the businesses that 
are there because there was, I guess, an abeyance there.  There wasn't much going on.  
You had Mojo's and that was about it.  There's more cafes there now.  There's more people 
gravitating to that area because they sort of like the vibe.  To have, where there is parking at 
the moment, a widening of that road - it's all well and good for public transport on Queen 
Victoria Street, but the buses are not very well patronised for various reasons.  The few 
times that we've used them we found that antisocial behaviour on the buses is quite full on, 
but the trains are a better option.  They're faster and not far from the area anyway.   
 
The buses that go up and down there don't really - I sometimes drive to work.  I work in the 
city and I have gear that I have to take to work and I sort of split between that and the train, 
and the periods of high, sort of, traffic in that are - it is about half an hour in the morning and 
half an hour at night-time, and that's it.  We don't really have the congestion problems that 
exist, say, in Claremont or at the level crossing at Mosman Park where the Caltex is.  They 
are a bit more serious.  Even those don't compare to the eastern states, and with my 
submission, which can be dealt with pretty quickly I suppose, aesthetically and theoretically, 
I was just sort of thinking that the idea of building more roads to accommodate more cars is 
a bad idea environmentally, for the heritage buildings and for trying to encourage exercise. 
 
Those living spaces, with people in flats and houses in North Fremantle, are in walking 
distance from Fremantle town itself.  We walk all the time.  It's not really useful to be 
encouraging people to sort of drive to that space.  I understanding planning and roads and 
it's your job to sort of accommodate for more vehicles because the population of Perth is 
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growing, but one thing I have noticed about Perth, especially the city, is its lack of heritage 
buildings, and compared to Sydney and Melbourne, sure the green bans that the union has 
put on in Sydney kept the buildings there, and Fremantle has its own story, but for heritage 
buildings to be affected by roads - I mean, who cares about roads?  Heritage buildings, the 
few that there are in North Fremantle, give the place character. 
 
I think Layla in her submission talks about the buses never being full.  There's not a lot of 
people who live in Pier Street.  It's a small street.  There's Jackson Street, and you can't do a 
lot of building there, and we like that.  There's not many people living in that area, but there 
are a lot of kids and the park, the North Fremantle Bowling Club, which has become more of 
a social hub for the area, and the school, is already across Stirling Highway, which is a busy 
road.  There's only one crossing.  A woman was hit and killed not far from that crossing in 
the past couple of months by cars going too fast down there, and if Queen Victoria Street 
was to have that extra width we would feel that we were surrounded by roads.   
 
We have a trainline behind us, and that's great, we like the train, a working port.  We are 
used to noise and we are used to congestion.  I'm not complaining about big trucks or 
anything like that, but I just can't see the North Fremantle village atmosphere or the sort of 
vibe that's there surviving with the restaurants, the venue, the music venue, the antique 
stores and there's an Indian restaurant that's there now, and on the corner we're going to 
have more - on the corner of Queen Victoria Street and Tydeman Road we are going to 
have more businesses on the ground floor, all that glass.  There will be more people coming 
to that area, and those little parking spots - I mean, people use them for short periods of 
time, but to widen that, I just sort of see it as - but having said that, I did hear the end of your 
recommendation so I won't go on about that because I believe your recommendation is not 
for that widening to happen anyway.  So I will be wasting time talking about that any further. 
 
The other aspects of it, yeah, we just don't like the idea of more roads.  There has been an 
effort over the years by the community to have calming in Queen Victoria Street.  Anybody 
that drives down there on a weekend knows - well, I imagine not people do unless they have 
to because you do have people coming out of the pub having had a few drinks, and it's a bit 
dodgy, but the calming that's there makes it more - it just makes it better for people.  There's 
a dance school there.  There's the potential for other things like that happening again on that 
sort of corner where they put up those businesses; I'm not sure how many are going or how 
many for lease.  It seems to be taking a while for them to do that.  For North Fremantle to 
become more of a people place, I just think more road discourages that.  I think that's it. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Did you want me to go over again the recommendation? 
 
MR WEBER:   Am I right in understanding that the recommendation is not for the bus lane. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  There is a bus queue jump lane that's indicated right near Jackson 
Street, near the lights there.  That's a proposed widening.  We have been on site as a 
committee and had technical advice in regard to that intersection, and it's believed that the 
intention and benefit of putting that lane in there would not actually be achieved as it might 
be at other lights, intersections, so it's our recommendation that it be removed from the plan. 
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MR WEBER:   So that little sort of corner that's there at the end of Jackson in front of 
the - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR WEBER:   At the moment if anyone comes out of Jackson and they're turning left, they 
sort of go in and they sort of come in a bit, so you're saying that would not be useful to - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   I will show you on the plan.  That might be a bit more helpful.  So this is 
those lights, and that's Jackson Road that you're talking about, so Victoria Street.  This is 
where the proposal is to actually widen it here to allow for the buses to actually get to the 
lights faster, so jumping in front of the cars, if you like. 
 
MR WEBER:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's been recommended to be removed from the plan.  The other part of 
the plan, which is not necessarily shown here, is that Jackson Road would actually be a cul-
de-sac; it would be closed.  The recommendation of this committee at the moment is that 
that be removed, the yellow, from the plans, so it doesn't cause an impact on these 
buildings. 
 
MR WEBER:   Right. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So it would be exactly as it is at the moment.  We believe that what's there at 
the moment can adequately accommodate buses and cars. 
 
MR WEBER:   Does that mean keeping it how it is? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it does.  It's only a recommendation.  The final decision is not ours to 
make. 
 
MR WEBER:   Yes, I heard that.  I'm just getting my bearings here.  That's the old North 
Fremantle Primary School. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it is. 
 
MR WEBER:   Yes, and now this area down here I think is going to be a child health - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   We heard that, yes.  Someone else in their submission said that there's a 
change in use. 
 
MR WEBER:   Towards the end of the state election campaign Barnett announced this - I 
don't know if this is it here; no.  It says "potential future railway realignment" there.  I can't 
really see where that it is.  Where the railway goes behind us - he talked about the road 
coming back from the beach and going virtually along the railway line, which would I guess 
go down to Tydeman and sort of tackle a lot of that traffic that's sort of down on the beach. 
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MS BARTLE:   Curtin Avenue? 
 
MR WEBER:   Yes, where the bicycle rider got hit and killed there. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, Curtin Avenue. 
 
MR WEBER:   Presumably the idea there is just to generate more traffic there that could 
travel at maybe a higher speed past Leighton, along the railway line, down the track so to 
speak.  Does that have any impact on proposals for Queen Victoria Street, because you've 
got more traffic there, which is only - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   I will ask Anthony just to show you on the plans.  It is actually indicated 
there.  It's not part of this proposal.  
 
MR WEBER:   No, but when you've got something like that happening, does it have an 
impact on the proposal?  This is a much smaller concept, obviously, but with that down the 
track, is that taken into account?  "Oh, well, they're going to do that eventually anyway."  Do 
you know what I mean?   Barnett announced this was happening.   
 
MS BARTLE:   It's a separate project so it's not something that I can answer for this 
committee. 
 
MR WEBER:   But surely that would have an impact on what proposals - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   I will defer to Anthony for that. 
 
MR MUSCARA:   My understanding is that this component that's shown as indicatively on 
there be undertaken as part of the separate study, so they may have announced that it's 
going to be considered but all the detailed work still needs to be finalised, so it's the same 
sort of process that we're going through now with all the detailed work which is in front of 
you.  That's the land taken, the reservation that's been proposed.  The same sort of thing 
would occur for that component.   
 
The Department of Transport on all the transport portfolios have designed all the road.  
They've obviously taken that into account and considered that it can be undertaken as part 
of the separate process.  That's got its own implications on the land take on people living in 
those areas in itself. 
 
MR WEBER:   But nothing on heritage, and in fact nothing on - there's no heritage buildings 
there and there's no-one living there.  This is behind us.  The railway line is here.  That's 
semi-industrial; that's BP and containers and that stuff, and the use of these streets with 
people in them, and farms, you know, yonks ago, but what I'm talking about is that the 
impact on people and the type of place that North Fremantle is, that would have no impact at 
all, but surely doing this and then doing that, you must be having foresight and thinking, "Oh, 
well, that's happening," and there again, the four lines there or whatever, and that means 
that will relieve the pressure on the need to do anything in Victoria Street, because what I 
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understand from the proposal, the original proposal as I saw it, is that there's pressure in 
Stirling Highway, a bit traffic jam that happens there every day in the afternoon because 
you've got trucks coming down from container yards.  We saw the danger of that when a 
truck rolled over only three weeks ago maybe; lucky nobody was there when it happened.  
Do you see what I mean?  Like, this is a fairly micro proposal compared to that. 
 
MR MUSCARA:   The only thing I can say is that when you're talking about Queen Victoria 
Street, there's no proposals to change Queen Victoria Street, even with this.  The main part 
that was affected was the corner, the intersection, and the extent was back as far as the end 
of that bus lane.  Beyond that it actually changes its designation as a road and it becomes a 
road that is looked after by the City of Fremantle in conjunction with Main Roads, as 
opposed to Stirling Highway which is purely a Main Roads road. 
 
So any roadworks for Queen Victoria Street would be something that the City of Fremantle 
would undertake and my understanding is that they're not planning anything more for Queen 
Victoria Street at this point in time.  The other thing I can say is that the road reservation that 
exists there at the moment is not proposed to be changed, so the buildings that are there at 
the moment, the heritage buildings, are built right up to the road reserve and then you've got 
the footpaths right on the side of the buildings.  That would remain the same. 
 
MR WEBER:   Is the commission's proposal then, in terms of Queen Victoria Street, that 
really nothing will change at this stage? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes. 
 
MR WEBER:   How often do recommendations by - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   This is a very major kind of amendment, so very rarely. 
 
MR WEBER:   Yes, but how often do they get overruled, I suppose? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Anthony is probably the best one to answer that. 
 
MR MUSCARA:   It's a recommendation so the Commission seriously considers what a 
typical committee and the department are putting up to the commission.  I mean, they are an 
independent planning body in themselves, but they do take the department's 
recommendation most of the time, and then it goes through a political process.  It gets tabled 
in parliament.  That's the process for a major amendment.  It's always been that way.  It's fair 
for everyone in the same process. 
 
MR WEBER:   The only thing I would have to say about Fremantle Council is that the 
Fremantle Council has a reputation for being sort of pro-heritage, although there's been a lot 
of stuff that's been going on in North Fremantle with homes that we thought would have 
been protected all of a sudden having additions to them and others being overshadowed by 
things next to the, so it seems like they feel they can get away with a bit more, but if the state 
government's proposal for council amalgamations goes ahead, does that mean that 
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whatever Fremantle thinks about this part of the world is a bit irrelevant, because even under 
the map that sort of got leaked out by mistake on Monday, it's suggested that North 
Fremantle would still be a part of Subiaco in the future. 
 
MS BARTLE:   I cannot give you any answer in regard to that at all.  All we're looking at is 
this reservation, so actually literally don't know anything about that. 
 
MR WEBER:   Do you know if the council that gets merged with another council is better off 
or does what one council think - - - 
 
MS BARTLE:   This is a new process for WA, so the amalgamation of many councils like 
that - there's a whole process that's got to be gone through for that. 
 
MR WEBER:   Okay. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Our understanding is of course, though, that it goes through that process 
and then ultimately goes through to parliament. 
 
MR WEBER:   Yes. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   So there are levels. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, like this, there are checks and balances all the way through, and many 
levels of approval.  Corrine, do you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, I don't, thank you.   
 
MR WEBER:   What is the blue? 
 
MR MUSCARA:   They're buildings. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, buildings. 
 
MR WEBER:   Existing buildings? 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes.  David, thank you very much for coming in.  We do have a way to go 
through with this, probably around 12 months before there will be any decisions made, and 
that's going through to parliament. 
 
MR WEBER:   Yes. 
 
MS BARTLE:   So in due course you will get a response to your submission and Layla will 
as well. 
 
MR WEBER:   Yes, okay. 
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MS BARTLE:   We appreciate your time and your perspective.  Thank you. 
 
MR WEBER:   Thanks very much.   
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MR PAUL FLETCHER 
representing himself 

 
 
MS BARTLE:    Mr Fletcher, would you like to join us?  I do apologise that we've gone over 
time. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   That's all right.   
 
MS BARTLE:   My name is Megan Bartle.  I am the chair, and this is Councillor Corrine 
MacRae, and Kent McDowall, and we are the panel, and Anthony Muscara is providing 
technical support from the Department of Planning; and may I say you are the last of the 
public hearings for the MRS amendment on the rationalisation of Stirling Highway.   
 
Our role as the panel is to represent the WA Planning Commission, so we have a copy of 
your written submission, and this is your opportunity to give a verbal presentation to us to 
make sure we are quite clear on the position that you have taken.  The public hearings are 
being recorded and a transcript of the recording along with recommendations will become a 
public record.  We have allowed 15 minutes for your presentation, and that should allow a bit 
of time for a dialogue at the end, so I will hand over to you. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   Thanks very much.  My submission concerns solely the area that the last 
speaker was talking about which is what I call the North Fremantle village section.  I live in 
Fremantle and have lived in North Fremantle as well and have a particular interest in that 
area.  What I'm proposing is that this project that you are working on with respect to Stirling 
Highway, that you take the opportunity to perhaps, coming slightly from left field in some 
respects, reconsider whether or not the highway that currently runs through what I call the 
North Fremantle village section, which is from Tydeman Road up to where Stirling Highway - 
Queen Victoria Street and Stirling Highway - turn that into one lane, one directional section 
of road because I think you have at the moment an excellent opportunity to enable that to 
become a very, very attractive, or even more attractive than it already is, village precinct.   
 
I have seen other parts of the world and what can happen if you do have traffic calming and 
you do encourage pedestrians and cycling, and that's got the heritage attraction there; it's 
got various facilities there such as the growing scene with respect music and bars and wine 
bars and antique shops.  There are a number of other things there such as the Harvest 
Restaurant.  The previous speaker I think mentioned the dance class there.  That is going to 
develop, I think, into a very viable village, and it's going to greatly enhance its viability if you 
take this opportunity to render that section of road as a less heavily trafficked section of 
road, far more pedestrian friendly - buses and bikes.  I urge the WAPC to take the 
opportunity to do that. 
 
I'm a lawyer, not an engineer, so I'm not going to pretend to know the technical ins and outs 
of it but just looking at it from the broader perspective it seems to me that traffic going down 
Stirling Highway from the north ought to be encouraged to use the newer bridge, the 
stronger, wider, more modern bridge to the left rather than to deviate off the highway and 
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down through the village and then across the old bridge.  It seems to me to be unnecessary, 
and with a little bit of clever thinking you could quite easily encourage the traffic to keep on 
going along the main stretch, across the new bridge, or if it really wants to access via the old 
bridge, you can do it via Tydeman Road by turning right there and left onto the old bridge, 
but I would suspect that much of the traffic would go on over and then can either turn at 
Canning Highway or turn at Leach Highway or at Marmion, and just encourage it to leave 
that little microcosm there alone for other living purposes rather than having a highway 
carrying traffic in two directions through it.  Traffic that really does want to access, coming 
from the north, can easily turn at Tydeman Road and then turn into Queen Victoria Street at 
the lights, if the lights permit it there, but if they don't they could be made to permit it, and I 
also feel that traffic coming across the old traffic bridge that doesn't want to access that area, 
would only be using it as a throughway, could be encouraged to simply go to the left and 
then either link up with the new section of highway the previous speaker was talking about 
that's mooted to come down the railway line and link up with Tydeman Road, so it comes 
over the old bridge, left and then right onto that, or until that exists do what most of the traffic 
now does anyway, which is go along Curtin Avenue.   
 
It seems pointless to me to encourage more traffic to go through that section, which 
desecrates it in many respects - although that perhaps is putting it slightly too highly but it is 
not conducive to the best use to which that part of the world can be put, which is as a slow 
moving pedestrian friendly, bicycle friendly village precinct.  Why encourage traffic to go two 
ways through that.  So the northern traffic, if it's encouraged to go up along the beach would 
leave that alone until such time as the new section of road exists that Mr Barnett has spoken 
about. 
 
I understand from listening to the previous speaker and your comments to him that one of 
the things that was worrying me was that the changes to occur at the Jackson Street and the 
Queen Victoria Street intersection may not now be occurring. 
 
MS BARTLE:   That's the recommendation of the committee, that that bus lane be removed. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   I also heard you say there was going to be nothing happening to Queen 
Victoria Street at all.  Does that mean therefore that what I had thought was a threat to some 
of the heritage buildings has now gone? 
 
MS BARTLE:   There's been somewhat of a misinterpretation I think of the plans. Those red 
lines which are the proposed road reserve follow the existing road reserve which actually 
goes right up to the walls of the building.  They were built with a zero setback, if you like, so 
there would be no change with this.  If it was to be upgraded and new footpaths and things 
like that, they couldn't go beyond and into the buildings. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   Yes, fine. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   The bus line did interfere with the four shops on the other side. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Yes, it did. 
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MR McDOWALL:   And by getting rid of that, that would mean they were not affected.   
 
MR FLETCHER:   If that recommendation is accepted that would be a good move in my 
humble submission; but, as I say, the main thrust of what I'm proposing is that you actually 
go beyond and take the opportunity to consider a recommendation that we turn it into a one-
way road.  The other thing I wanted to just very briefly touch upon is the proposed bike lane 
that I think was referred to along Stirling Highway.  I strongly suggest that's a bad idea. 
 
I'm a very keen cyclist.  I cycle from Fremantle to St Georges Terrace usually three days a 
week, in and out, and I do that by going along Curtin Avenue and then when I can pick up 
the bike path at Grant Street along the bike path, then I feel very relieved once I reach the 
bike path, I can assure you.  Despite the risk, the rewards of the exercise are in my 
estimation worth it, but I cannot understand why the government hasn't just gone on with 
building that bike path all the way down.  You would have considerably more people using it 
because it's not that hard.  It's pretty flat.  You can get from the heart of Fremantle into the 
heart of St Georges Terrace in 50 minutes without really exerting yourself, and it's pleasant 
apart from the fear factor when you are on Curtin Avenue. 
 
Why can't we just get that bike path completed all the way down, don't put bike lanes on 
highways.  It's just too dangerous.  People's attention wanders.  That's why you have those 
rumble strips on the side of roads, because people do deviate.  A bike path is fantastic.  It's 
so much safer, so that's what I would really urge the Planning Commission to think about 
and implement rapidly so that people can safely cycle recreationally and to and from work.  
That's really all I've got to say. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thanks, Mr Fletcher.  Corrine, do you have any questions? 
 
CR MACRAE:   No, thank you. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   In terms of the cycling from where you live to the city, going along the 
edge of the railway line, is it longer than going by Stirling Highway? 
 
MR FLETCHER:   Longer? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   It's 22 kilometres.  It possibly is a little longer but I wouldn't even 
contemplate going along Stirling Highway. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   I understand that. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   Not in a fit. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   There have been people who have said, "Look, this is our right." 
 
MR FLETCHER:   "Our right"? 



 
8.11.13 54 Mr Fletcher 

MR McDOWALL:   To ride a cycle on Stirling Highway. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   To get to where, to the city? 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Yes. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   They're mad.  
 
MS BARTLE:   Or the university. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   I used to live in Mosman Park and the way I got to the city from there was 
down Owston Street, down past St Hilda's, up (indistinct), down the footpath past 
Christchurch, then onto Princess Road where there's a cycle lane, but it's not a heavily 
trafficked road; then onto the cycle path next to the university and then along past the river, 
so you can get your way to the uni without going along Stirling Highway. 
 
MR McDOWALL:   Without putting your life at risk. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   Whoever suggested putting a bike lane on Stirling Highway, they need to 
think again.  It's a bad idea in my view.   To address your point, it's not so much the distance 
travelled.  I mean, bikes move very quickly.  Once you are rolling if you are on a good bike 
path you can get to where you want to go to just as quickly, or more quickly, than negotiating 
traffic lights on Stirling Highway and all the other attendant hazards.  It's not a good idea, it's 
not necessary.  If it's thought about as to how to link the bike path to uni with that spinal path 
along the railway line, you would have a very pleasant route that wouldn't take you far out of 
your way at all and probably would save you time.   
 
MR McDOWALL:   That's another reason for having these things, so we can hear from 
people actually doing it rather than the theory of you have to have a bike lane. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   No, you don't, not in my view.  You've got to have a good dedicated bike 
path and if it takes a more circuitous route it's of no consequence. 
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much, Mr Fletcher.  You probably heard that it's going to 
take us a while but you will get a response in time. 
 
MR FLETCHER:   I understand how it works.   
 
MS BARTLE:   Thank you very much. 
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